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In 1990, the accounting profession and the British government worked together to 

establish a new regulatory framework for financial reporting in the United Kingdom 

(UK), the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and its two subsidiaries, the Accounting 

Standards Board (ASB) and the Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP). The FRRP 

enforces companies' compliance with the ASB's accounting standards and the accounting 

provisions of the UK Companies Act. Only one study, Brandt et al. (1997), has examined 

the activities and effectiveness of the FRRP. This dissertation attempts to extend Brandt 

et al. (1997) and add to understanding of the origins and regulatory actions of the FRRP. 

An institutional historical study addressed the general research question, how and 

what changed in regulatory space to make establishment of an enforcement agency 

acceptable in 1990 and not earlier? This examination of the change in regulatory space of 

UK financial reporting for the period 1969-90 pointed out the UK accountancy 

profession's repeated failure to gain compliance with accounting standards through 

political consensus. It also highlighted the profession's unwillingness to ensure 

compliance with standards. Non-compliance undermined the credibility of financial 

statements, motivating the government to establish a legal framework for an accounting 

standard setting process independent of the accountancy profession. 



A descriptive empirical study investigated the FRRP's regulatory actions since 

1990. Guided by regulatory theory, I developed a series of propositions to be examined 

in an empirical study. The FRRP's early regulatory actions appeared to be designed to 

restore the credibility of financial statements by forcing compliance with existing 

standards. Then, the FRRP shifted the focus of its regulatory actions to ensure immediate 

compliance with new standards. After establishing its authority as an enforcement body 

independent of the ASB, the FRRP has now integrated itself as a vital part of the 

accounting standard setting process, enforcing accounting standards on a pre-emptive 

basis. 
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CHAPTER 1 

INTRODUCTION 

In 1990, the accounting profession and the British government worked together to 

establish a new regulatory framework for financial reporting in the United Kingdom 

(UK). The result was the formation of a new body, the Financial Reporting Council 

(FRC), which oversees the two-tier self-regulatory system. The FRC has two subsidiaries, 

the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) and the Financial Reporting Review Panel 

(FRRP). The role of the ASB is to make, amend, and withdraw accounting standards. 

The FRRP is responsible for the enforcement of companies' compliance with the 

accounting standards promulgated by the ASB and the accounting provisions of the UK 

Companies Act. 

The new (and current) framework resulted from the recommendations of a report 

commissioned by the UK professional accountancy bodies to investigate and make 

recommendations on the accounting standard-setting process. The establishment of this 

new regulatory framework required extensive negotiations between various interest 

groups in the financial reporting community and the government. This new framework 

combines the accounting profession's traditional self-regulatory approach with the state's 

financial and statutory backing. This research study seeks to explain how this 

cooperative relationship between private interest groups and the state emerged by 
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analyzing the "regulatory space" (Hancher and Moran 1989) of accounting standard-

setting for the period prior to the establishment of the present framework. 

The creation of the FRRP represents a new and radical stage in the regulation of 

financial reporting in the UK (Turley 1992). A body now exists that can legally force the 

directors of companies to comply with accounting standards. Currently only one other 

academic study has examined the issues surrounding the FRRP. Brandt, et al. (1997), 

examined the publicly available evidence of the activities of the FRRP since its 

establishment in 1990 and assessed the effectiveness of the FRRP to change the behavior 

of directors and auditors through adverse publicity. 

This research project contains two analyses. The first is an institutional historical 

study of the "regulatory space" of UK financial reporting for the period 1969-90. The 

second analysis provides a descriptive empirical study of the regulatory actions of the 

FRRP since its formation in 1991. My research attempts to extend Brandt et al. (1997) 

and add to understanding of the origins and regulatory actions of the FRRP. 

An outline of the new (and current) regulatory framework for financial reporting 

in the United Kingdom and the procedures of the Financial Reporting Review Panel 

(FRRP) is provided in Chapter 2. This chapter also develops the research question and 

research methodology for the first part of my study, an institutional historical study of the 

events leading to the establishment of the current regulatory framework. Development of 

the research methodology includes a discussion of the theoretical framework for the 

historical analysis, Hancher and Moran's (1989) concept of "regulatory space." 



Chapters 3 and 4 provide the institutional historical study. The third chapter 

analyzes the first two periods of 1969-1972 and 1973- May 1979. Chapter 4 assesses the 

period June 1979 - 1990. Both of these chapters provide concluding comments for the 

separate periods of study. 

The development and results of a descriptive empirical study of the regulatory 

actions of the FRRP is presented in Chapter 5. The discussion of the results is followed 

by an explanation of these regulatory actions. Finally, Chapter 6 provides the 

conclusions, contribution, limitations, and possible extensions of the study. 



CHAPTER 2 

BACKGROUND AND RESEARCH METHODOLOGY FOR 

INVESTIGATION OF ORIGINS OF FINANCIAL 

REPORTING REVIEW PANEL 

Background 

The new (and current) regulatory framework, in large part, resulted from the 

report The Making of Accounting Standards (Dearing 1988), commonly referred to as the 

Dearing Report. This report presented the findings and recommendations of a committee 

(chaired by Sir Ronald Dearing, also called the Dearing Committee) commissioned by the 

Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies (CCAB) in November 1987, to review 

and make recommendations on the standard setting process.1 After extensive 

consultation with various interested parties, the Dearing Committee published its report 

in November 1988. The government responded to the proposals of the Dearing Report 

through the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI). After soliciting the opinions of the 

business community and negotiating with various interested parties over the details of the 

1 The CCAB comprises representatives from the six UK accountancy bodies: 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (the Association, ACCA— previously 
the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, CACA), Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants (CIMA—previously the Institute of Cost and Management 
Accountants, ICMA), Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA), 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW), Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Ireland (ICAI), and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Scotland (ICAS). 
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framework, the DTI included the necessary legislative changes in the Companies Act of 

1989.2 

In 1990, the accounting profession and the government set up a two-tier quasi-

statutory system overseen by a new body, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC). The 

FRC is a company limited by guarantee and has two subsidiaries: the Accounting 

Standards Board Limited (ASB) and the Financial Reporting Review Panel Limited 

(FRRP).3 The role of the ASB is to make, amend, and withdraw accounting standards. It 

is assisted in this role by an Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF). The FRRP enforces the 

accounting requirements of the ASB and the Companies Acts and is independent of the 

FRC and the ASB. Figure 2.1 diagrams the relationship between the FRC and its 

subsidiaries. The FRRP investigates complaints from third parties that a company has not 

followed accounting standards and/or the accounting requirements of the Companies 

Act.4 In this respect the FRRP is not a monitoring or proactive organization, it is a 

2 The Dearing Committee received forty-five written submissions, evidence from 
accountancy bodies, firms of accountants, academic accountants, individuals, and other 
representative bodies. It also held informal discussions with a number of other interested 
parties, including professional accountants, the London Stock Exchange, the Department 
of Trade and Industry, the Bank of England, the FASB, the AICPA, and the SEC 
(Dearing 1988). 

3 There are two forms of limited liability companies in the UK, companies limited 
by guarantee and companies limited by shares. Companies limited by guarantee requires 
the members to contribute on liquidation the amounts they guaranteed on becoming 
members. This form of company is commonly used for charitable, educational, and other 
worthwhile purposes. These companies can omit the word "limited" from their name as 
long as the exact status is disclosed on letterheads and other documents (Judge 1995). 

4 The DTI enforces compliance with the financial reporting provisions of the 
Companies Act for private small- and medium-sized companies. The classification of 



Figure 2.1 
UK Financial Reporting Regulatory Framework 1990-present 
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retrospective enforcement agency. The FRRP consists of a pool of twenty members with 

a lawyer (a Queen's Counsel, QC) as chairman. Specific cases are investigated by a 

"group" of members. A "group" is usually five or six members taken from the general 

pool of twenty members; one member of the group must be a lawyer and another an 

accountant. If the group's investigation concludes that the company's accounts do not 

comply with the requirement of the Companies Act to present a true and fair view, the 

size of company is provided by the Companies Act, 1989. The Companies Act (section 
249) defines a small company as satisfying two or more of the following requirements: 
(1) turnover (sales) of not more than £2.8 million; (2) a balance sheet total of not more 
than £1.4 million; and (3) not more than 50 employees. A medium-sized company 
satisfies two or more of the following requirements: (1) turnover (sales) of not more than 
£11.2 million; (2) balance sheet total of not more than £5.6 million; and (3) not more than 
250 employees. The Dearing Report (1988) stated that 13,000 companies would be 
subject to possible review by the FRRP. 
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FRRP is empowered to apply to the court for an order requiring the directors of the 

company to prepare revised accounts.5 The FRRP so far has not had the need to apply to 

the court. In all of the 43 cases where the FRRP has advised the directors that their 

company's accounts do not comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, the 

directors have voluntarily agreed to change their accounts.6 Appendix A provides an 

outline of the FRRP's procedures for investigating annual accounts. 

The FRRP is predominantly concerned with forcing the directors to comply with 

the accounting provisions of the Companies Act, but it also plays a role in the regulation 

of auditors. In situations where the company voluntarily accepts or the court declares that 

the accounts were defective and that the company's auditors had not qualified their 

report, the FRRP's procedures state that it will "provide the relevant professional body 

with such detailed information as appears appropriate" (FRRP, Procedures, paragraph 

45). In the earlier cases, this information consisted of the FRRP's press release on the 

case. After consideration of the fact that the regulatory body (e.g., the English Institute, 

5 The FRRP can only apply to the court for non-compliance with accounting 
standards if the "group" believes compliance with the accounting standard(s) is necessary 
to present a true and fair view. 

6 "Voluntarily" is a matter of dispute for some cases. For example, Butte Mining 
agreed to amend its next set of accounts, but with the following statement, 

" . . . This treatment has been adopted following discussions between the directors 
and the Financial Reporting Review Panel ('the Panel') in 1994... To the best of 
the knowledge of the directors there is no decided case on this point, and the 
matter is a question of interpretation of law. The Company did not believe it 
appropriate that it should become party to a test case and the directors therefore 
agreed to accept the Panel's interpretation of the law... " (Butte Mining pic 1995, 
Annual Report and Accounts, 22). 
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Scottish Institute, or the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants) was receiving a 

disproportionate amount of evidence from the auditors in its disciplinary proceedings, the 

FRRP implemented the policy of providing the relevant correspondence and minutes of 

meetings with each company (Treadgold 1997a). 

Despite the FRRP's emphasis on discussion and persuasion, the FRRP is prepared 

for the possibility that it may have to make an application to the court. The FRRP has 

established a legal fund of approximately £2 million in preparation for a court battle. The 

FRRP has publicized the existence of this "war chest" in the FRC's Annual Reviews and 

Progress Reports and articles in the financial press. 

The FRRP does not provide the names of companies reviewed unless the 

company is required (voluntarily or through the court) to take corrective action on 

defective accounts. This information is not released until voluntary action is agreed upon 

or court action initiated. When this information is released, it provides a minimal 

description of the case issues, the corrective action, and the rationale for the FRRP's 

decision. As the FRC and its subsidiaries are not a government department, the 

correspondence and minutes of FRRP meetings with companies are not public record and 

not covered under the provisions of the Public Records Act of 1967 (Treadgold 1997a). 

Ironically, an agency established to deter non-compliance with accounting 

standards provides limited public information on the details of the offense committed, the 

arguments presented by the directors and auditors of the company in defense of their 

actions, or the corrective action required by the FRRP. Despite the fact that the FRRP is 



a private sector agency, it exhibits the propensity for secrecy so prevalent in the history of 

British government.7 

Research Question and Research Methodology 

Articles outlining the establishment of the current regulatory framework 

emphasize the addition of the FRRP. My initial review of primary sources of the ASB's 

predecessor, the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC), provided evidence that the 

accounting profession desired and made proposals for a monitoring and enforcement 

system on several occasions before the commissioning of the Dearing Report in 1987. 

The accounting profession could not gain consensus within the profession and, therefore, 

did not implement any of these earlier proposals. This leads to the general research 

question of this study, how and what changed in regulatory space to make establishment 

of an enforcement agency acceptable in 1990 and not earlier? 

I have attempted to answer this question by conducting an institutional historical 

study that traces the development of each of the identified proposals for establishment of 

a system to monitor and enforce compliance with accounting standards. Previts and 

Bricker (1994,3) note that "[Institutional histories trace the development of general 

practices, customs, and organizations, including assessing their social and political 

environments." A historical analysis of the professional, political, and socio-economic 

environment of the various proposals is important in gaining an understanding of the 

current enforcement system and any impact this system has had on financial reporting in 

7 See Ponting (1990,1) for a discussion of the "powerful and persistent culture of 
secrecy" in British government. 
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the UK (Merino et al. 1987; Merino and Mayper 1993). This study contains (1) a detailed 

narrative of the proposals and (2) explanations of the accounting profession's failure to 

implement the previous proposals. Hancher and Moran's (1989) concept of "regulatory 

space" provides the theoretical framework for my assessment of the events leading to the 

establishment of the current regulatory framework. 

Regulatory Space 

Hancher and Moran (1989,276) provide a framework of analysis for "common 

regulatory space." They suggest that to understand the national configuration of 

regulatory arrangements researchers must analyze the occupants and dimensions of the 

space in terms of its "specific political, legal, and cultural attributes" (Hancher and Moran 

1989,277). They contend that regulatory space is shaped by the relationships between 

organizations. Therefore, to understand how regulatory space is shaped, Hancher and 

Moran believe that researchers must explain three key aspects of the space—the inclusion 

and exclusion of organizations, the relative power of the organizations included, and the 

scope of the regulatory issues. These key aspects require consideration of political and 

legal culture, historical timing, organizational structures, interdependence between 

organizations, and allocation of issues to the different arenas of regulatory space 

(Hancher and Moran 1989). Use of the metaphor regulatory space to examine the 

accounting standard setting process allows a researcher to explore the dynamic and 

complex relationships between the actors and institutions (Young 1994). It also 

highlights the fact that relationships within regulatory space change over time, as well as 

with respect to specific issues. For example, external criticism that threatened the 
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perceived credibility of financial reports serves to unify professional accounting 

organizations, but external criticism of the enforcement process divides the professional 

organizations. 

Data 

The data for this study came from a combination of documentary evidence, 

interviews, and secondary sources. I gathered documentary evidence from the archives of 

the Accounting Standards Committee (located at the University of Manchester, UK), 

CCAB files at the London headquarters of the English Institute, and files of the Dearing 

Committee stored at the Bank of England.8 I conducted focused interviews with a 

number of key players in the history of accounting standard setting in the UK as well as 

the advocates of various proposals for change in monitoring or enforcement mechanisms. 

Selltiz, Wrightsman, and Cook (1976, 318) state that in the focused interview: 

. . . the main function of the interviewer is to focus the attention upon a given 
experience and its effects. Interviewers know in advance what topics, or what 
aspects of a question, they wish to cover. This list of topics or aspects is derived 
from a formulation of the research problem, from an analysis of the situation or 
experience in which the respondent has participated, and from hypotheses based 
on psychological or sociological theory. This list constitutes a framework of 
topics to be covered, but the manner in which questions are asked and their timing 
are left largely to the interviewer's discretion. Interviewers have freedom to 
explore reasons and motives, to probe further in directions that were 
unanticipated. Although the respondent is free to express completely his or her 
own line of thought, the direction of the interview is clearly in the hands of the 
interviewer. 

8 The Bank of England provided administrative resources to the Dearing 
Committee. The CCAB obtained copies of submissions to the Dearing Committee from 
the Bank of England at my request. 



12 

The key players interviewed included three of the four surviving chairmen of the ASC 

and three members of the Dearing Committee (see Appendix B for list of interviewees).9 

All interviewees agreed to allow me to tape the interviews, and I used these tape-

recordings to write transcripts of all interviews. Silverman (1993,117 emphasis in 

original) discusses how tape-recording and transcribing of interviews allows the 

researcher to shift "away from using the interview as a means of obtaining data about a 

pre-existing social world and towards a focus on the organisation of'interview-talk' 

itself." Heritage (1984,114) summarizes the advantages of transcripts: 

. . . the use of recorded data is an essential corrective to the limitations of intuition 
and recollection. In enabling repeated and detailed examination of the events of 
interaction, the use of recordings extends the range and precision of the 
observations which can be made, thus making analysis subject to detailed public 
scrutiny and helping to minimise the influence of personal preconceptions or 
analytical biases... (quoted in Silverman [1993], 114) 

I considered the possibility that the presence of the tape-recorder might restrain the 

interviewees from providing "off-the-record" comments. To address this issue I informed 

the interviewees that I would stop the tape at any time at their request and that I would 

not directly quote them without prior consent. The documentary evidence and interviews 

helped me understand the actions and motivations of those making the proposals and 

those responsible for the implementation or non-implementation of the proposals (Merino 

and Mayper 1993). 

9 There were six chairmen of the ASC. Sir Ronald Leach, the first chairman, died 
in 1996. Sir William Slimmings, the second chairman, died in 1995. 
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I contacted the interviewees through either a letter or personal contacts obtained at 

academic conferences in the US and Europe. Professor Barbara Merino at the University 

of North Texas sent a letter of introduction informing the prospective interviewee of a 

forthcoming request for an interview from a doctoral candidate at the University of North 

Texas. This letter stressed the credibility of the research study and requested that the 

identified key player grant an interview. My letter requesting an interview arrived a few 

days later. The letter requesting an interview stated that I was a doctoral candidate 

working on a dissertation examining the history of enforcement of accounting standards 

in the UK since 1969. In the letter I discussed the fact that I had found evidence of a 

number of monitoring and enforcement proposals and mentioned the involvement of the 

key player in the standard-setting process. To increase the probability of the key player 

granting the interview, I promised each interviewee the option of reviewing a transcript of 

the interview. I followed the letter with a telephone conversation to confirm receipt of 

the letter and arrange an interview location and date. Only one individual did not grant 

an interview — a former member of the ASC and senior civil servant who suffered health 

problems that made verbal communication difficult. 

The secondary sources of data included professional publications, academic 

publications, newspapers, etc. These sources provided the data necessary for the 

assessment of the social and political environment and the necessary background 

material for the search of the primary sources. 
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Period of Study 

I examined the period from 1969 to 1991.10 This period spanned the formation of 

the Accounting Standards Steering Committee (ASSC, predecessor of ASC). Until 1970 

accountants in the UK were not required to comply with accounting standards. Until 

establishment of the first body to enforce expected compliance, the FRRP (in February 

1991), non-compliance continued to be a major problem. I began my historical analysis 

in 1969, because in December 1969 the English Institute published Statement of Intent on 

Accounting Standards in the 1970s. This document proposed establishment of a 

standards setting body and a system to enforce compliance with the proposed accounting 

standards. Since 1969-91 is a relatively contemporary period, some of the key players in 

the proposals for the monitoring and enforcement systems are still alive. My initial 

search of the primary sources identified most of the key players. A review of the 

secondary sources identified other key players, their recommendations, and academic 

responses to each of these proposed reforms. 

Objectivity and Biases of Evidence 

The evaluation of the credibility of the evidence collected is an important part of a 

historical analysis and should include tests of authentication, bias, objectivity, and 

representativeness of the data collected. The tests of objectivity and bias are particularly 

important for the sources of data proposed in this study. My search of the ASC archive at 

the University of Manchester indicated that it is an incomplete and a censored archive. 

10 For the importance of periodization, see Carr (1961). 
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When the documents were professionally archived, a number of documents originally 

contained in the ASC files were not included. Until the late 1980s, the ASC had a policy 

of destroying "dead" project files after two years, although it believes it did not discard 

records of the ASC meetings (Howlin and Skerratt 1993). 

The ASC reviewed the files for content before they were archived in 1991. In my 

review, I determined that a number of files were removed, including material originating 

from external parties marked as confidential and not released by the party for public 

record. These included CCAB or ASC letters to the government on confidential issues, 

comments on selected exposure drafts considered as part of the ongoing work of the 

ASB, and selected portions of the minutes of ASC meetings. CCAB officials also 

restricted my access to their files by removing correspondence between the CCAB and 

the DTI.11 

This potential for "selective survival" of this archival source or even biased 

representation of the original records, is a limitation of such institutional histories but 

may be alleviated by discussion with the relevant participant sources (Previts, Parker, and 

Coffman 1990). In an attempt to address the selection bias of censored data in the 

documentary evidence, I asked every interviewee to discuss the relationship between the 

government and accounting profession. 

I also considered the objectivity and biases of my secondary sources. The major 

professional journals are published by various organizations. For example, Accountancy, 

11 DTI officials also refused to allow me access to submissions made to the DTI's 
consultative documents to protect the confidentiality of respondents' comments. 
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the most popular professional journal, is published by the English Institute, and various 

business publishing companies printed Accountancy Age and The Accountant during the 

period of study. I reviewed the three major professional journals for the period of study, 

Accountancy, Accountancy Age, and The Accountant in an attempt to restrict the biases of 

particular professional publishers or editors.12 

121 was unable to review Accountancy Age for all the years of study due to the 
lack of availability in the US and limited holdings in the UK. 



CHAPTER 3 

REGULATORY SPACE FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 1969 - MAY 1979 

The Emergence of Accounting Standards (1969-72) 

As a reaction to criticism of the accounting profession by the national press in 

1968 and 1969, the English Institute (ICAEW) established the first UK accounting 

standards setting body, the Accounting Standards Steering Committee (ASSC) in 1970. 

The establishment of the ASSC accomplished two goals for the English Institute: to 

silence the criticisms of the profession in the media and to maintain the status quo of a 

self-regulated system which allowed the exercise of individual professional judgment. 

The 1960s saw a dramatic increase in the number of takeovers and mergers in the 

UK economy. A number of high profile takeovers at the end of the sixties exposed the 

weaknesses inherent in a self-regulated accounting system. Among the more notorious 

cases were the AEI-GEC takeover battle (1967) and the collapse of the Leasco-Permagon 

takeover (1969). These two cases illustrated that a simple variation in the application of 

accounting principles could turn substantial profits into substantial losses.13 Shareholders 

and the public began to lose confidence in profit figures produced. The national press 

began to plant doubts in the minds of shareholders and the public on the reliance of 

13 See Zeff (1972) and Robson (1991) for more detailed discussion of these events 
and the influence of press comments on these scandals. 
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professional judgment in the preparation of UK accounts. The criticism came to a head 

when The Times (London) published an article by Professor Edward Stamp in 1969.14 

Commenting on the collapse of the Leasco/Permagon takeover, Stamp highlighted 

the multiplicity of accounting treatments allowed by UK accounting principles and the 

lack of independence of the auditors whose job it was to render an opinion on the 

accounts. He suggested that the profession was approaching a crisis of credibility and 

recommended reforms for the development of accounting principles. Faced with this 

growing criticism of financial reports and a number of financial scandals involving 

accounting professionals, the Labour government began to put pressure on the profession 

to maintain public confidence in published accounts (Zeff 1972; Robson 1991). In 

numerous speeches and meetings with professional leaders, senior civil servants 

specifically called for less flexibility in accounts (Wilmott 1985; Cooper et al. 1989). 

The English Institute was the professional body for an overwhelming majority of auditing 

and non-auditing accountants.15 Therefore, a majority of the criticisms of the profession 

were explicitly leveled at the English Institute which was the only professional body 

issuing guidance for accountants preparing accounts (Zeff 1972; Robson 1991). The 

English Institute had issued twenty-nine non-mandatory Recommendations on 

Accounting Principles, commonly referred to in the profession as the "N-series," between 

1942-1970 (Robson 1991). 

14 See "Auditing the auditors," The Times (London), 11 September 1969. 

15 See "Two Points of View," The Accountant, 25 March 1971,363. 
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Proposals for Reform 

In an attempt to restore the profession's and the English Institute's image, 

Michael Renshall (ICAEW technical director) proposed the term "accounting standard" 

(Leach 1981). Accounting "standard" would imply "uniformity and enforcement" but 

avoid the implementation in such words as "regulation" and "rules."16 Most members 

would reject a rule book approach that might undermine the use of professional judgment. 

The mechanism for issuing these accounting standards was outlined in a proposed 

statement for consideration of the English Institute Council's "Tentative Proposals for 

Strengthening Accounting and Auditing Standards" prepared by a special working party 

of the English Institute in November 1969 (Robson 1991). The working party' s report 

provided analogies between the situation facing the English Institute and that recently 

confronting the Accounting Principles Board in the US, emphasizing the need for reform 

by the English Institute to maintain self-regulation of the accountancy profession (Robson 

1991). 

In December 1969, the English Institute issued the Statement of Intent on 

Accounting Standards in the 1970s announcing its intention to narrow the areas of 

difference and the variety in accounting practice. The Statement called for the disclosure 

of accounting bases adopted in the accounts and for any departures from the "definitive" 

accounting standards that would be issued after exposure of draft proposals to 

16 See "Interview: Sir Ronald Leach," Accountancy Age, 16 July 1976, in which 
Leach, the first Chairman of the ASC stressed the uniformity and enforcement aspects of 
standards. 



20 

"appropriate representative bodies." The English Institute would establish the 

"machinery" for implementation of this proposal after "the advice and assistance of 

representatives of industry, finance and commerce." The English Institute informed the 

Scottish Institute (ICAS) and Irish Institute (ICAI) of its Statement of Intent prior to its 

announcement, but the other professional accountancy organizations were not consulted 

(Zeff 1972). In essence, the Institute had independently developed a plan that would 

allow it and the other professional bodies to regain credibility in the eyes of the 

government, press and public, while allowing accountants to continue to exercise 

professional judgment. 

The English Institute set up the machinery for implementation of a new standard 

setting process, the Accounting Standards Steering Committee (ASSC) in January 1970. 

Recognizing that the profession needed to present a single voice on accounting standards 

and confident that the membership of the three Institutes would approve forthcoming 

integration proposals, the English Institute encouraged the Scottish Institute and the Irish 

Institute to join it on the ASSC.17 The initial constitution of the ASSC allocated two 

seats on the committee to the other Institutes, but gave clear indications that the English 

Institute would control the promulgation of accounting standards. Documents presented 

to the Scottish Institute in February 1970 allowed a maximum of fifteen committee 

17 See "Interview: Sir Ronald Leach," Accountancy Age, 16 July 1976. In the late 
1960s the six major professional accountancy bodies agreed on proposals to their 
members for integrating the professional bodies into one body. The members of the 
Scottish Institute approved the plan after a second vote in 1970, but the members of the 
English Institute failed to approve the plan in a vote in August 1970. See Wilmott (1986) 
for further discussion of the integration plans. 
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members: thirteen from the English Institute and one each from the Scottish Institute and 

the Irish Institute. The Technical Committee of the English Institute would draft the 

proposals for accounting standards after considering comments from various bodies 

including the other Institutes. Publication of an exposure draft would require a two-thirds 

majority of the English Institute members of the ASSC. The Scottish Institute would 

only comment on exposure drafts. The English Institute Council would ultimately 

approve a proposed accounting standard (Slimmings 1981). The Scottish Institute found 

the English Institute's proposals for the ASSC "unattractive" and unacceptable as the 

issuance of standards conflicted with the Scottish Institute's traditional reluctance to issue 

recommendations or standards, yet feared that any public objections would counter the 

profession's attempts to answer its critics and have a negative effect on the profession as 

a whole. The Scottish Institute, therefore, decided it had to relinquish its traditional 

opposition to recommendations/standards and attempt to join the English Institute in the 

ASSC on the most favorable terms possible. 

Scottish Institute leaders met with English Institute leaders in March 1970 and 

made three broad proposals: (1) to constitute the ASSC as a joint committee of the three 

Chartered Institutes, (2) to increase the number of members from the Scottish Institute on 

committee, and (3) to give ultimate approval of standards to the individual councils of the 

institutes. In April 1970 the institutes agreed upon revised proposals that incorporated in 

the last two proposals, but rejected the first proposal for a joint committee. The ASSC 

was constituted as a committee of the English Institute in "association" with the Scottish 

Institute and the Irish Institute, with the Scottish Institute expecting the English Institute 
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to reconsider reconstituting the ASSC as a joint committee some time in the future. The 

Scottish Institute's membership was increased to three (the Irish Institute's remained at 

one), and the approval of standards was given to the individual councils of the three 

institutes (Slimmings 1981). 

Until the ASSC had issued its first accounting standard, the leaders of the English 

Institute continued to speak to the concerns of its critics and its members. The English 

Institute outlined how the new process would maintain confidence in published accounts 

to its critics, while it stressed the importance of professional judgment in the preparation 

of accounts to its members. The English Institute had engaged in a dramaturgy of 

exchange that legitimized the accounting standard setting process by emphasizing 

restricted behavior to the public and flexibility to the profession (Ritti and Silver 1986).18 

The first Statement of Standard Accounting Practice, Accounting for the Results 

of Associated Companies, was issued in February 1971 with the accompanying 

Explanatory Foreword to Accounting Standards (the Foreword). The Foreword stated, 

The Council expects members of the Institute who assume responsibilities in 
respect of financial accounts (signified by the association of their names with such 
accounts in the capacity of directors or other officers, auditor or reporting 
accountants) to observe accounting standards. The onus will be on them not only 
to ensure disclosure of significant departures but also, to the extent that their 
concurrence is stated or implied, to justify them. The Council, through its 
Professional Standards Committee, may inquire into apparent failures by 

18 For examples see "Institute's Immense Task on Accounting Standards," The 
Accountant, 5 March 1970, 354; "Institute's Approach to Accounting Standards," The 
Accountant, 1 May 1970,685-6; "Professional Training in the Future," The Accountant, 
17 September 1970, 371-2; "How to Retain Confidence in Published Accounts," The 
Accountant, 29 October 1970,611; and "Accountancy Bodies Meet Take-over Panel," 
Accountancy, November 1970, 757. 



23 

members of the Institute to observe accounting standards or to disclose departures 
therefrom. (Paragraph 3, emphasis added). 

The above paragraph stressed the restrictive aspect of the new standards, but a subsequent 

paragraph alleviated concerns that professional judgment would be circumscribed. The 

Foreword went on to recognize: 

that there may be situations in which for justifiable reasons accounting standards 
are not strictly applicable because they are impracticable or, exceptionally, having 
regard to the circumstances, would be inappropriate or give a misleading view. 
(Paragraph 6). 

Recalling the criticisms leveled at the independence of auditors by Stamp (1969) and to 

prevent a misconception that the Foreword only applied to preparers, the English Institute 

also issued Statement of Auditing U17, The Effect of Statements of Standard Accounting 

Practice on Auditor's Reports (March 1971). In this statement, the English Institute 

outlined the obligations of the auditors with regard to departures from accounting 

standards. Statement of Auditing U17 required auditors to disclose a departure from 

accounting standards irrespective of whether the directors of the company disclosed the 

departure in the notes to the accounts. If the auditor believed the departure prevented the 

presentation of a true and fair view in the accounts, the auditor was required to issue a 

qualified audit report. If the auditor concurred with the departure, as necessary to show a 

true and fair view, then the departure need only be mentioned in the audit report and the 

auditor would state his or her concurrence. The statement also required an auditor to 

issue a qualified audit report if he or she believed adherence to an accounting standard did 

not present a true and fair view. 
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While the Explanatory Foreword had emphasized the mandatory nature of 

accounting standards, it simultaneously provided members with justification for departure 

from the standard. The Statement of Auditing U17 empowered auditors by requiring 

disclosure of any departures in the audit report. 

The English Institute followed the Explanatory Foreword and the Statement of 

Auditing with an article by a senior member of the English Institute Council in its 

professional magazine, Accountancy. Ken Sharp (1971), a senior member of the Council, 

reiterated the importance of the establishment of the ASSC, justified the need for 

accounting standards, and hinted strongly at the possibility of disciplinary action for 

members who departed from the standards. 

In the next few months it became apparent to the leaders of the professional 

bodies that the English Institute did not have the ability or the intent to enforce 

accounting standards by disciplining its audit or non-audit members. Having made the 

threat of disciplinary action, the English Institute proceeded to investigate how it could 

both carry out and refuse to carry out the threat for non-compliance with the Foreword 

and Statement of Auditing. English Institute officials learned from legal counsel that 

under the Charter and Bye-laws of the Institute they could only discipline members for 

acts "discreditable to the profession." The lawyers advised that the Institute could only 

classify failure to disclose or justify a departure from accounting standards as a 

discreditable act if the failure resulted in or exposed the client or public to risk of injury. 

Referring to the ability of the English Institute to refuse to discipline a member, legal 

counsel stated that although the Investigation Committee could not refuse to investigate a 
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complaint made against a member, it did have complete discretion over whether the case 

was referred to the Disciplinary Committee. Even if the English Institute's Investigations 

Committee found a prima facie case, its Disciplinary Committee could refuse to instigate 

disciplinary proceedings.19 

The EEC: A Threat to the Exercise of Professional Judgment 

In 1971 the protection of professional judgment became not only vital for 

maintaining the status quo for the members of the profession but paramount to the 

survival of the system of preparing published accounts in the UK. The Conservative 

government made it clear that the UK would apply for membership in the European 

Economic Community (EEC, now known as the European Union or EU). The EEC 

members were attempting to harmonize the member state's company law on the 

presentation and contents of published accounts, as part of its general attempt to improve 

the flow of financial capital between its members. The threat to professional judgment of 

UK accountants became clear in November 1971 when the EEC Commission presented 

the first draft of the Fourth Directive on Company Law. The draft proposed that 

company accounts "conform to the principles of regular and proper accounting" and that 

companies draw up accounts "clearly and in the context of the provisions." The draft 

Directive also prescribed standard formats for the balance sheet and profit and loss 

19 Robson (1991) states that the English Institute decided to enforce accounting 
standards through qualification of the audit report and not the ICAEW's disciplinary 
mechanism when it approved the Statement of Intent in November 1969. 
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statement and detailed valuation rules. This initial draft was clearly influenced by the 

German or Roman legalistic approach to accounting regulation.20 

Based upon the overriding requirement to present the undefined "true and fair 

view," the UK Companies Act provided only general indications of how accountants 

should prepare accounts (Wilmott 1985; Robson 1991). The UK accounting profession 

now had to demonstrate the merits of a system of accounts which relied on the exercise of 

professional judgment not only to the UK public and government, but also to the 

governments and professional accountancy bodies of the EEC member states and the 

bureaucrats of the EEC Commission.2122 

Resistance From Members of the Profession 

Although the members of the English Institute stressed the importance of 

complying with accounting standards before issuing the Explanatory Foreword, words 

such as "observe," "ensure," and "justify" were totally alien and unacceptable to many 

non-audit members. These members had spent their careers exercising professional 

20 See Flower (1997) for an alternative perception of the forces that led to the 
Fourth Directive. 

21 The UK professional accountancy bodies attempted to persuade the other 
professional bodies of the EEC through membership of the Accountants' Study Group 
that advised the EEC Commission on harmonization of accounting regulation. The 
Accountants' Study Group granted the UK bodies observer status in October 1971 and 
full membership in 1972. Representations to the EEC Commission went through the 
Department of Trade and Industry (DTI). 

22 See Hopwood (1994) for an alternative discussion of how the UK persuaded the 
EEC Commission to adopt the true and fair view by instigating the establishment of the 
International Accounting Standards Committee in 1973. 
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judgment—-judgment frequently unchallenged by the auditors or the professional bodies. 

In late 1971 the English Institute became aware through members of its various 

committees that a number of its non-practicing members were voicing concerns over the 

obligations of the Foreword and the veiled threat of disciplinary action initiated by the 

Professional Standards Committee. Many non-auditing members believed the obligation 

to observe accounting standards threatened the autonomy of the professional accountant. 

They asked, how can the accountant in industry ensure that non-members of the 

professional bodies make the necessary disclosures? The significance of these concerns 

was heightened in 1972 when the ASSC expanded its membership to include members 

from two of the other three major professional bodies, the Association (the Association 

of Certified Accountants) and the Cost and Management Accountants (ICMA). The 

obligations to "observe," "ensure," and "justify" would now apply to a large number of 

accountants in finance, industry, and commerce. The concerns of the non-audit members 

of all the professional bodies became so insistent that in April 1972 the ASSC agreed to 

consider changing the wording of the Foreword. 

Representatives of the Association (certified accountants) and the Cost and 

Management Accountants provided suggestions for the amendment to the Explanatory 

Foreword and also raised the issue of the policing of compliance with accounting 

standards. English Institute officials were extremely reluctant to consider the wider issue 

of the policing of accounting standards believing the issue lay outside the ASSC's terms 

of reference. The leadership suggested that the enforcement issue would lead to an 

endless debate among the professional bodies. At one point a senior official of the 
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English Institute privately proposed that if the other bodies continued to demand policing 

of accounting standards as necessary part of the amendment of the foreword, the Institute 

should change the wording of the foreword on its own. Despite these objections, the 

ASSC appointed a working party to look at the amendment of the Explanatory Foreword 

and any enforcement issues of accounting standards in June 1972. B.D.G. Ogle, a 

member of the Association chaired the working party. 

Proposals for a Joint Review Committee 

In September 1972, the working party presented its conclusions to an official of 

the English Institute. The conclusions came in the form of two notes, a note on an 

amendment to the Foreword and a note on enforcement of accounting standards. In the 

note on amendment of the Explanatory Foreword the members of the working party 

recommended that the ASSC require non-audit members to use their "best endeavors" to 

ensure observance of accounting standards, disclosure of significant departures, and 

justification of any significant departures. The members of the working party noted that 

non-practicing members had a limited and sometimes non-existent ability to "ensure" 

compliance with accounting standards by non-member directors. The committee 

concluded that non-auditing members could only be reasonably asked to use their "best 

endeavors". The proposed amendment of the Explanatory Foreword required the non-

auditing member to present appropriate facts of any disputes with the directors to a 

committee of their professional body. 

The working party suggested that the professional bodies, or ASSC, provide 

guidance for non-audit members of all the professional bodies in disputes regarding 
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accounting standards. The working party proposed the establishment of committees by 

each of the professional bodies, or one joint committee "which would act as referee in 

cases of dispute of the type envisaged." The members of the committee concluded that 

the establishment of the committee(s), which would essentially support the professional 

members and publicize such situations, was vital to "the successful enforcement of 

accounting standards." The working party believed that public support for professional 

members would act as a deterrent to directors considering non-compliance with 

accounting standards and/or the requirement to disclose any departures from the 

standards. 

The working party's proposal for the committees or joint committee received 

mixed reaction from officials of the professional bodies. The Association's (certified 

accountants) leadership supported the establishment of the committee. A large proportion 

of the members of the Association (Certified Accountants) were non-audit members23 and 

officials at the Association, believed that the committee would help their non-audit 

members.24 The President of the Association, in a letter to the Chairman of the ASSC, 

expressed the Association's hope that the "Joint Committee" be established as soon as 

possible with maximum publicity. English Institute officials privately voiced their 

strong opposition to the establishment of either a joint committee or separate 

23 The proportion of audit members in the Association was much lower than the 
proportion of audit members in the Institutes, and many of the audit members of the 
Association worked for small auditing firms, 

24 An Association working party looking at the question of enforcement of 
accounting standards also endorsed the proposal. 
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enforcement. The English Institute also had a large number of non-audit members, but 

the vast majority of its Council and officials were audit members. In a letter to Michael 

Renshall, the English Institute technical director and de facto secretary of the ASSC, 

David Hobson (1972,1), an auditing member of the English Institute and a member of 

the ASSC, described the proposal for the joint committee as "an enormous sledgehammer 

to crack a nut." Hobson also expressed concern that the establishment of the committee 

would interfere in the relationship between the auditor and the client. He believed the 

committees would undermine the professional responsibility of independent auditors, 

resulting in a "serious decline in the standing of the accountancy profession" (Hobson 

1972,2). Hobson's comments persuaded English Institute officials to keep the matter off 

the agenda of the next ASSC meeting in the hope that the enthusiasm for the joint 

committee would recede. 

Having stalled the ASSC's consideration of the working party's proposals, the 

English Institute officials then proceeded to demonstrate that the profession did not need 

to enforce accounting standards. They argued that outside enforcement mechanisms 

would be sufficient to monitor compliance. English Institute officials distributed an 

internal paper that highlighted suggested recent changes in UK common law on 

negligence and new Stock Exchange listing requirements to support their position. These 

new regulations, they argued, would ensure enforcement of accounting standards and 

negated the need for action by the professional bodies. When this suggestion failed to 

quash the Association's enthusiasm for the joint committee, senior English Institute 

officials held a meeting with the working party members. At this meeting the English 
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Institute officials argued that the working party's arbitration panel was unnecessary and 

would threaten the standing of the profession. The English Institute had prevailed; the 

working party decided to drop the proposal for the panel. The wording of the suggested 

amendment was changed to require non-audit members to report the facts of any dispute 

to their professional organizations.25 

Summary and Conclusions 

Hancher and Moran's (1989) concept of "regulatory space" provides a useful tool 

to analyze the changing relationships and power struggles between the organizations 

influential in the regulation of UK financial reporting for the period of study. Figure 3.1 

below provides a schematic representation of the organizations and issues influential in 

the regulatory space for the period 1969-1972. 

The size of the circles signifies the relative power of an organization within the 

regulatory space: the larger the circle, the greater an organization's relative power within 

regulatory space. The distance between the circles provides an indication of the 

interdependence between the organizations. Issues important to the structure of 

regulatory space appear outside the circles. 

The dramatic increase in the number of takeovers during the 1960s coupled with 

the ensuing financial scandals, highlighted the flexibility of UK accounting principles. 

By the end of the decade, shareholders and the public began to lose confidence in 

25 In September 1973, a technical committee of the English Institute concluded 
that members did not have the right to discuss their employer's affairs with their 
professional body and decided the working party's amendment to the Foreword was not 
necessary. 
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financial statements. After Stamp (1969) wrote an article in the national press exposing 

the extent of the flexibility in accounting principles and the inability of auditors to 

regulate accounting practice, the government added its voice to the calls for reform of UK 

financial reporting. The English Institute, the largest of the UK professional bodies, 

answered the call for reform with a Statement of Intent proposing the establishment of an 

accounting standard setting process. 

Figure 3.1 
UK Financial Reporting Regulatory Space 1969-72 
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The English Institute realized that government and public attention to the 

differences and variety of accounting practices threatened both the image of the English 

Institute and the continued self-regulation of financial reporting. A continued lack of 
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confidence in financial information risked government intervention. Establishment of an 

accounting standards setting process would provide an image of uniformity, restore 

public confidence, and keep government on the fringe of the regulatory space. The 

English Institute had recognized that as the only professional body providing guidance on 

preparation of accounts, it possessed the resources and knowledge to establish the 

machinery to implement this proposal. Acknowledging that the profession needed to 

present a single voice and assuming that the profession would soon unite to form one 

professional body, the English Institute encouraged the other major professional bodies to 

join the new accounting standard setting process. But when integration plans for the 

profession collapsed, the English Institute allocated the Scottish and Irish Institutes a 

consultative role in the new standard setting body, the Accounting Standards Steering 

Committee (ASSC). The members of the other major accountancy bodies had seats on 

the ASSC, but were overwhelmingly outnumbered by English Institute members. 

Ultimately the English Institute alone approved accounting standards and any changes to 

the constitution. The English Institute continued to dominate the regulatory space, but it 

had opened the door for greater participation from the other professional bodies in the 

future. 

The obligations imposed by the ASSC in the Explanatory Foreword to 

Accounting Standards, the English Institute's threat of disciplinary action, and the 

emphasis on independence in Statement of Auditing U17 provided symbolic reassurance 

to the public that the profession's self-regulatory mechanism was sufficient to curb 

further abuses. The inclusion of the other major professional accountancy bodies in the 
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ASSC implied that the accounting standards were agreed upon by a united profession. 

However, the wording of the Foreword combined with a weak disciplinary mechanism 

allowed members of the profession to justify non-compliance with the new accounting 

standards if the standards would not present the undefined "true and fair view" in the 

annual accounts. While U17 enhanced the public's perception of auditor independence, it 

also presented auditors with the opportunity to avoid qualifying their audit reports. 

Non-audit members of the profession resisted the imposition of accounting 

standards and the new professional obligations that accompanied them. The forum for 

this resistance expanded when the non-audit dominated professional bodies of the 

certified accountants (the Association) and the cost and management accountants 

(Institute of Cost and Management Accountants) entered the regulatory space as non-

voting members of the ASSC. Fears over disciplinary action and the limited ability of 

non-audit members to enforce accounting standards on non-professional directors led to 

proposals from within the ASSC for loosening of the professional obligations and 

establishment of an official mechanism to enforce accounting standards. When it became 

clear the enforcement dilemma proposals would undermine professional unity, the 

English Institute exercised its power in the regulatory space by keeping the recommended 

reforms off the ASSC's agenda. Instead, the Institute shifted responsibility onto a new 

player in the regulatory space, the Stock Exchange. If an external mechanism existed to 

ensure compliance, then accountants could avoid a hostile and divisive internal debate. 

In this initial period of accounting standards, the English Institute had managed to 

avoid the credibility crisis envisioned by Stamp (1969) by shaping and dominating the 
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regulatory space of UK financial reporting, but as far as the accounting profession was 

concerned the English Institute had maintained the status quo. The English Institute's 

actions allowed the accountancy profession to retain its self-regulatory environment at a 

time when financial scandals and imminent UK entry into the EEC presented the threat of 

state regulation. The Institute had structured the standard setting process in a manner that 

allowed it to maintain control of the regulatory space. The reforms did not threaten the 

cornerstone of UK financial reporting—professional judgment—but did provide 

symbolic reassurance to the public. 

The Specter of Government Intervention (1973 - June 1979) 

From 1973 until June 1979, the UK accounting profession faced renewed threats 

of government intervention due to a combination of circumstances: (1) the failure of the 

profession to deal with the inflation accounting issue, (2) the return to power of the 

Labour Party, and (3) the EEC's Fourth Directive on harmonization of company law. 

The profession was once more required to reassure the government and the public of its 

ability to self-regulate. At the beginning of this period the threat of government oversight 

motivated the English Institute to share some of its power in the accounting standard 

setting process with the other major professional bodies. In 1974, the six major 

accountancy bodies formed a new representative body, the Consultative Committee of 

Accountancy Bodies (CCAB), for the profession and instituted a more democratic 

standard setting process. Ironically, these new organizations that allowed the bodies to 
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present united support for reforms to the self-regulatory system also highlighted 

weaknesses in the regulatory system. 

The first sign of direct government interference in regulatory space came in 1973 

when the Conservative government set up an independent inquiry to examine the issue of 

accounting for the effects of inflation. Intervention in the accounting for inflation debate 

was confined to one arena of the regulatory space, financial reporting for the effects of 

inflation. But two events in 1974 alerted the profession to the possibility of expanded 

government intervention. In February 1974, a Labour Party government came to power 

in the UK. The government immediately became more proactive in monitoring the 

corporate sector. In June 1974, a subcommittee of the Labour Party, whose membership 

included the Secretary of State for Industry and Trade, published a paper entitled The 

Community and the Company. The paper referred to a Socialist Companies Act and 

outlined proposals for government regulation of financial markets and companies. The 

document highlighted the strong desire of a significant number of members of the Labour 

Party to intervene in the regulation of the accountancy profession. 

Also in February 1974, the EEC Commission published the second draft of the 

Fourth Directive on the presentation and content of the annual accounts of limited 

liability companies. Although the draft Directive contained the overriding requirement 

for annual accounts to present a true and fair view, the proposed directive did contain a 

number of statutory requirements alien to UK accountants. In particular, UK accountants 

objected to standard layouts for the balance sheet and profit and loss account, and rigid 

valuation rules for such items as goodwill and research and development. The 
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publication of the second draft accelerated fears of government control of financial 

reporting requirements. The recommended "rule book" approach presented a serious 

threat to the UK profession's exercise of professional judgment in the compilation of 

annual accounts. 

The threat of government intervention remained constant in the minds of the 

profession's leaders for the entire period of 1973-mid 1979. The accountancy profession 

reacted by presenting a variety of proposals for reform to prevent government intrusion. 

UK accountants recognized that the profession must present a united front to counter 

domestic and EEC efforts to regulate financial reporting. The dominant professional 

organization, the English Institute, needed the support of other professional bodies to 

unite in a new organization that would represent all UK accountants. 

The six major professional bodies established the Consultative Committee of 

Accountancy Bodies (CCAB) in May 1974 (Wilmott 1986). The participating bodies 

agreed to a program of consultation on matters of common concern, joint representation 

to government departments and the EEC Commission, and the monitoring of progress in 

existing areas of professional collaboration.26 While the English Institute had recognized 

the need to present the impression of a united profession, the formation of the CCAB 

allowed the other professional bodies a platform for their agendas and further eroded the 

English Institute's dominance. To broaden its base, the ASSC asked Chartered Institute 

of Public and Finance Accounting (CIPFA), the professional body for public sector 

26 See "Accountants Establish New Consultative Body," The Accountant, 30 May 
1974,692. 
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accountants, to join the ASSC in 1976. The CCAB made all six professional bodies the 

governing bodies of a newly renamed Accounting Standards Committee (ASC). Issuing 

accounting standards from this point on required the approval of the Councils of all six 

major professional bodies not just the Council of the English Institute. 

Three issues fueled the form and intensity of the debates over the threat of 

government control of regulatory space: (1) accounting for the effects of inflation, (2) the 

continuing problem of financial scandals in UK financial markets, and (3) increased 

pressure from the Labour Party and some accounting academics for government 

regulation of companies and financial markets. 

Accounting for the Effects of Inflation 

The Conservative government announced its plans to set up an independent 

inquiry into accounting for inflation in July 1973. The announcement came as a surprise 

to professional leaders and members of the ASSC, coming just weeks before the 

expiration of the comment period for the ASSC's exposure draft on inflation accounting 

(ED 8). DTI officials had stated a desire to leave the matter to the accountants and other 

interested parties in 1971, but the government's position changed due to the perceived 

inadequacy of the profession's response to the inflation debate (Westwick 1980; Robson 

1994).27 DTI officials asserted that pressure to recognize inflation accounting for tax 

27 At a meeting of the ASSC Plenary Committee (May 1971), a former president 
of the English Institute, Sir Henry Benson (later to become Lord Benson) suggested that 
the government establish an independent inquiry on inflation accounting. After 
considering the suggestion, a DTI official present at the December 1971 meeting stated 
the government's desire to leave the matter to the accountants and other interested parties 
(Westwick 1980; Robson 1994). 
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purposes, plus the pressure of a "significant minority" with preferences for alternative 

methods to current purchasing power (CPP), required the establishment of an independent 

inquiry (Robson 1994,46).28 Professional leaders saw the inquiry as a blow to the 

profession's attempts to find a solution to the problem of accounting for inflation 

(Morpeth 1981), a blow made more painful when the twelve-member committee (later 

known as the Sandilands Committee) included only three representatives from the 

accountancy profession, none of whom had been involved in the ASSC's proposals for 

CPP (Westwick 1980). Believing it had support for proposals based on CPP, the ASSC 

proceeded to issue a non-mandatory provisional standard (PSSAP 7, Accounting for 

Changes in the Purchasing Power of Money) in May 1974.29 This provisional standard 

was overshadowed, however, by the anticipated recommendations of the government 

inquiry which was scheduled for release in 1975. 

The Sandilands Committee released its report in August 1975. Despite a number 

of submissions from the ASSC in favor of CPP, the Committee concluded that CPP was 

not the best long-term solution and recommended the adoption of current cost accounting 

(CCA). The Committee recommended that the government ask the accountancy 

profession to set up a steering group to investigate further the practical issues and 

implementation of a CCA system. The report's rejection of the profession's proposal for 

28 Robson (1994) provides a discussion of possible reasons for the government's 
decision. 

29 PSSAP 7 was non-mandatory because accountants were not required to disclose 
departures from the standard and auditors were not obliged to refer to departures from the 
standard in their reports. 
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CPP came as a surprise to the ASSC and professional leaders became worried that the 

government might seek to implement the Committee's proposals itself. The CCAB asked 

the ASSC to write a report on its reaction to the report of the Sandilands Committee. The 

ASSC's report recommended developing a standard based on a combination of CPP and 

CCA. In November 1975, the government asked Douglas Morpeth, a former president of 

the English Institute and Deputy Chairman of the ASSC, to head the steering group (later 

known as the Inflation Accounting Steering Group or Morpeth Group). The Steering 

Group reported regularly to the Secretary of State for Trade and the ASSC. The 

government funded one third of the costs of the Steering Group, with the remaining two-

thirds from the CCAB, accountancy firms, and the business community. The 

establishment of the Sandilands Committee and the acceptance of its recommendations 

had demonstrated the willingness and ability of the government to intervene in 

accounting standard setting.30 The government continued to monitor the progress of the 

Steering Group and the ASSC in establishing an accounting standard for inflation 

accounting. Under pressure to issue a standard as soon as possible, the Morpeth Group 

issued the exposure draft, Current Cost Accounting (ED 18), in November 1976.31 The 

debate and events that surrounded ED 18 would demonstrate how the other professional 

30 Stamp (1976) in a guest editorial for Accountancy magazine on government 
interference in the accounting for inflation debate wrote 

" . . . it could lead, unless we are very careful, to a takeover by the Government of 
the initiative and the responsibility for determining accounting Standards. The 
possibility of a British 'Securities and Exchange Commission', or something even 
worse, looms menacingly upon the horizon." 

31 «, CCA—A New Initiative?" The Accountant, 8 September 1977,270. 
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bodies, members of the profession, and management could exert political power under the 

ASC's new constitution. No longer could the English Institute dictate the future direction 

of the accounting standard setting process. 

After a series of meetings with its members, one of the professional bodies, the 

Cost and Management Accountants (ICMA), expressed strong objections to the contents 

of the exposure draft. The cost and management representatives duly relayed their 

members' views to the accountancy press and the ASC in 1977. Members of the English 

Institute also expressed similar concerns over ED 18 but took the debate to a higher level 

of controversy. David Keymer and Martin Haslam, two auditing members of the English 

Institute, forced a special meeting of the English Institute to vote on a resolution that 

"members of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales do not wish 

any system of Current Cost Accounting to be made compulsory."32 Despite threats from 

the leaders of the English Institute that a vote against ED 18 could lead to more 

government intervention in the inflation accounting standard setting debate and even 

standard setting generally, the Institute's membership voted to pass the resolution. The 

Institute had thus implicitly rejected the exposure draft. Finance directors and 

investment analysts soon added their discontent with ED 18 to the debate.33 Soon after, 

members of the Association (certified accountants) staged a similar revolt against EDI 8. 

32 Quoted in "Rebels Win CCA Vote at ICA Special Meeting," The Accountant, 1 
July 1977, 2. 

33 See "Too Much Too Soon: Finance Directors Response to ED 18," The 
Accountant, 26 May 1977,619-20; "ED18 Reservations' by Investment Analysts," The 
Accountant, 9 June 1977,655. 
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The demands of two professional bodies (the Association and the Cost and 

Management accountants), combined with opposition of the membership of the English 

Institute, finance directors, and users left the ASC with no other option but to withdraw 

the exposure draft. The ASC withdrew ED 18 and released a Statement of Intent in which 

it announced plans to issue interim guidelines for supplementing historical cost accounts. 

The Steering Group continued to work on a replacement exposure draft. But a number 

of finance directors made it clear they had no intention of publishing inflation adjusted 

statements before issuance of an inflation accounting standard.34 

In November 1977 the ASC issued voluntary interim guidelines (known as the 

Hyde Guidelines) requiring companies listed on the Stock Exchange to issue 

supplementary CCA statements. The guidelines gave directors more scope in the 

application of the recommendations than had ED 18 in which the ASC had recommended 

that the proposed standard apply to all accounts intended to give a true and fair view and 

that directors prepare the main accounts based on current cost accounting. The new 

exposure draft, Current Cost Accounting (ED24) issued in April 1979, recommended that 

all listed companies and companies with sales exceeding £5 million provide a 

supplementary current cost balance sheet and adjustments to the profit and loss account. 

The hostile and public inflation accounting debate served to undermine further the 

confidence in financial reports, which had been severely shaken by financial scandals 

throughout this period. 

34 See "Wait and See", The Accountant, 3 November 1977, 555. 
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Financial Scandals 

Financial scandals plagued the UK financial markets for most of the 1970s and 

frequently received extensive coverage in the financial and mass market press. In some 

instances the financial scandals resulted in government investigations performed by DTI 

appointed inspectors. The press and DTI inspectors began extensive criticism of the role 

of accountants and auditors in a number of the scandals in 1976. 

The most notable financial scandal was the London and County Securities affair. 

The DTI inspectors' report on the investigation of the London and County scandal 

highlighted substantial fraud undetected by the auditors.35 Shortly after the publication 

of the DTI Inspectors' Report, the Secretary of State for Trade announced that the DTI 

was to conduct a wide-ranging investigation into the role of auditors.Largely in 

response to the fury of press criticism of auditing and government attention generated by 

the London and County report, the CCAB set up the Audit Practices Committee (APC) in 

March 1976. This committee was a joint committee between the English Institute, the 

Scottish Institute, the Irish Institute, and the Association (Certified Accountants), 

organizations that had members in public practice (Ferrier 1991).37 The Committee's aim 

35 The inspectors did acknowledge that the lengths the chairman of the company 
went to would have deceived the most vigilant auditor (Boys 1997). 

36 See "Government fires a warning shot at the profession," Accountancy Age, 13 
February 1976,1. 

37 The members of the English Institute, ICAS, ICAI, and the Association were 
authorized by section 161 of the Companies Act to act as auditors. 
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was to provide for the approval of the professional bodies, "statements of explanation and 

guidance on auditing and definitive Statements of auditing standards."38 

Unfortunately for the accountancy profession, scandals involving accountants and 

auditors continued to receive attention in the financial press (e.g., SUITS/Amalgamated 

Caledonian). Other DTI inspector's reports also criticized the role of auditors (e.g., 

Lonrho and Ralph Hilton).39 Professional leaders came under intense pressure from their 

members and the government to introduce reforms to address the criticisms. Once again 

the English Institute responded by setting up a committee in September 1976 to consider 

changes to strengthen the Institute's investigatory and disciplinary powers. 

Government increased the pressure when the Secretary of State for Trade 

summoned the Presidents of the English Institute, the Scottish Institute, and the 

Association to discuss the criticisms in the DTI inspectors' reports. The Accountant 

commenting on the meeting stated that the meeting "had been freely reported, in both 

government and professional circles as a reading of the 'Riot Act.'"40 The accountancy 

profession attempted to reassure the Minister that the scandals were "coincidence of 

exceptional, unprecedented events" and not the tip of the iceberg as some commentators 

38 See "Auditing Practices Committee settles in," Accountancy, April 1976,4. 

39 Criticism of the role of accountants and auditors in financial scandals by DTI 
inspectors became so intense that the DTI civil servants called a meeting with the 
inspectors to ask them to stop "knocking" auditors in their investigations so as not to 
undermine the profession's credibility ("Curb criticisms of accountants inspectors told,' 
Accountancy Age, 1 October 1976,1). 

40 See "Presidents on the Mat," The Accountant, 7 October 1976,406. 
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had claimed.41 Recognizing the seriousness of the government's concern and seeking to 

reassure the government, one week after their meeting with the Minister the professional 

bodies announced plans to expand the independent review of the ICAEW's disciplinary 

procedures to include ICAS and the Association. To strengthen the public and 

government's confidence that reform would be forthcoming, the profession sought 

external support. The professional bodies commissioned Lord Cross, a former judge, to 

chair the committee (commonly referred to as the Cross Committee) and appointed two 

lay members to the review team. 

This initial threat of government action and repeated calls from the press and 

factions of the Labour Party over the next two years seemed to spur the professional 

bodies to continue reforms of the regulatory space. In October 1977, the Cross 

Committee recommended the establishment of tribunals of inquiry to investigate "public 

interest" allegations of bad workmanship. The professional bodies set up a committee 

chaired by a prominent former president of the English Institute, John Grenside, to 

consider the recommendations of the Cross Committee and suggest actions to the 

professional bodies (December 1977). The Grenside Committee proposed the 

establishment of a Joint Investigation Committee to examine the actions of auditing firms 

in cases of public interest and recommend disciplinary action to the individual 

professional bodies (May 1978). Professional leaders attempted to unify the profession 

and curb any resistance to the proposals for reform by making it clear that the alternative 

41 See "Reassurance—or Education," The Accountant, 14 October 1976, 433. 
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to the proposals was government regulation. The specter of government intervention 

enabled the profession to unite. In May 1979 the members of the professional bodies 

approved the proposal for a Joint Investigation Committee. 

The willingness of the profession to enact reforms may have enabled the Labour 

government to resist numerous calls from within its own party to establish a UK SEC. 

The CCAB also participated in reform of the securities industry. To address the problem 

of lack of public confidence, a number of industry representative associations under the 

supervision of the Bank of England established a self-regulatory body, the Council for the 

Securities Industry (CSI). The CCAB provided a member of this Council and advised 

government in its attempts to reform the financial markets.42 

Financial scandals in the UK threatened the credibility of financial markets and, 

during the mid 1970s, the credibility of the accountancy profession. The professional 

leaders were often able to deflect criticisms of the profession by discussing the public's 

misunderstanding of the role of accountants and auditors, but the threat of government 

intervention facilitated action by the professional bodies. The perceived threat of 

government intervention remained constant throughout the period due to the Labour 

Party's demands for government regulation of financial markets and the accountancy 

profession. 

42 See "Accountants praised for their role in company law reform," Accountancy, 
December 1978, 6. 
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Calls for Government Regulation 

During the period 1973-mid 1979 the profession faced numerous calls for 

government regulation of the profession. The publication of the document The 

Community and the Company by a subcommittee of the Labour Party just months after 

the party's win in the first general election of 1974 put the profession on notice that 

influential members of the Labour Government had intentions of controlling or at least 

significantly interfering in the regulatory space of accounting standards. The paper 

referred to a Socialist Companies Act. The Act would have three objectives. The first of 

these was the establishment of a new relationship between companies and their workers. 

Proposals included a two-tier board structure for all private and public companies that 

would allow representatives of workers to supervise management. Second, a Companies 

Commission would regulate companies and financial institutions. The commission would 

regulate activities such as takeovers, monitoring of company affairs, securities markets, 

and activities generally related to share dealing. Third, the Act would widen the scope of 

disclosure to provide relevant information to employees and the public. Examples of 

proposals included provision of a funds flow statement and full details of all transactions 

between the company and employee pension funds. In this respect the paper called for an 

extension of the work undertaken by auditors including a more rigid enforcement of 

accountancy standards and principles.43 In 1974, the accountancy bodies, along with 

other major business institutions (e.g., Confederation of British Industry, the Law Society 

43 See "The Company in Society," The Accountant, 6 June 1974. 
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and the Trade Union Congress), were asked by the Department of Trade to provide 

information on the workings of the securities market and to suggest methods of 

supervision. The Department was apparently concerned with the system of regulation 

and enforcement after a number of financial scandals in the City in the early 1970s and 

was considering establishing a new supervisory body along the lines of the US Securities 

and Exchange Commission.44 As previously mentioned a number of the demands came 

from factions of the Labour Party, but calls for government intervention also came from 

accounting academics. 

The academic influence 

In May 1976 the English Institute's professional journal, Accountancy, published 

an article by two accounting academics, David Lyall and Robert Perks. The authors 

proposed that the government establish a quasi-governmental body or State Auditing 

Board (SAB) to assume many of the regulatory functions performed by the professional 

bodies. This call for government regulation of the accountancy profession influenced a 

number of subsequent demands for external oversight from within the Labour Party. The 

article was a response to comments by accounting academics (in particular Professors 

Stamp and Flint) and others in the accountancy profession defending the need for 

maintenance of self-regulation of the profession. Lyall and Perks's (1976) proposals 

foreshadowed arguments presented in the late 1980s for the establishment of the current 

regulatory system of the Financial Reporting Council and its subsidiaries. 

44 See "English Institute aids securities market probe," Accountancy, October 
1974. 
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The profession cited the ability to speak freely, the need to maintain flexibility, 

availability of expert advice, and avoidance of political interference as reasons why 

government regulation should not be enacted. Lyall and Perks provided counter 

arguments to these assertions. They argued that if the final decision was made by an 

independent SAB then professional leaders would have greater freedom of speech. They 

suggested the Sandilands Committee report provided evidence of flexibility, expertise in 

government sponsored bodies, and the lack of political interference. The professional 

bodies with its provisional accounting standards (PSSAP 7) merely adapted historic costs 

to units of current purchasing power. The Sandilands Committee had the flexibility and 

autonomy to take the radical step from historic cost to current cost accounting. The 

authors noted the Sandilands Committee did not lack accounting expertise. Lyall and 

Perks suggested that the report of the committee was in many ways shaped by the 

accountants on the committee. The academics cited the appointment of the Sandilands 

Committee by a Conservative government and subsequent endorsement by a Labour 

government as evidence that interference would not occur on a partisan basis. 

Having answered the criticisms of government interference Lyall and Perks 

proceeded to outline the reasoning behind their call for the quasi-governmental body. 

They pointed out that the English Institute established the ASSC (by then renamed the 

ASC) to answer the criticisms of the variation in the presentation of a "true and fair view" 

in financial reports of companies. The intent of accounting standards was to narrow the 

areas of difference. Lyall and Perks asserted that neither the ASSC nor the ASC had 

enacted accounting standards that resolved the problems of the late 1960s and early 
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1970s. They contended that many of the accounting standards issued were either 

equivocal or sidestepped some of the more controversial problems of the time such as 

foreign currency and group accounts. The researchers maintained that an inability and 

unwillingness to enforce accounting standards further compounded the problem and 

damaged the reputation of the profession.45 

Lyall and Perks cited clauses in the Explanatory Foreword that allowed 

accountants to avoid disclosing departures from standards if it was "impracticable" or 

misleading to do so. They noted that guided by the Statement of Auditing (U17) auditors 

need only note significant departures from standards and could not ensure companies 

adhere to accounting standards. The academics also discussed the inability and 

unwillingness of the professional bodies and the Stock Exchange to discipline members 

of the profession that did not observe accounting standards or disclose and justify 

significant departures. The authors even went so far as to question the profession's 

purpose for the ASC and accounting standards. Did the professional bodies see the 

development of accounting standards as a way to protect the investors and the public, or 

did accounting standards serve to present the image of a profession answering its critics 

and thus avoid public scandals? If the answer was the former, it seemed only reasonable 

to Lyall and Perks to expect the government to meet the costs of the system, especially in 

light of the continuing spiraling costs of the system. The authors proposed that a State 

Auditing Board (SAB) should "undertake the task of developing, promulgating and 

45 In 1976 Perks conducted a study of the compliance with SSAP 2 for a sample of 
60 companies, the results were published in Perks and Butler (1977). 
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enforcing accounting standards." Lyall and Perks outlined how such a State Auditing 

Board would work. 

The State Auditing Board (SAB) would gain its authority and powers from 

legislation. Although Parliament would delegate the SAB its authority and powers, the 

SAB would be an independent regulatory agency. The government would not appoint 

members to the SAB. The government would finance the SAB, but a combination of 

business interest groups such as the Confederation of British Industry, the Trade Union 

Congress, the Stock Exchange, and possibly academics as well as the professional 

accounting bodies would appoint the Board's members. The Board would consist of 

part-time members who would meet and delegate day-to-day running of the organization 

to a full-time highly qualified directorate. The SAB would employ a number of licensed 

auditors. Under the proposals, existing qualified auditors would become state-licensed 

auditors and have their license revoked if they failed to uphold the SAB accounting and 

auditing standards. The SAB would make arrangements for the education, training, and 

examination of future state-licensed auditors.46 The authors believed that by legislating 

accounting standards and removing the financial tie between the regulators and 

regulatees, the SAB could enforce accounting and auditing standards more effectively. 

They also contended that a board representing a wide range of interests could broaden the 

base of accounting standards. 

46 This was not a new proposal in the US. See Previts and Merino (1998,228-34) 
for a discussion of Edward Hurley's proposal for registration of accountants by the 
Federal Reserve Board. 
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A former President of the English Institute, Kenneth Wright published a rebuttal 

to Lyall and Perks (1976) in the same issue of Accountancy. He challenged their claims 

that the ASC had not produced quality standards and sufficiently narrowed the 

differences. Wright emphasized the improvements made by the ASC and argued that UK 

accounting standards had a high world standard. He questioned whether Parliament and 

the government would accept the design of the arrangements proposed. The former 

president argued that the acceptance of a body that has statutory powers and 

governmental financing, but no responsibility to the bodies granting the powers 

(parliament) or providing the finance, would set a new precedent in the UK. He believed 

this was unlikely to occur considering that the government (the previous Conservative 

government) had only just a few years ago publicly voiced its support and willingness to 

leave the regulation in the hands of the profession (at the inaugural meeting of the IASC 

in 1973). Wright also emphasized that this new body would lead to a new bureaucracy, a 

bureaucracy that would enjoy an audit monopoly. As a result of the SAB's 

monopolization of audits, private audits "would wither overnight, and with it would 

disappear the competition, debate, argument, and effort to improve our standards which 

has contributed so much to the successful development of our self-regulating profession" 

(Wright 1976,37). In essence, Wright claimed the accounting world would fall apart if 

the standard setting process was not left to the experts, the accountants. Wright ignored 

the academics' criticisms of the profession's lack of enforcement of accounting standards. 

While Lyall and Perks (1976) proposals were not embraced or accepted by the 

accounting profession, their proposals were supported by members of the parliamentary 
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Labour Party. Two Labour Members of Parliament (MP) contacted Lyall and Perks, who 

met with the Labour MPs at the House of Commons and drafted a proposal for an Audit 

Reform Bill. On March 22 1977, a backbench Labour MP, Ivor Clemitson, introduced a 

motion to bring the Audit Reform Bill before the House of Commons. The Bill proposed 

the establishment of a Public Auditing Board that would provide auditing services to 

companies, as well as promulgate and enforce accounting standards. Conservative MP 

John Wakeham, a member of the English Institute and a former auditor, opposed 

Clemitson's motion. The House rejected the motion, by a vote of 159 for and 194 

against, with two Labour government ministers, Michael Foot and Barbara Castle voting 

in favor. Although the three accountant Labour members of the parliament chose not to 

vote, others members of the Labour Party continued to press for reform. 

In an April 1977 conference, Government Involvement in the Accountancy 

Profession held at the University of Strathclyde in conjunction with Accountancy, Basil 

Jeuda, influential in development of the Labour Party's company policy, repeated calls 

for the establishment of a "Companies Commission." This commission would "regulate 

accounting matters and would have powers inter alia to deal with gaps in the enforcement 

of standards."47 Later in 1977 the Labour Economic Finance and Taxation Association 

(LEFTA) published a booklet written by Robin Atkins and Hilton Atkins entitled The 

Audit of Public Companies. Atkins and Atkins (1977) voiced concerns over the 

performance of auditors and recommended that the Department of Trade establish a 

47 See "Government Involvement in the Profession," The Accountant, 21 April 
1977,456 and "A Companies Commission," Accountancy, May 1977,4-5. 
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permanent body to regulate the accounting profession.48 Perks also reiterated his calls for 

a quasi-government body to regulate the accounting profession when he presented written 

evidence on behalf of the Fabian Society to a parliamentary review committee (Wilson 

Committee) investigating the functioning of financial institutions. Perks proposed the 

establishment of a Public Audit Board along the lines of the suggestion in Lyall and 

Perks (1976). The CCAB were so concerned about the proposal that at the request of the 

Wilson Committee it submitted an eighteen page response to the Fabian paper and the 

response was published as Technical Release 351, Standards of Accounting and Auditing 

(August 1981). 

With hindsight, given the lack of qualified accountants in the civil service and 

the great expense of setting up any government regulatory body, whether the profession's 

leaders seriously believed the government would act upon the calls, or its own threats, is 

a matter of debate. I have found no evidence to suggest that the Labour government 

adopted any of the proposals for government regulation of the accounting profession as 

an official policy. By the end of the period the threat significantly diminished. The 

Labour government needed the assistance of the accountancy profession to introduce 

reforms of UK financial markets and advise the government on accounting and auditing 

issues involving proposals from the EEC. The need for the accountancy profession's 

expertise brought the profession and the government closer together and removed the 

perceived external threat to the accountancy profession's autonomy. 

48 See "Left recommends DoT control of the accounting profession,' 
Accountancy, December 1977, 10. 
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The EEC Fourth Directive 

In July 1978, the EEC Council of Ministers approved the Fourth Directive of 

Company Law. The UK and other EEC members states agreed to implement the 

provisions of the directive into national law within two years. The profession had worked 

with DTI representatives in the EEC negotiations to draft the directive and were currently 

consulted by the DTI on accounting matters covered in proposed and existing companies 

legislation.49 DTI civil servants planned to issue a consultative document on 

implementation of the directive in early 1979.50 In addition to the Fourth Directive, DTI 

officials were considering the implications of the draft Eighth EEC Directive on auditor 

qualifications (April 1978). This desire to retain self-regulation and the cooperative 

relationship between the government and the profession was expressed on a number of 

occasions by senior civil servants and government ministers.51 However, professional 

leaders continued to invoke the threat of government intervention to justify and introduce 

reforms. The profession accepted the APC, the Joint Investigations Committee, and 

participation in the Council of Securities Industry; measures that in some way monitored 

49 Minutes of meetings between DTI civil servants and representatives of CCAB, 
1 March 1978, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 

50 See "Company Accounts: Fourth Directive Adopted," The Accountant, 24 
August 1978, 233. 

51 For examples see "The Profession is Not Complacent," The Accountant, 2 
February 1978, 139; "No wish in Whitehall to control profession, says Ken Sharp," 
Accountancy, March 1978,24; "Accountants praised for their role in company law 
reform," Accountancy, December 1978, 6; and "Government and the Professions," The 
Accountant, 14 December 1978, 802. 
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and threatened the accountant/auditor's exercise of the all important professional 

judgment, in an effort to deter more draconian government action.52 

The Profession Responds 

Professional leaders, and predominantly the leaders of the English Institute, 

responded to the pressures of the regulatory space for this period in two ways. They set 

up a new mechanism to monitor non-compliance with accounting standards, and 

suggested ways to strengthen compliance with accounting standards. 

Monitoring of non-compliance with accounting standards 

Spurred by government intervention in the inflation accounting debate (the 

Sandilands Committee), criticism of the ASSC in the press, and an awareness that the 

English Institute's Professional Standards Committee had not investigated cases of non-

compliance, English Institute officials began to investigate the possibility of continuously 

monitoring non-compliance with accounting standards in the summer of 1975. The 

accountancy and financial press had criticized the ASSC for being too dictatorial and 

inflexible and for a lack of enforcement of accounting standards.53 The Professional 

52 For examples of the expression of the threat of government intervention by 
professional leaders see "Role of the Auditor," The Accountant, 25 November 1976,624; 
"Scottish President on auditor's responsibility," Accountancy, December 1976, 5;"The 
Price of Self-regulation," The Accountant, 23 February 1978,222; "Need for Experts," 
The Accountant, 9 March 1978,302; "Criticism of the profession 'won't go away,'" 
Accountancy, April 1978,28; "Risk of Government Regulation?" The Accountant, 9 
November 1978,627; "Government Regulation Still a Danger," The Accountant, 30 
November 1978, 731; and "More Warnings on Government Interference," The 
Accountant, 8 March 1979. 

53 An analysis of press criticism of ASSC by a staff member of the English 
Institute, 8 January 1976, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 
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Standards Committee of the English Institute had not investigated any cases of non-

compliance identified by the Institute's annual publication, Survey of Published Accounts, 

for the previous two years (1972/3 and 1973/4). 

Aware of the fact that the technical departments of the large auditing firms 

reviewed the accounts of public companies, the president of the English Institute, John 

Grenside sent a letter to 18 large audit firms asking for their help in monitoring 

compliance with accounting standards. Grenside (1975,1) emphasized that the degree of 

compliance with accounting standards had "important implications for the public 

standing of the accountancy profession in the United Kingdom." In his letter he went on 

to explain that as the ASSC tackled more complicated issues it was possible that the level 

of compliance may fall. Grenside (1975,1) explained that the English Institute was 

conducting a "fact-finding and education[al]" exercise to ascertain the current extent of 

compliance, grounds for non-compliance, and the extent of disclosure when companies 

departed from accounting standards. Some firms were initially reluctant to provide this 

information. Grenside tried to reassure them by writing a second letter stating that the 

project had fact-finding and educational objectives—fact-finding in that the English 

Institute wished to establish the extent of compliance, the grounds for compliance and the 

extent of auditor disclosure on non-compliance. He wrote that such a survey would be 

educational in that the English Institute would learn from the difficulties that occasioned 

deliberate departures and bring inadvertent departures to the attention of the companies. 

In addition to the call for help from large firms, English Institute staff investigated 

alternative sources of companies' non-compliance with accounting standards. 
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Alternatives identified included: (1) gathering data directly from annual reports received 

by various members of the English Institute staff, (2) requesting information on cases of 

non-compliance from statistical and analytical firms, (3) requesting information from 

financial organizations and institutions, (4) asking audit firms to notify the English 

Institute when qualifying the audit report for non-compliance with accounting standards, 

and (5) the establishment of a complaints department that would receive and investigate 

any allegations of non-compliance with standards. After receiving information from an 

overseas professional body on its monitoring and enforcement mechanisms, English 

Institute officials even considered a formal scheme that would involve formally 

contacting the companies and auditors as part of an investigation of the departure from 

accounting standards. A meeting of English Institute officials identified the reasons for 

monitoring compliance as to: 

Provide information of assistance in reviewing and revising existing standards in 
line with changing conditions and needs . . . [and]... Promote understanding of 
ASSC's wish to produce consensus standards rather than to adopt a dogmatic 
approach. (Hopkins 1975,1) 

English Institute officials decided to play down the enforcement role instead choosing to 

emphasize the "information/cooperation aspects" of the project (Hopkins 1975,1). The 

officials agreed to investigate and analyze the cases of non-compliance and 

acknowledged that investigation would probably include contacting the company and its 

auditors for information or comment. The English Institute officials proposed that the 

information collected would form the basis for regular research reports to the ASSC "on 

levels of compliance with particular standards and suggested revisions" for accounting 
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standards (Hopkins 1975,1). In these planning stages of the monitoring project, they 

gave the company/auditor the benefit of doubt for any departures, suggesting that "non-

compliance might be the result of ignorance or mistake or reasoned objection to 

applicability" (Hopkins 1975,1). They did not intend to use the monitoring project as a 

basis for disciplinary action against the companies identified. 

The English Institute did not begin the monitoring project until the latter part of 

1976, when strong criticisms of enforcement of accounting standards and auditors reports 

made some action mandatory. At a meeting in September 1976, the Institute's leadership 

decided on the objectives and procedures for the project. The press attacks on auditors' 

reports, a letter from a prominent English Institute member and an accountant of a large 

company, and comments by the Stock Exchange, led the Institute to widen the scope of 

the project to include examination of the substantive contents of audit reports.54 

Criticisms of Statement of Auditing (U17) that required auditors disclose any 

departures from accounting standards in the auditor's report, even if the auditor concurred 

with the departure, spurred action. When J. Pearcy (1976,1), a professional member in 

industry criticized this statement, arguing that the fine distinction between disclosure of a 

concurred departure and a "genuine" qualification was not understood by many users, the 

English Institute leadership responded. Pearcy (1976) suggested that in light of the recent 

advent of Current Cost Accounting and the possibility of more departures from 

accounting standards, the requirement would lead to a proliferation of the "technical 

54 Notes of meeting of English Institute officials, 23 September 1976, ASC 
Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 
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qualifications."55 He called on the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) and/or the 

Auditing Practices Committee (APC) to remove the requirement as soon as possible. The 

Stock Exchange had made similar comments when it stated that the growing practice of 

qualifying for insignificant matters had devalued the auditors' report. 

Early in the project planning stages a large auditing firm had offered to provide a 

staff member of its research department on a half-time basis to conduct the compliance 

study for the Institute. Those present at the meeting decided that the audit firms' staff 

member would conduct a continuous examination of accounting standards by examining 

the audit reports from the annual reports of a sample of public companies and articles in 

the professional press referring to qualified audit reports. The objective of the 

investigation was to produce a report on the extent and nature of audit reports qualified 

for non-compliance and the nature of qualifications in general. The officials believed a 

study of the nature of audit qualifications would facilitate an analysis of whether audit 

qualifications were of substance or technical, and whether the proliferation of 

qualifications were downgrading their importance. This report would provide policy 

implications for the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) and the newly formed 

Auditing Practices Committee (APC). The English Institute suggested that the Institute 

could publish the report in its professional journal, Accountancy, or its academic journal, 

Accounting and Business Research. Despite the calls for enforcement of accounting 

55 Statement of Auditing U17 required auditors to mention any departure from 
accounting standards in their auditors report, in which the auditor concurred. 
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standards, this project was not to be associated with an investigation conducted by the 

Institute's Professional Standards Committee. 

Preliminary results of the monitoring project indicated that auditor qualifications 

were not technical or trivial but related to "material items at the heart of a true and fair 

view" (Carty 1977,1). The English Institute and ASC were eager to publicize these 

findings to counter press criticism of audit qualifications, which Carty (1977,1) 

described as at an "emotional level" and "not related to the underlying realities of the 

situation." 

The audit firm staff member did not complete the final report until October 1977. 

The English Institute distributed the report as an anonymously authored research study to 

over 200 interested parties on a confidential basis, after the large auditing firm expressed 

concerns on the possibility of public knowledge of its involvement in the project. The 

final report summarized information gathered on the annual accounts of 300 UK 

companies and compared the proportion of qualified audit reports for samples of US and 

Canadian annual reports. The proportion of qualified opinions for non-compliance with 

accounting standards/generally accepted accounting principles was considerably lower 

for the sample of UK companies. However, the report also concluded that there was 

ambiguity and a lack of clarity in opinions, qualifications and explanations, and that 

auditors did not always indicate whether they concurred or not with the departures from 

accounting standards. 

Although the original objectives of the monitoring project emphasized the 

educational use of any report, English Institute officials called for publication of the 
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report to answer the criticisms of auditor reports with respect to compliance with 

accounting standards. Renshall (1977,1) stated in a letter to Carty, the ASC's Research 

Manager, that the report "demolishes the myth that qualifications on account of 

departures from SSAPs [accounting standards] have become so numerous as to devalue 

audit reports." Stacy (1978,1), a member of the APC, expressed a desire for the English 

Institute (ICAEW) to publish the report and conduct follow-up studies in 1978 and 1979 

stating his belief that the publication of the report would support the APC's draft auditing 

standards and follow-up studies would indicate whether auditors made improvements 

after having the "benefits of guidance on forms of wording from the Auditing Practices 

Committee." The ASC made a point of referring to the report in various meetings in an 

attempt to discredit the notion suggested in the press that there was a proliferation of 

technical qualifications.56 

After receiving initial approval for publication of the report as an English Institute 

Research Paper with an anonymous author, the Institute rejected publication on the 

grounds that the subject matter was politically sensitive. David Richards, the Vice-

56 For example, during a meeting between the ASC, the Parliamentary and Law 
Committee, and the British Insurance Association, when questioned on qualified audit 
reports resulting from departures from accounting standards, the Chairman of the ASC, 
Sir William Slimmings said that the ASC were looking at the issue and that an ASC 
study indicated that the proportion of such audit qualifications was small. Also of interest 
in this meeting was comments that the ASC was considering a compulsory note for 
financial statements in which it would require the directors to "make a positive statement 
that in preparing the accounts they had complied with accounting standards or all 
standards except..." (Notes of Meeting, 2 February 1978, ASC Archive, University of 
Manchester, Manchester, UK). Interestingly such a requirement was introduced into the 
Companies Act 1989 as a result of the Dealing Committee's proposals. 
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President of the English Institute, raised concerns that anonymity could imply something 

was wrong or hidden. He also argued that comparisons made with North America had 

questionable validity, that the publication of the report would divert attention from draft 

auditing standards due from the APC, and that despite the presence of a disclaimer to the 

contrary, the press would interpret criticisms of audit reports made in the report as the 

views of the ICAEW (Helps, 1978). 

Proposals for a mechanism for enforcing compliance with accounting standards 

In January 1977, the CCAB announced the appointment of Tom Watts as the 

Chairman of the ASC. The ASC's withdrawal of its first exposure draft on inflation 

accounting, ED 18 (July 1977) and the referral by the English Institute of the proposed 

depreciation standard (October 1977) in response to protests from members of the 

profession and management, raised questions about the ASC's ability to act. The threats 

of non-compliance that accompanied companies' protests of both standards awakened 

Watts to the fact that the accountancy bodies were issuing standards for directors of 

companies to follow, the majority of whom they had no jurisdiction over because they 

were not members of the professional bodies (Watts 1983). Watts recognized that the 

continuance of accounting standards and company compliance with the standards require 

an overt mandate from the various constituents of the standard-setting process. Watts 

accepted the appointment with the condition that the ASC conduct a public review of the 

standard-setting process to gain this necessary mandate (Watts 1997). 
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The Accounting Standards Committee Review Group held its first meeting on 18 

January 1978 with Watts as its chairman. The terms of reference of the Review Group 

were: 

To review the process of setting accounting standards in the light of experience 
gained since the formation of the Accounting Standards Committee in 1969 and to 
consider what improvements in that process could be effected. 
To submit to ASC a draft consultative document containing the recommendations 
of the Review Group which ASC could publish so as to obtain views and 
representations from all interested persons.57 

This review combined with the profession's attempts to issue an inflation accounting 

standard, a review of disciplinary procedures (Cross and Grenside Committees), its 

membership of the CSI, its advisory role in company law reforms, and its consultative 

role in the negotiation of the EEC Fourth Directive, provided further justification for the 

Labour government not to directly intervene.58 

57 Attachment to Agenda for first meeting of Review Group, 18 January 1978, 
ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 

58 Comments to a question in the House of Commons provided evidence of this 
desire to retain self-regulation of the accountancy profession. Tim Smith, MP, a qualified 
accountant and the representative of the English Institute in the House of Commons, 
asked the Secretary of State for Trade to make a statement on his policy on the production 
of accounting standards. Specifically Smith asked the Minister to state his preference for 
one of three systems—production and enforcement by the accountancy bodies, 
production by the accountancy bodies with enforcement by legislation, or production and 
enforcement of accounting standards by means of legislation. The Minister replied that 
the existing system of production and enforcement by the accountancy bodies would 
continue subject to review in light of the ASC's review of its constitution and functions. 
{Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), House of Commons Official Report, 4 May 1978, 
HMSO, London. Photocopy of extract from Hansard as an attachment to agenda for ASC 
meeting 31May 1978, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK). 
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The ASC Review Group (commonly known as the Watts Committee) published 

its consultative document (September 1978) in a regulatory space where the government 

presented a much tempered threat of intervention. The consultative document, akin to an 

exposure draft, called for comments from interested parties and provided a list of 

questions to answer. The eight person committee received informal comments and drew 

heavily on the London Society of Chartered Accountants Report of a Working Party on 

Accounting Standards (June 1978). The Working Party compiled the report from the 

responses to a questionnaire distributed to 239 companies, firms, and individuals.59 The 

Review Group's consultative document inter alia discussed proposals and made 

recommendations on the issues of the nature of accounting standards, the application and 

enforcement of accounting standards, the standard setting process, and the standard 

setting body. 

The Review Group concluded that accounting standards (1) were necessary to 

make financial statements comparable and (2) should apply to all financial statements 

intended to give a true and fair view. The group recommended that the ASC should 

consider soliciting the assistance of non-accounting regulatory bodies to enforce 

accounting standards and that the ASC should devote more resources to the consultative 

process (ASC 1978). 

On the issue of enforcement of accounting standards, the consultative document 

presented four possibilities: (1) legal backing of accounting standards, (2) enforcement of 

59 See "Improving the Standard," The Accountant, 22 June 1978, 825. 
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accounting standards by a government agency, (3) monitoring of compliance with 

accounting standards by the Stock Exchange and a branch of the recently formed Council 

for Securities Industry (CSI), and (4) maintaining the status quo. The Watts Committee 

recommended further exploration of the possibility of enforcement by the Stock 

Exchange and the CSI. The recommendations of the consultation document suggested 

that the professional bodies needed to expand the regulatory space of accounting standard 

setting by sharing power with non-accounting organizations (e.g., companies, the Stock 

Exchange, and the CSI) and expand the scope of regulation to effectively include 

enforcement. 

The review committee called for interested parties to submit comments by 31 

March 1979. By the time the ASC published the written submissions in a two-volume 

600-page document, a laissez faire Conservative government had replaced the 

intervention minded Labour government. The threat of direct government action no 

longer could be invoked to unify the accountancy profession to implement reforms of the 

self-regulatory system. 

Summary and Conclusions 

In the first period of study (1969-72) the English Institute shaped and controlled 

the regulation of financial reporting. During the period 1973-79 the threat of government 

regulation changed the structure and relationships of regulatory space as illustrated in 

Figure 3.2 below. Fear of government oversight persuaded the English Institute to 

cooperate with the other major professional bodies. The six major professional bodies 

formed a group, the CCAB, that would present a united profession to government and 



67 

oversee the standard setting body. Consequently, the English Institute began to share 

some of its power within the accounting standard setting process with the other 

professional bodies. The professional bodies' perceived risk of government intervention 

led them to present a series of reforms intended to maintain the government's and the 

public's confidence in self-regulation of the accountancy profession. The Labour 

government resisted numerous calls for state regulation of the profession. Ironically, the 

same issues that invited government oversight also required the expertise and cooperation 

of the accountancy profession. The government increased its power within the regulatory 

space, but at the same it became more dependent on a cooperative relationship with the 

profession. 

The threats of government regulation of the profession came from within the UK 

and from the European Economic Community. Within the UK, threats resulted from the 

profession's failure to deal with the inflation accounting issue and financial scandals and 

threats from repeated calls for state regulation of the profession from members of the 

Labour Party and some academics. The EEC threat came from a desire to harmonize 

financial reporting requirements across the Community. 

Although the Labor government presented the greatest threat to self-regulation 

during this period, it was the Conservative government that initially propelled the 

government deeper into the regulatory space when it established the independent inquiry 

into inflation accounting (Sandilands Committee) in 1973. After coming to power in 

1974 the Labour government gave the accounting profession the responsibility of 

implementing Sandiland's recommendations, but with the responsibility came the threat 
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of government intervention if the profession failed to find an acceptable solution. The 

profession's attempt to find an acceptable solution exposed the weaknesses of this new 

accounting standards setting framework. In the first period, the English Institute was able 

to quash resistance from members of the profession towards the ASSC's proposals on the 

Explanatory Foreword and enforcement of accounting standards. Control of the ASSC 

agenda, the support of its members, and shifting responsibility for enforcement allowed 

the English Institute to render the calls for reform moot. 

Figure 3.2 
UK Financial Reporting Regulatory Space 1973-79 
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In this second period the structure of the regulatory space made these strategies 

ineffective. As Figure 3.2 illustrates, establishment of the CCAB and changes in the 
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constitution of the standard setting body, gave a louder voice to the other professional 

bodies. The promulgation of accounting standards now required the approval of all of 

the professional bodies. The structure of regulatory space also gave more influence to 

pressure groups, such as management and analysts. The withdrawal of the ASC's 

Exposure Draft 18 on inflation accounting in July 1977 sent a message to the English 

Institute that it could no longer force its agenda onto the other professional bodies, 

professional members, or the business community. Just a few months later (October 

1977) the English Institute referred a proposed standard on depreciation back to the ASC 

after protests from professional members and management of companies. A series of 

financial scandals further served to highlight the lack of authority that the professional 

bodies had over their members at this time. Coverage of scandals also demonstrated the 

continued power of the press in regulatory space. 

Press coverage and government investigations of the financial scandals of the 

1970s often exposed the role of the auditor in the scandals. Repeated criticisms 

intensified the calls from the press and members of the profession for action by the 

accountancy bodies. When the government added its call for reform to the debate, the 

professional bodies expanded a review of the English Institute's disciplinary procedures 

to the professional auditing bodies, but despite the establishment of this review of 

disciplinary procedures, the calls for state regulation from the press remained ever present 

in the regulatory space. 

As in the first period when Stamp (1969) provided the catalyst for reform, 

academics participated in the debate over state intervention during this period as well. 
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Inspired by an article by the academics Lyall and Perks (1976) in the English Institute's 

professional magazine Accountancy recommending the establishment of a State Auditing 

Board, members of the Labour Party asserted their presence in regulatory space. Lyall 

and Perks's (1976) argument for reform prompted a number of calls for state regulation 

of the profession from members of parliament and policy groups within the Labour Party. 

Despite pressure from within its own party, the Labour government chose not to adopt 

any of the suggestions as official policy. With hindsight the actual threat of government 

regulation from within the UK was debatable, but the threat of state regulation from the 

EEC became a reality during this period. Agreement on the Fourth Directive on the 

presentation and content of annual accounts, combined with ongoing negotiations on the 

Eighth Directive on auditor qualifications, increased the influence of the EEC as a player 

in the regulatory space. 

EEC harmonization plans for financial reporting during the first period remained 

in the early stages of development and left the EEC on the fringe of regulatory space. 

The first draft of the Fourth Directive issued in 1971, which was significantly influenced 

by the German approach to accounting regulation, shocked the UK accountancy 

profession into negotiation with the UK government and its EEC partners. By 1974, the 

profession and the government had negotiated a more acceptable draft directive. This 

second draft incorporated an overriding principle familiar to the UK profession—the true 

and fair view. This draft of the Fourth Directive also included strong remnants of the 

codified requirements of the first draft, for example, standard layouts for the financial 

statements and valuation rules. The provisions of the Fourth Directive threatened the 
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professional judgment of UK accountants and firmly placed the EEC in the regulatory 

space of financial reporting. 

When the EEC governments approved the Fourth Directive and the EEC 

Commission issued a draft of the Eighth Directive on auditor qualifications in 1978, it 

became clear to the government that incorporation of the Directive into UK company law 

would require the assistance of the accountancy profession. Government had also 

realized that it needed to foster a cooperative relationship with the accounting profession 

to tackle the regulation of financial markets, and that it needed the profession's expertise 

and influence with its members for the government reforms in the self-regulation of the 

financial markets. The profession provided its expertise through CCAB membership of 

the newly formed Council of Securities Industry. Figure 3.2 depicts this more 

interdependent relationship between the government and the profession. The increased 

relative size of the government circle also provides an indication of the increased 

influence of the government in the regulatory space during this second period. Just as 

the government needed the assistance of the accountancy profession in its attempts to 

change the self-regulatory environment, the perceived threat of government oversight 

helped the profession to persuade its members to accept some reforms. The profession's 

response to the threats to state regulation of accounting standard setting focused first on 

monitoring of non-compliance and, later in the period, on enforcement of compliance. 

Although the English Institute now cooperated more with the other professional 

bodies in the ASC and the CCAB, it still remained a dominant power within the 

profession and regulatory space. As the most influential player in the CCAB, the 
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Institute still took it upon itself to protect the image of the profession. Government 

intervention in the inflation accounting issue and press criticism of an acknowledged lack 

of enforcement of accounting standards led the English Institute to begin a project to 

monitor non-compliance with accounting standards in the summer of 1975. Aware of 

the profession's aversion to enforcement, the English Institute emphasized the 

educational nature of the project. As criticism in the press shifted to the growing number 

of audit report qualifications and the examination of the role of the auditor intensified 

both in the press and government investigations, the English Institute expanded the scope 

of the project to include an examination of qualified audit reports. 

Preliminary results of the monitoring project indicated a lower number of audit 

qualifications for non-compliance with accounting standards compared to a North 

American sample, but the report also indicated ambiguity and a lack of clarity in UK 

audit reports. By the time the report was completed in October 1977, the profession had 

established a mechanism to promulgate auditing standards, the Auditing Practices 

Committee (APC). Setting up an auditing standards setting process provided 

reassurances to the government and public that a monitoring system was in place. APC 

would have to issue draft auditing standards to deliver on the reassurances. In early 1978, 

English Institute officials decided against publishing the report of the monitoring project 

fearing it would avert government and public attention away from the profession's latest 

action towards reform of auditing practice and the standard setting process. The Institute 

decided that the disclosure of the problems in audit reports would rekindle a debate it 

believed it had under control. Further discussion of non-compliance with accounting 
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standards would have added more fuel to criticisms of the ASC and the accounting 

standards setting process, criticisms that had already raised serious questions about the 

ability of the ASC to act after the withdrawal of the first draft of the inflation accounting 

standard and a proposed accounting standard on depreciation. Aware of the questions 

over the ASC's mandate, the new ASC chairman Tom Watts insisted on a review of the 

standard setting process to begin in January 1978. 

Watts' review of the standard setting process investigated ways to open up the 

accounting standard setting process to other organizations in the regulatory space outside 

the accountancy profession. The inflation accounting debacle and the failure of the 

profession and business community to agree on a new standard, had alerted Watts to the 

need for compromise within regulatory space. This move towards democracy began with 

a consultative document that outlined proposals for reform of the due process of 

accounting standards and an emphasis on official mechanisms to enforce accounting 

standards. The ASC published the submissions to the consultative document and began 

deliberations on the nature of any reforms in the summer of 1979. In May 1979, the 

Conservative Party defeated the Labour Party in the general election. As a Conservative 

government represented less of a threat to continued self-regulation of the accountancy 

profession, the question now became whether the professional bodies would unite again 

to introduce the ASC's proposals for democracy and enforcement of accounting standards 

without the threat of government intervention. 



CHAPTER 4 

REGULATORY SPACE FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING JUNE 1979 - 1990 

A Democratic Accounting Standard Setting Process 

In the second period of accounting standards setting, the threat of the government 

controlling the regulatory space had forced the organization controlling the regulatory 

space in the first period, the English Institute, to share some of its power. By cooperating 

with the English Institute to support and implement a series of reforms, the professional 

bodies retained a self-regulatory system. Despite sharing its power within the regulatory 

space the English Institute remained the dominant player and frequently led the push to 

provide reassurance that self-regulation of the profession should remain. The sharing of 

power necessary for the reforms ultimately provided the other professional bodies and 

management (via their membership in the professional bodies) with the ability to 

challenge the authority of the ASC—a challenge that forced the ASC to consider 

mechanisms to regain its political mandate and its authority over members of the 

profession. The solution suggested by the ASC in 1979 was to issue standards in a more 

democratic regulatory space coupled with an ability and willingness to enforce agreed 

upon standards. In the third period it became clear that without the threat of government 

intervention, the professional bodies had no incentive to implement all of the reforms 

proposed. 
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The election of a Conservative government signaled the end of the constant threat 

of government intervention that had loomed over the accountancy profession for much of 

the 1970s. The Conservatives came to power with a clear desire for less government 

intervention but an interest in more consultation with the UK accountancy profession. 

Implementation and negotiation of EEC legislation provided the need for the consultative 

relationship, while the profession's actions at addressing the major problems that had 

concerned the Labour government provided justification for the maintenance of self-

regulation. 

The Conservative government had inherited a ratified EEC Fourth Directive and a 

draft of the Eighth Directive. The treaty for the Fourth Directive on the presentation and 

content of the annual accounts required implementation into national legislation within 

two years of signing the treaty in July 1978. The latest draft of the Eighth Directive on 

auditor qualifications had proposed requirements unacceptable to the UK accountancy 

profession, perceived as a threat to self-regulatory power. 

The new government recognized that drafting an acceptable Companies Bill to 

incorporate the provisions of the Fourth Directive and renegotiation of the Eighth 

Directive would require a high level of consultation with members of the accountancy 

profession. Professional leaders met with ministers and civil servants to explain, 

persuade, and advise on the various matters of interest to the profession. In return civil 

servants provided legal advice on the compatibility of existing and proposed accounting 

standards with EEC directives. 
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For most of the 1970s the inability of the accounting profession to produce a 

standard on accounting for the effects of inflation had concerned the government. Facing 

the possibility of intervention in this area the profession had acted to reassure the 

government it could provide solutions to this problem if the government remained out of 

the regulatory space. Despite the contentiousness of prior solutions (PSSAP 7 and ED 

18), the ASC continued to grapple with the issues. The ASC issued SSAP 16, Current 

Cost Accounting, in March 1980. The profession also sought to address government 

concerns about the effectiveness of the monitoring process. The establishment of the 

APC and presentation of the proposals by the Grenside Committee to professional 

members had provided evidence to the government that the profession was attempting to 

address the previous government's concerns on auditing. In 1979, the members of the 

professional bodies overwhelmingly approved the proposals of the Grenside Committee 

to establish a Joint Disciplinary Committee, and in 1980, the APC issued its first three 

auditing standards and six guidelines. Seemingly the profession had closed the book on 

two problems that had received government attention for much of the 1970s. 

A Conservative government replaced the threat of intervention in the regulatory 

space of accounting and auditing with increased consultation and emphasis on the 

maintenance of self-regulation. This consultative relationship expanded the presence of 

the government in the regulatory space of financial reporting but reduced the threat of 

direct government intervention. The new relationship lessened the incentive or need for 

the various professional bodies to unite to reform the overall system of accounting 

standard setting. Without the threat of direct government intervention, the professional 
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bodies no longer felt it necessary to subordinate the interests of their individual bodies for 

the common cause of the profession. It was in this new regulatory space that Tom Watts 

and the ASC Review Group attempted to reform accounting standard setting and obtain 

an "open mandate." 

The Watts Report: An Attempt to Reform Accounting Standard Setting 

The ASC Review Group received more than 130 written submissions and heard 

some 40 presentations at public hearings in London, Glasgow, and Dublin in response to 

its consultative document issued in 1978. The ASC (1979) published a majority of the 

written submissions in a two-volume 600-page document. In March 1980, Tom Watts 

chairman of the Review Group (and the new chairman of the ASC) wrote a preliminary 

paper on the Review Group's assessment of the submissions and the probable outcome of 

the review. This preliminary report emphasized the need for compliance with accounting 

standards. Watts (1980) supported a private standard setting process but also emphasized 

the need to establish a supervisory or enforcement body commanding public respect was 

as "an essential corollary to standard setting in the private sector." 

He suggested that compliance required that accounting standard setters recognize 

a "public interest" aspect of standard setting. Watts also concluded that standards must 

be acceptable to the business community not just members of the professional bodies. To 

gain consensus for standards the Review Group recommended expanding membership of 

the ASC to include "outsiders" (e.g., users and preparers) and adoption of an "open" 
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deliberation process.60 The Review Group fell short of suggesting the ASC operate 

independently of the CCAB. However, the report did recommend that in a more public 

process, the CCAB should only exercise its constitutional power in extreme situations, 

with the likely result the resignation of the ASC. Watts asserted that compliance was the 

"touchstone" of private sector regulation, and without high levels of compliance "then the 

State must step in" (Watts 1980, paragraph 18).61 After discussions with members of the 

Stock Exchange and the Council for the Securities Industry (CSI), the Review Group 

proposed the establishment of a joint panel to review cases of disclosed or apparent non-

compliance with accounting standards for listed companies (subsequently referred to as 

the Review Panel). This preliminary report provided a summary of the procedures of the 

Review Panel. 

Watts (1980) proposed that the Review Panel consist of seven members jointly 

appointed by the CSI, CCAB, and the Stock Exchange. The seven members would 

include a chairman, two qualified accountants (one an auditor), two members of the Stock 

Exchange Council, one member appointed in consultation with the Confederation of 

British Industry (CBI), and one member appointed after consultation with the 

Institutional Shareholders Committee. Members would serve a three year term. They 

60 This is not unusual in the standard setting process. See AICPA (1972) and 
Armstrong (1974) for discussion of the moves towards increased democracy during the 
early 1970s and the establishment of the Financial Accounting Standards Boards in the 
US. 

61 In an attempt to support his claim Watts stated in parentheses 
"As Accountancy Age inelegantly puts it in a recent leader,'... the clammy paw 
of Whitehall is only a short enabling Act away.'" (Watts 1980, paragraph 18). 
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were not to consider themselves as representing their sectional interests. The Review 

Panel would receive case referrals from the Stock Exchange, the professional 

accountancy bodies' disciplinary committees, or from the general public. After 

considering the facts of the case the Review Panel would decide whether the case 

warranted further examination. The Review Panel would invite the company and its 

auditors to provide explanatory comments to the Review Panel if a case warranted further 

consideration. After considering the facts of the case and the company's and auditors' 

explanatory comments, the Review Panel would then prepare and send a report to the 

company, its auditors, the Stock Exchange, any appropriate CCAB body, the ASC, and 

the CSI. The panel would publish the report of the case at its own discretion. Watts 

(1980) proposed that if the report of the Review Panel concluded that the company did 

not justify non-compliance with an accounting standard, the case would be referred to the 

Stock Exchange for "appropriate action." If the initial complaint alleged that the auditors 

should have qualified their audit report or if the Review Panel questioned the auditors' 

opinion in its report on the findings of its investigation of the case, the case would be 

referred to the appropriate CCAB body for consideration for disciplinary procedures.62 

The proposed procedures for the Review Panel also envisioned that the panel would 

provide the ASC with feedback on problems with existing accounting standards. The 

62 Presumably the Review Panel would determine the appropriate CCAB body by 
reference to the auditing firm's membership of one of the four professional bodies 
sanctioned by the Companies Act to qualify auditors, the English Institute, Scottish 
Institute, the Irish Institute, and the Certified Accountants. 
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preliminary report recommended that the Review Panel make the ASC aware of any need 

to re-examine the text of accounting standards highlighted by cases referred to the panel. 

Watts (1980) envisioned that a small part-time secretariat supplied by the Stock 

Exchange and the accountancy profession would support the Review Panel. His report 

provided an estimated annual cost of the Review Panel of £40,000, which Watts proposed 

the accountancy profession and the Stock Exchange could share. The cost would be 

minimal if the panel enhanced the credibility of financial reports and facilitated 

compliance with existing standards. 

Watts's proposal had similarities to a recommendation provided in the English 

Institute's response to the ASC consultative document. The ASC's consultative 

document had called for comments on the suggestion that the ASC seek the assistance of 

the Stock Exchange and possibly the CSI in enforcement of accounting standards. The 

ASC asked respondents to consider the feasibility of monitoring listed companies' 

compliance with accounting standards and possibly censuring a company or suspending a 

company's listing (in extreme cases). The English Institute suggested the establishment 

of a Review Panel and expressed an unconditional desire to establish an enforcement 

agency external to the professional accountancy bodies. The other CCAB bodies either 

expressed doubts whether an external enforcement body was necessary (Public Sector 

Accountants and the Certified Accountants), did not provide an opinion (Irish Institute 

and the Cost and Management Accountants), or suggested the ASC should explore the 

possibility of the Stock Exchange and CSI taking a more active role (the Scottish 

Institute). However, the Scottish Institute viewed Stock Exchange enforcement only as a 
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supplement to enforcement by the professional bodies. The English Institute posited a 

more active role for the Stock Exchange and the CSI and contended that these two groups 

were "as much part of the self-regulatory system as the accountancy profession" (ICAEW 

1979, paragraph 34, p. 9, reproduced in ASC 1979). With this in mind the ICAEW 

proposed that: 

[T]he Council for the Securities Industry or the Stock Exchange should establish 
in conjunction with the accountancy bodies a Review Panel to enquire into cases 
of non-compliance with accounting standards . . . (ICAEW 1979, paragraph 34, p. 
10). 

Since implementation of any proposals of the ASC Review Group required approval from 

all of the CCAB bodies, the continuous need to unite the profession in the last period, had 

come back to haunt the profession in this period.63 

The CCAB Response to the Watts Report 

The CCAB leaders considered the proposals in Watts's preliminary paper at a 

meeting of the CCAB Board (24 March 1980). The proposed reforms received a 

lukewarm reaction from the CCAB representatives. Specifically CCAB bodies did not 

want to share control of the ASC and rejected the proposal that the CCAB only exercise 

its constitutional powers in extreme situations. Some CCAB leaders expressed concern 

that the Review Panel would only address compliance issues for listed companies and 

suggested that the ASC broaden the compliance issue to include unlisted companies. In 

63 An analysis of the submissions made to the ASC consultative document (ASC 
1978) also indicates that the support for an external enforcement body from companies 
and accounting firms was mixed. Only eight of the twenty-two companies responding, 
and nine of the twenty-two accounting firms responding agreed that the ASC should 
establish an external enforcement body. 
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keeping with its desire to retain control of the ASC and the standard setting process, the 

CCAB Board demanded that the proposals of Watts's preliminary paper remain 

confidential to the CCAB. The Board proposed publication of the final report of the 

ASC Review Committee in July 1980 only after approving the proposals in any 

subsequent drafts.64 

By July 1980 the ASC had not published the final report of the Review Group, so 

Watts began a campaign to gain approval for the Group's proposals from the members of 

the ASC and CCAB bodies. Over the next few months, Watts confidentially lobbied the 

officials and Councils of the CCAB bodies. In December 1980, Watts polled the ASC 

members on the acceptability of a draft of the report in principle. In his letter to the ASC 

members Watts reminded them of the purpose of the review and its subsequent 

report—the need to obtain an overt public mandate for the setting of accounting 

standards. He also responded to the suggestion that the pressure for reform had died 

down so there was no need to change the system, by arguing that the reason the pressure 

had died down was open knowledge of the profession's review. The returned ballots 

indicated overwhelming support for the report's proposals while also revealing the 

reservations of some members. Although representatives from the Association, Cost and 

Management Accountants, and the Public Sector Accountants supported the proposals in 

principle they also expressed grave concerns about the cost of implementation. 

64 Notes of CCAB Meeting, 24 March 1980, ASC Archive, University of 
Manchester, Manchester, UK. 



83 

Fearful that the cost reservations would bring down his proposals, Watts enlisted 

the help of the president of the English Institute, Richard Wilkes, to lobby all of the 

CCAB bodies to support the Review Group's proposals. Wilkes (1981) wrote a letter to 

the presidents of the other five bodies attempting to allay concerns over costs. He also 

emphasized that it was important for the profession's credibility that the CCAB bodies 

approve the report of the ASC Review Group in the near future. Wilkes also sought 

external support to persuade his colleagues to enact the proposed reforms. He solicited 

the help of senior officials at the Bank of England and Stock Exchange to persuade the 

other accounting groups to support the ASC report. Specifically, he asked the senior 

officials for official acknowledgment of their organization's support for the results of the 

ASC Review.65 The plea for unity fell on deaf ears. The Councils of the recalcitrant 

bodies (the Association, Cost and Management Accountants, and Public Sector 

Accountants) and Scottish Institute rebelled, notifying their leaders that they did not 

approve of the growth in the ASC, the cost of the proposals, or the establishment of the 

Review Panel. The four CCAB bodies stood firm in their opposition to the proposals for 

the Review Panel. Unable to reach a consensus on the ASC Review Group's proposals, 

the CCAB published the final report of the review group, Setting Accounting Standards, 

(commonly referred to as the Watts Report) in May 1981. The report was accompanied 

by a press release stating that the CCAB bodies had approved of expanding the process 

65 No speeches referring to the Watts Report were reported in the Times (London) 
ox Accountancy for the period January to May 1981. 
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by including non-accountants on the ASC but did not accept the ASC proposal for the 

establishment of a Review Panel. 

The Association of Certified Accountants, the body most strongly opposed to the 

proposal for establishment of a Review Panel, released a detailed submission and 

commentary on the Watts Report shortly after its publication. The commentary had 

widespread dissemination, being sent to the CCAB, the constituent members of the 

CCAB, and the accountancy press and "other interested persons." The Association 

contended that before undertaking any of the proposals in the Watts Report, the ASC 

should re-evaluate what is a standard. It then asked that standards should only be issued 

if "clearly shown to be necessary." The commentary suggested that standards of 

disclosure were essential, but standards of measurement are matters of professional 

judgment. The commentary concluded that an unjustified increase in these type of 

standards (measurement and recognition) "can only result in a further invasion of the 

accountant's particular area of competence and expertise and will lead to an inevitable 

diminution of his role in business." 

Commenting on the recommendation in the Watts Report for the establishment of 

a joint panel to review non-compliance with accounting standards by listed companies, 

the Association made the following comment: 

Not acceptable. The Association believes a joint panel is unnecessary, would be 
expensive and above all would diminish the status of the auditor and his report, 
and would reduce the value of the auditor's professional judgment. (ACA 1981, 
8) 
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A meeting of senior office holders of the English Institute and the ASC (July 

1981) noted that the Scottish Institute also opposed the Watts Report's recommendation 

to establish a Joint Review Panel. After considering the views of the Association and 

Scottish Institute, the English Institute concluded that before any action be taken there 

should be a review of the extent of non-compliance over the next two years in 

conjunction with the Stock Exchange. The Institute would consider whether a case 

existed for further enforcement of accounting standards.66 

As with the inflation accounting exposure draft (ED 18) in 1977, the other 

professional bodies had shown their willingness to exercise the power granted to them in 

the establishment of the CCAB (1974) and the re-constitution of the ASC (1976). The 

English Institute could no longer dominate the regulatory space of financial reporting and 

force reforms upon the other professional bodies. Without the threat of direct 

government intervention in the regulatory space, the CCAB bodies felt free to present and 

pursue the interests of their professional members. There no longer was a perceived need 

to present a united front to external threats. This resistance to implementation of the 

proposal for a Review Panel in the Watts Report provided further evidence of this new 

66 Notes of meeting of English Institute officials, 13 July 1981, ASC Archive, 
University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. The views of the London Society of 
Chartered Accountants and the Confederation of British Industry (CBI) provided support 
for this decision. In a letter to the chairman of the ASC commenting on the Watts Report, 
the London Society supported the establishment of a review panel for monitoring 
purposes but voiced opposition to giving the panel powers of enforcement, for fear of a 
negative attitude toward the CCAB. The CBI called for the proposed changes in the 
standard setting process to have time to prove themselves and only investigate setting up 
a panel if non-compliance increases. 
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power. Recognizing that the other CCAB bodies, members of the profession, and 

business leaders supported standard setting as an open forum, the ASC and the leaders of 

the English Institute had compromised and called for a "wait and see" approach. Before 

the accounting profession would accept an enforcement agency to monitor compliance 

with accounting standards there had to be a perceived external threat to continuance of 

the private sector standard setting process. 

Opening up the Standard Setting Process? 

In the months that followed the release of the Watts Report in May 1981 the ASC 

came under criticism and seemed to lose credibility in the accounting and business 

community. Christopher Morgan, the ASC's newly appointed Director of Accounting 

Standards, summarized the main points of criticism in a letter to the newly appointed 

Chairman of the ASC, Ian Hay Davison. Morgan attributed the loss of credibility to the 

following reasons: (1) a lack of new blood on the ASC, (2) poor attendance at ASC 

meetings, (3) meager quantity of output (only one new standard since August 1980), (4) 

failure of ASC to tackle critical subjects (e.g., pension costs), (5) the lack of progress by 

some working parties, (6) international standard setters proceeding more quickly on 

certain issues (e.g., leasing and segmental reporting), (7) a perceived inability to stand up 

against pressure groups, (8) rigidity on certain standards, (9) doubt over ineffectiveness of 

some standards (e.g., SSAP 6 on extraordinary items), (10) concern over lack of public 

confidence in CCA, (11) speculation over new chairman of ASC, and (12) an absence of 

clear planning for future work (Davison 1985). In his letter to Davison, Morgan also 

provided a discussion of the conclusions of the Watts Report and the impact of recent 
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changes in the companies acts.67 He made reference to the a number of proposals agreed 

upon by Davison and Morgan at a meeting in February 1982. 

The immediate aim of the proposals was to restore and maintain the credibility of 

the ASC. Morgan noted that, (1) accounting standards needed an "independent and 

authoritative body. . . to offer guidance in the field of accounting standards," (2) 

accounting standards should not have the force of law, (3) the ASC required sufficient 

number of members with influence in and out of the accountancy profession to gain 

support for and implementation of accounting standards, (4) membership of the ASC 

should include non-accountants, and (5) after introduction of the non-accountants, there 

should be a review of the "appropriate form of representation of CCAB member bodies." 

Davison (1985) proceeded to consult extensively with the six professional bodies, 

the government, the CBI, and especially with the Bank of England on the distribution of 

members and a new constitution for the ASC. He publically emphasized his strong belief 

that companies would comply with accounting standards if the logic of their argument 

was "ineluctable" and "sheer usefulness." He concluded that these characteristics were 

67 Morgan supported the conclusion of the Watts Report that accounting standards 
are necessary to complement statutory regulation and should aim to narrow the choice of 
accounting treatment, but only be produced when reasonably necessary. He also agreed 
with the conclusions that accounting standard setting and the supervision of accounting 
standards should remain in the private sector. Morgan believed though that recent 
changes in the companies act to incorporate the EEC Fourth Directive on the presentation 
and contents of annual accounts had narrowed the aims of legislation and the aims of 
standards. With its inclusion of accounting principles and valuation rules, Morgan 
believed the Fourth Directive had expanded its traditional role in disclosure into the realm 
of measurement, the traditional role of accounting standards and professional judgment. 
This expansion of legislation would require a closer relationship between government, the 
ASC and the accounting profession. 
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more likely to be present if the ASC represented all areas of the business community 

(Davison 1985, 18). 

Davison (1985, 6) presented proposals to the CCAB "to raise the status of the 

ASC in the business community, to reduce its size and ensure that the membership was of 

stature and representative of the three constituencies of preparers, users and auditors of 

accounts" (May 1982). He proposed establishment of a twenty-member committee 

appointed by a nominating committee consisting of former members of the ASC and past 

presidents of the CCAB bodies. The ASC would include up to five representatives of 

users who might or might not have an accounting background, fifteen members from the 

accountancy bodies, and two non-voting members from government. The reformed ASC 

would have a more supervisory or senatorial role and be less concerned with the details. 

Working parties of the committee would be responsible for drafting accounting standards 

(Atchley, 1982). Davison was attempting to change the focus of the ASC from a 

technical to a political one. The CCAB Councils approved Davison's proposals in June 

and July 1982, and the reconstituted ASC met for the first time in September 1982. 

The revamped ASC now had a membership that included representatives from 

large and small accounting firms, industry and commerce (preparers), the public sector, 

academics and analysts, and users suggested by the CBI and Bank of England (Davison 

1985). The government also actively participated through two non-voting observers.68 

68 The ASC and government agreed that a voting seat on the Committee would 
require a minister not a civil servant (Davison 1985). The government observers included 
a senior civil servant from the DTI and the Head of the Government Accountancy Service 
(HOTGAS). Initially the government had only one observer on the ASC as Kenneth 
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The new composition of the ASC reflected the acknowledgment that accounting 

standards setting no longer would be left solely to the profession. The ASC cemented the 

roots of government, preparers, the public sector, and users in the regulatory space of 

accounting standard setting. Davison believed he had achieved his aims of a more 

representative ASC membership, which was to gain the necessary consensus for 

accounting standards. The CCAB bodies lost some power, and Davison (1985) believed 

the expanded ASC would be perceived as acting in the public interest. The ASC hoped to 

move conflict between the various constituents of accounting standard setting from 

outside to inside the ASC. But as Laughlin and Puxty (1982) noted, these reforms, 

designed to improve the credibility of the ASC and reduce conflict with the business 

community, actually resulted in a body less effective due to internal conflict. Even before 

its first meeting the reformed ASC faced a test of its ability to resolve conflict among its 

constituents. The old issue—accounting for the effects of inflation—showed the 

weaknesses of the new structure. 

The Return of Inflation Accounting—with a Vengeance 

In 1982 the ASC's accounting standard on inflation accounting, SSAP 16, 

Current Cost Accounting came under attack from prominent UK companies and members 

of the accounting profession. The growing discontent with SSAP 16 enabled Keymer 

and Haslam, the instigators of the rebellion against the ED 18 in 1977, to organize a new 

rebellion. They called a special meeting of English Institute members to vote on a 

Sharp (HOTGAS) sat on the ASC as an English Institute Council member. 
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motion calling for the Institute Council to throw out SSAP 16.69 The financial press 

documented the growing discontent with the standard. A column in the Financial Times 

(London) noted that many prominent UK companies were turning against CCA.70 The 

article pointed to companies' expressions of dissatisfaction and even decisions not to 

publish current cost accounts. The English Institute members narrowly defeated Haslam 

and Keymer's motion (14,812 for motion versus 15,745 against), but the profession and 

its constituents had sent a loud message of dissatisfaction to the ASC, and the ASC 

responded. The close English Institute vote combined with the acceleration of 

widespread noncompliance threatened to undermine the entire accounting standard 

setting process. The rebellion against SSAP 16 was not an isolated case. The ASC also 

faced threats of non-compliance with its standard on depreciation (SSAP 12), and 

criticism of its proposed standards on leasing and foreign currency.71 

69 Criticism from accountants was not restricted to members of the English 
Institute. Haslam and Keymer claimed to have received a substantial number of letters 
from members of the Institute of Cost and Management ("Opponents renew drive to kill 
compulsory CCA," The Accountant, 18 March 1982, 3). In response to its members' 
criticisms of SSAP 16, the leaders of the Institute of Cost and Management planned a 
meeting to vote on scrapping the standard for January 1983 ("Now ICMA will review 
CCA progress so far", The Accountant, 20 May 1982,2). The Association conducted a 
survey of a large sample of its members of their views on various aspects of CCA ("Poll 
on CCA by certifieds", The Accountant, 7 October 1982,2). 

70 For example Shell, Marks and Spencer, and P&O. See "CCA", Lex column, 
Financial Times (London), 10 May 1982,16. 

71 Threats of non-compliance with SSAP 12 had led the ASC to review the 
requirements of the standard ('"Misleading' property standard under review," The 
Accountant, 8 July 1982,2). The Equipment Leasing Association had called for 
withdrawal of ED29, Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts, because of fears 
that the accounting requirement of the ED would discourage companies from undertaking 
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Recognizing the lack of confidence in accounting standards and the work of the 

ASC, Davison announced plans to set up two committees, one to examine issues arising 

from SSAP16 and the other to review the standard setting process. The committee on 

SSAP16 (later referred to as the Neville Committee) was established to monitor and 

publicize the implementation of SSAP16, to make recommendations to the ASC on 

possible courses of action, and to encourage companies to adopt and improve their 

understanding of CCA. The Neville Committee worked in conjunction with the 

Quotations Department of the Stock Exchange and held consultations with group that 

included: (1) directors of companies that had not included CCA information in their 

annual reports or had received qualified audit reports for CCA issues, (2) major 

professional and industrial groups, (3) financial journalists, (4) preparers, (5) auditors, 

and (6) other users of CCA information. The ASC instructed the review committee (the 

McKinnon Committee) to seek improvements in the standard setting process (Davison 

1982). While the ASC committees conducted their reviews, non-compliance with 

SSAP16 rose. The Stock Exchange's decision not to require CCA information in interim 

statements further undermining the standard. The ASC did not act percipitously; the 

committee announced that it would probably take two years to produce a replacement for 

SSAP16. 

regional development related leases (Walton 1982). The ASC had no choice but to delay 
publication of the foreign currency standard (due to be SSAP 20) after criticism from the 
Association and the British Banker's Association and the intervention of government 
("Banks end hopes for SSAP 20 this year," The Accountant, 23 September 1982,2) 
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The ASC published the McKinnon Committee's final report, Review of Standard 

Setting Process, in June 1983. The Committee recommended a radical restructuring of 

accounting standards setting. The ASC tried to calm its constituents, announcing its 

intent to issue fewer standards in the future and "only on major issues of fundamental 

importance affecting the generality of companies" (ASC 1983). The ASC also planned to 

issue a new category of final pronouncement, the Statement of Recommended Practice 

(SORP), when specific issues arose. The ASC would not require companies to comply 

with SORPs. SORPs would include a sub-category or "franked SORP" for a topic of 

limited application or specific industry and would be published by the industry concerned 

(ASC 1983). With the removal of industry specific standards now complete, the report 

placed particular importance on the consultative process standard setting and announced 

another reform of the standard setting process. Davison actually acknowledged that the 

changes came in response to the pressure from the accounting and business community, 

when he stated, 

[T]he compliance climate has changed. The Keymer and Haslam debate indicated 
the reservations of a small minority — but an important one — about the 
implementation of standards.72 

The ASC had responded to its critics by reducing its presence in regulatory space 

and emphasizing the acceptance of future accounting standards to the business 

72 Quoted in "ASC sways to pressure and restructures standard setting," The 
Accountant, June 2 1983,2. One could argue with Davison's description of a "small 
minority" considering that over 14,000 members of the English Institute voted for the 
motion to withdraw SSAP 16, and a number of large UK companies opposed the 
accounting standard. 
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community through more effective consultation and communication (Turley 1992). A 

few months later the ASC published the Neville Committee's final report on inflation 

accounting. The Neville Committee's interim report (May 1983) contained the results of 

the committee's consultations with the various groups involved in implementation of 

SSAP 16. The consultations highlighted considerable dissatisfaction with SSAP 16 and a 

strong desire among many company accountants, and auditors for a replacement for 

SSAP 16. The Neville Committee's final report (September 1983) made a number of 

suggestions for a successor to SSAP 16, concluding that companies' main accounts 

should reflect the effects of inflation and that SSAP16's replacement should apply to all 

accounts presenting a true and fair view. The report re-iterated a point made in the 

interim report of the committee, that historic cost accounts would not present a true and 

fair view for companies significantly affected by changing prices. 

As a result of the Neville Committee's conclusions and strong opposition to CCA, 

the ASC felt compelled to a seek a legal opinion on whether inflation accounting was 

essential to presenting a true and fair view (Davison 1985). The ASC asked two 

prominent lawyers, Lenny Hoffman and Mary Arden, to provide their opinion on the 

legal standing of accounting standards with regards to the Companies Act's requirement 

for presentation of a true and fair view. Hoffman and Arden (1983) argued that what 

constituted a true and fair view changed over time and required interpretation by the 

courts. They believed that the courts would give consideration to accounting standards 

but would also expect generally accepted accounting standards to result in a true and fair 

view. A move, designed to provide legal backing for the professional obligation to 
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comply with SSAP 16 and accounting standards in general, had potentially backfired in a 

climate of growing non-compliance with the requirements of SSAP 16. A replacement 

for SSAP 16 would not only require general acceptance, it would also require wide 

acceptance of the assumption that current cost accounting (CCA) resulted in a true and 

fair view. 

The replacement for SSAP 16 became a matter of dispute within the profession. 

The effort appeared doomed to failure before it really got started. ASC members and 

members of its sub-committees initially could not agree on any aspect of the new 

standard for several months. When the various parties finally reached consensus on the 

technical aspects of the standard, they could not gain a consensus with respect to which 

companies would be required to use CCA. After taking legal counsel, the ASC decided 

the proposals would only apply to large and public companies. The ASC released the 

exposure draft Accounting for the Effects of Inflation Accounting (ED35), in July 1985. 

The exposure draft represented a political compromise, among those on the ASC 

(Davison 1985), but management of many companies and other professional bodies had 

no input. The ASC issued ED35 at a time when non-compliance with the present 

standard SSAP 16 had reached 50% of companies on the Stock Exchange.73 In addition to 

generating dissent among preparers, ED35 led to confusion among auditors. Some 

73 Figures provided by Stock Exchange Quotations Department, reported in 
"Accounting Lapses of Listed Companies," The Accountant, 9 August/16 August 1984, 
10. 
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auditors were issuing unqualified opinions for companies following ED35 whilst others 

were qualifying companies.74 

Criticism of ED35 also came from the CCAB bodies, especially the Cost and 

Management Accountants (ICMA). Unhappy that the ASC had not incorporated one of 

its proposals, the ICMA reportedly threatened to veto an inflation accounting standard 

based on ED35. The cost and management accountants expressed their discontent on the 

ASC's proposed solution in its submission on ED 35. They asked that the accounting 

profession request the government to issue a Statutory Instrument on inflation accounting 

(October 1984). The ICMA sent a copy of its submission to senior civil servants at the 

DTI.75 The other professional bodies also expressed a "lukewarm" reaction to the 

exposure draft.76 When faced with the strong possibility that the ED35 would not gain 

support, the ASC announced proposals to simplify the requirements of the ED. The 

certified accountants (the Association) called for the ASC to withdraw ED35 and 

SSAP16. The Association had effectively vetoed the ED as a possible standard before 

the exposure period had even expired.77 Overall it became clear to the ASC and many in 

74 See "Auditors Caught in ED 35 Crossfire," The Accountant, 25 October 1984, 
2. 

75 See "Statutory backing ruled out as ASC deliberates," Accountancy, February 
1985, 5. 

76 See "ICMA intends to torpedo inflation-accounting draft," Accountancy Age, 11 
October 1984, 1. 

77 See "Association throws out ED 35," The Accountant, 6 December 1984, 2; 
"Certifieds quash inflation draft hopes by early veto," Accountancy Age, 6 December 
1984,1. 
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the profession that ED35 did not have support from the constituents. Therefore, it could 

not become a mandatory standard. Since auditors could not enforce an accounting 

standard without general acceptance. Trying to impose a contentious standard would 

result in non-compliance, further eroding confidence in the profession. The ASC directed 

by government to handle the inflation problem now turned to the government realizing 

that a CCA standard could not be enforced without statutory backing. 

Can the Government Help? - Calls for Statutory Backing 

The ASC and CCAB bodies had faced two recent high profile calls for statutory 

backing of accounting standards. Perks (1983) presented evidence of significant non-

compliance with accounting standards. He argued that the ASC's proposal for a Review 

Panel in the Watts Report (ASC 1981) was designed to foster the appearance of 

compliance to avoid government intervention. But Perks argued, the actual reforms 

would not ensure compliance. He recommended legal backing for accounting standards. 

Auditors then could enforce accounting standards and there would be no need for an 

enforcement agency. The report of a government commissioned review of investor 

protection in UK financial markets also addressed the issue of enforcement of accounting 

standards (Gower 1984). Citing Perks (1983) the author of the report highlighted the lack 

of enforcement of accounting standards by the professional bodies. Given the close 

relationship between accounting standards and the Companies Act since the 

implementation of the EEC's Fourth Directive (1980 and 1981), Gower recommended 

that enforcement of accounting standards should have legal backing. Specifically, Gower 

(1984) suggested government financial reporting requirements could make reference to 
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standards prescribed by recognized self-regulatory agencies (e.g., the ASC). The ASC 

and CCAB leaders publicly rejected the need for statutory backing. They feared that 

members of their groups would rebel. But, privately the ASC informally approached the 

government. Committee members discussed the possibility of the government granting 

statutory backing for accounting standards, with senior civil servants at the DTI. 

Davison had a series of informal meetings with senior civil servants enquiring 

into the possibility of the government issuing a Statutory Instrument to back up the 

ASC's requirements for CCA in late 1983. A few months later, the senior civil servants 

informed the Davison that the profession could have a Statutory Instrument if 95% of the 

profession supported such a proposal. The government clearly knew that such a mandate 

could not be obtained. If the profession had the support of 95% of its members then it 

would not have needed to ask for the Statutory Instrument to support CCA. 

After the cost and management accountants (ICMA) sent a copy of their 

submission to the ASC calling for the government to issue a Statutory Instrument 

requiring inflation accounting (October 1984), Sir Anthony Rawlinson, a senior civil 

servant at the DTI invited the ASC chairman, Peter Godfrey to discuss possible solutions 

to the problem of ED35 and inflation accounting.78 Given the prior response to request 

for statutory backing, the government response was unexpected. Rawlinson enquired 

whether the DTI or government could help in any way. Godfrey informed Rawlinson, 

and other civil servants, that 95% of the submissions on ED 35 to date were against the 

78 Ian Hay Davison had resigned in July 1984 to spend more time on his position 
as chief executive at Lloyds of London. 
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proposal. He also noted that two of the professional bodies would likely oppose ED 35 as 

a standard. This information confirmed the DTI's impression that the ASC might not 

issue a standard based on ED 35. Stressing the government's history of intervention in 

the inflation accounting issue (e.g., establishment of Sandilands Committee) and its 

unwillingness to allow CCA for tax purposes, Godfrey suggested that the DTI could help 

the ASC by issuing a Statutory Instrument. He expressed concern over the inability of 

the professional bodies to enforce accounting standards in general. But unlike Davison in 

1983, Godfrey asked the government to consider issuing a Statutory Instrument requiring 

compliance with all accounting standards. Other CCAB representatives asked Godfrey to 

reconsider the request for statutory backing. Rawlinson explained that the government 

was unlikely to approve such a proposal given its belief in self-regulation. He promised 

to convey the request to the relevant minister if the CCAB, or the ASC, wished to pursue 

the request. 

In the interim, the DTI promised to investigate the possibility of political 

statements by the government supporting the ASC's position. DTI and ASC officials met 

in March 1985 but the DTI again expressed a lack of enthusiasm for the statutory backing 

of accounting standards.79 Once again the government had expressed its unwillingness to 

play a role in the enforcement arena of the regulatory space. After reviewing the many 

submissions from companies, accounting firms, CCAB bodies, other bodies, and 

79 One month later a DTI official sent a letter to the ASC outlining the possible 
alternatives for statutory backing, the difficulties of each alternative, and the requirement 
that the ASC/CCAB gain substantial support of the profession for any proposal it decided 
to pursue. 
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individuals opposing ED35, the ASC decided to withdraw the ED at its March 1985 

meeting, having concluded that a standard based on ED35 would not have general 

support.80 Issuing a CCA standard that companies and auditors would ignore would have 

undermined the credibility of the ASC. Without government help enforcing the standard, 

the ASC had no option but to withdraw the standard.81 

While the ASC was attempting to persuade the government to help enforce a 

future CCA standard, non-compliance with the existing standard, SSAP 16, continued 

rising steadily. When the ASC announced its decision to withdraw ED 35, non-

compliance with SSAP 16 had reached an estimated 60-70%.82 Many in the profession 

recognized that this high level of non-compliance threatened the acceptance of all 

accounting standards. These fears lead to more calls from within the profession for the 

ASC to request statutory backing for an inflation accounting standard. The ASC 

chairman, Peter Godfrey, knowing that the DTI and government did not support such a 

request, declared this a remote possibility. As the level of non-compliance rose to 80% 

the ASC was finally forced to effectively withdraw the mandatory status of SSAP 16 by 

removing the requirement that accountants disclose significant departures from the 

standard. The APC followed the ASC's lead, removing from its auditing guideline, 

80 See "No progress on SSAP 16 successor," The Accountant, 11 April 1985,7. 

81 See Pong and Whittington (1996) for a more detailed discussion of the demise 
of CCA in the UK. 

82 See "ED 35: Big firms put in the boot," The Accountant, 24 January 1985,2; 
"ED 35 withdrawn—ASC tries again," Accountancy, May 1985, 20. 
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Auditor's Report and SSAP16, the auditor's obligation to refer to departures from the 

CCA standard in the auditor's report.83 

The committee remained determined to show that the profession could respond to 

the inflation problem. In July 1985 the ASC issued Reporting the Effects of Changing 

Prices on Earnings (ED 38). This new ED was sent to a selection of companies, auditors, 

and representative bodies (Pong and Whittington 1996). Many questioned the ASC's 

judgment in releasing ED 38 so soon after the withdrawal of ED 35 without effective. 

Arthur Andersen, the large accounting firm, called for the ASC to gain statutory backing 

before proceeding with ED 38. Bromwich (1985) in a study sponsored by the English 

Institute, recommended that the ASC consider seeking statutory backing. The 

submissions on ED 38 indicated a clear lack of support for the proposed inflation 

standard. In October 1985, the ASC Chairman (Peter Godfrey) met with the junior 

minister at the Department of Trade and Industry, Michael Howard. Godfrey informed 

Howard that if the government wanted information on inflation in annual accounts it 

should amend the Companies Act. He believed the inflation accounting standard would 

then "fall into place in that background." The chairman of the ASC informed the junior 

minister that the ASC was considering issuing a document that would bring together the 

writings on the different alternative ways of providing information on inflation. Howard 

made it clear to Godfrey that the government would not introduce a requirement for 

inflation accounting into company law, but he did support the ASC issuing guidance i on 

83 See "ASC withdraws mandatory status of CCA standard," Accountancy, Julv 
1985, 19. 3 
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alternative ways to account for inflation.84 In meetings with ASC officials, officials at the 

Bank of England and the Treasury also expressed unwillingness to provide legislative 

support for the inflation accounting standard (Pong and Whittington 1996). The 

government's position had not changed, it would not provide statutory backing. 

When the ASC's efforts to gain statutory backing were made public in an article 

in The Times (London), practitioners responded with outrage (Griffiths 1985). The Times 

(London) and the ASC received numerous letters that made it clear that most accounting 

practitioners did not support statutory backing of accounting standards. In December 

1985, the ASC issued a Policy Statement recommending the CCAB bodies withdraw 

SSAP 16. In the Statement the ASC also noted it had no plans to issue a mandatory 

(SSAP) or non-mandatory (SORP) standard on the topic of inflation, instead it would 

issue a handbook providing guidance on accounting for changing prices (Pong and 

Whittington 1996). 

The ASC had rid itself of the obligation to issue a mandatory standard85 on a 

topic that had caused crisis after crisis in the regulatory space for the last decade. It now 

had to deal with the aftermath of the inflation accounting debacle—a growing climate of 

84 Notes of Meeting between ASC and English Institute officials held on 29 
October 1985; contained a memorandum from G.B. Mitchell to J. Warne, 1 November 
1985, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 

85 The ASC issued the handbook in June 1986 with the approval of five of the six 
CCAB bodies. The Association argued that the ASC should issue a non-mandatory 
SORP on accounting for the effects of changing prices and refused to withdraw SSAP 16 
and support the publication of the handbook until 1988. The ASC finally withdrew 
SSAP16 in April 1988 (Pong and Whittington 1996). 
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non-compliance with accounting standards—a task in which the government wanted no 

role. The ASC's decision to issue ED 38 so soon after the withdrawal of ED 35 had 

sparked debate over the enforcement issue within the profession. As it became clear the 

ASC would not obtain statutory backing for accounting standards and in the face of 

growing non-compliance with standards other than SSAP 16, the attention of the 

professional leaders shifted to the role of professional bodies in enforcement of 

accounting standards. 

"Why can't the profession enforce accounting standards? " 

The ASC's requests to the government for statutory backing of all accounting 

standards were based on a concern among professional leaders that non-compliance with 

SSAP 16 was leading to non-compliance with other accounting standards. Much of this 

concern among the professional leaders stemmed from the observations and 

correspondence of Derek Foster, a senior member of the Auditing Practices Committee 

(APC) and the English Institute. In the period 1984-6, Foster frequently voiced concerns 

over the potential impact of non-compliance with accounting standards and lobbied the 

CCAB bodies to establish a monitoring and enforcement mechanism for company 

compliance with accounting standards. 

In August 1984, an article in the Financial Times (London) criticized the ASC's 

lack of ability to respond promptly to significant issues facing the business community. 

The article also criticized the professional bodies' unwillingness to enforce accounting 
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standards.86 This article spurred Foster to write a letter to the Secretary of the CCAB, 

John Warne.87 Foster expressed concern over enforcement of accounting and auditing 

standards. He highlighted the small but growing cases of companies blatantly 

disregarding accounting standards with no comment from auditors and apparently no 

enforcement action from the professional bodies. Foster also believed there were too 

many cases of "creeping crumples," a situation that threatened the credibility of 

accounting standards generally. "Creeping crumples" referred to situations where once 

auditors had allowed a company to adopt a creative accounting practice, it became 

difficult for auditors to stop other companies exploiting the same loophole. Foster 

provided the example of breweries that had decided not to depreciate their public houses 

(pubs) on the grounds that the companies maintained the pubs to such high standards that 

the long life of the buildings made depreciation immaterial. He observed that based on 

the practice of breweries hotels, department stores and auto retailers had recently adopted 

the creative accounting practices. 

Foster urged the CCAB to give the matter of enforcement of accounting and 

auditing standards urgent attention. He feared that perceived failure at self-regulation 

could affect the credibility of the profession. For the immediate future Foster 

recommended an English Institute practice review backed up by an English Institute 

86 See "Tough challenge for accountants," Financial Times (London), 23 August 
1984, 8. 

87 Letter from Derek Foster, Chairman of APC, to John Warne, Secretary of the 
CCAB, 23 August 1984, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 



104 

monitoring and enforcement scheme in the medium term. He suggested a full-time 

employee of the English Institute could review the accounts of all listed companies for 

breaches of accounting standards and refer any cases to the technical directors of the 

CCAB bodies. The Technical Director of the English Institute would then investigate 

each case, contact the company and/or its auditors for further information, and pass the 

details of serious breaches onto the relevant committees for possible disciplinary action. 

To deal with the "creeping crumples," Foster recommended that the ASC issue 

public interpretative statements when it came across accounting practices not intended by 

the relevant SSAP. He suggested the professional bodies publicize the new tougher 

approach ahead of implementation and subsequently report on the more serious cases of 

non-compliance to act as a deterrent to other companies. 

In February 1985, the Technical Directorate of the English Institute recommended 

to an Institute Quality of Work Working Party, that the Institute's Technical Directorate 

employ an accountant to review published accounts and report any breaches with 

accounting standards, auditing standards, and company law. The working party noted 

and agreed to consider the recommendation when preparing its final report later in the 

year.88 Foster continued to express his concerns to senior members of the CCAB bodies 

in private and public.89 

88 Minutes of a meeting between ASC and English Institute officials, 16 
September 1985, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 

89 Letter from Derek Foster to Eric Tait, Secretary of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Scotland, 26 June 1985, ASC Archive, University of Manchester, 
Manchester, UK, and "Proposed ED raises doubts on enforcement," Accountancy, 
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The ASC had little interest in Foster's proposals while it discussed the possibility 

of statutory backing for accounting standards with officials at the DTI (March 1985). 

When it became clear to the Chairman of the ASC, Peter Godfrey, that the government 

was unlikely to grant the ASC's request, he began to support Foster's proposals. The ED 

35 debacle had convinced Godfrey that the ASC could not tackle the problem of non-

compliance alone. Therefore, he joined with Foster to convince the CCAB bodies to take 

enforcement seriously. The ASC and APC chairmen lobbied senior officials in CCAB 

bodies to establish a monitoring and enforcement system before cases of minor non-

compliance snowballed. The professional organizations, like the government, showed a 

decided reluctance to become embroiled in the enforcement controversy. 

The English Institute Takes Over the Initiative 

The growing severity of the non-compliance problem prompted the ICAEW to act 

unilaterally and take the lead in action to address the non-compliance issue. In October 

1985, the English Institute Technical Directorate began a project to monitor company 

compliance with accounting standards, auditing standards, and company law. When 

senior members of the judiciary voiced concerns over a growing number of companies 

engaged in "window-dressing" of balance sheets and off-balance-sheet financing 

schemes, the English Institute set up a working party to look at the "potentially very 

serious problems" not addressed in the Companies Act or accounting standards.90 Just 

October 1985, 3. 

90 Ken Wild, Chairman of the working party, quoted in Accountancy, "Working 
party to tackle artificial schemes," October 1985,4. 
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two months later the working party published Technical Release (TR) 603, Off-Balance 

Sheet Finance and Window Dressing (December 1985). TR 603 emphasized the 

importance of substance over form in preparation of accounts. The release, however, was 

not mandatory and only provided interim guidance until further authoritative guidance 

from the ASC and APC. The working party also drew attention to the fact that the DTI 

had indicated its support for the approach taken.91 At this point in time the English 

Institute was leading the players in the regulatory space, ahead of the ASC and other 

professional bodies. 

The English Institute Technical Directorate completed the compliance survey in 

the spring of 1986. In June 1986, the ASC circulated the report of the survey to the 

technical directorates of the CCAB bodies. The survey had resulted in 51 usable reviews. 

The Secretary of the ASC summarized the results of the survey in a report titled, 

Compliance with accounting standards, auditing standards and company law: report on a 

pilot study. The report indicated a number of cases of non-compliance with accounting 

standards and company law. The ASC made four recommendations in the report: (1) the 

CCAB bodies, through their technical departments or directorates, should set up a 

publicized program of random monitoring of the accounts of listed and unlisted 

companies, (2) the establishment of a system whereby the CCAB bodies would discuss 

the apparent non-compliance with company; (3) the CCAB bodies should consider 

inviting the DTI to participate in the monitoring program and consultations in 

91 Reproduced in Accountancy, February 1985, 129-31. 
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recommendations (1) and (2); and (4) the CCAB bodies should continue to monitor 

compliance after the current debate on non-compliance and demonstrate its awareness 

and ability to deal with cases of non-compliance. The ASC report concluded that 

implementation of recommendation (4) was vital to private sector regulation. The letter 

accompanying the report reiterated that the ASC considered it important that the 

professional bodies monitor compliance and take follow-up action. The ASC and 

profession's concern for the government's attention to self-regulation in general soon 

became of paramount concern to the professional bodies. 

Government Assessment of Self-regulation of the Auditing Profession 

The Conservative government had undertaken a significant review of the self-

regulation of financial markets in the early 1980s. In July 1981, the government had 

commissioned Professor Gower to review the self-regulatory environment of the UK 

securities industry and advise the government on any necessary legislative reforms. The 

government incorporated a number of Gower's (1984) recommendations into a 

government white paper (DTI 1985).92 The proposed reforms would change a self-

regulatory environment into a quasi-statutory system of regulation. The DTI would 

designate a Securities and Investments Board to oversee and authorize specialist, sector-

based, Self-regulatory Organizations and Recognized Professional Bodies (RPBs) to 

regulate investment activities of their members. The impact of this review for self-

regulation of the accountancy profession was largely confined to two areas, provision of 

92 A number of the reforms in the white paper were incorporated in the Financial 
Services Act 1986. 
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investment advice by accountants and auditor's responsibility for the detection of fraud.93 

The three Institutes and the Association as RPBs, would monitor the qualifications and 

activities of their professional members who provided investment advice. The DTI had 

proposed reforms that would give auditors a responsibility to detect fraud in companies 

providing financial services. Although introduction of these reforms had significant 

implications for the accountancy profession and became the subject of consultation 

between government and the professional bodies, the self-regulation of the profession in 

other areas would remain untouched by government. By 1986 the growing problem of 

company non-compliance with accounting standards, and the threat of a loss of 

confidence in financial reporting had changed this situation. 

An editorial in the Financial Times (London) in July 1984 reminiscent of Stamp 

(1969), drew the public's attention to non-compliance with accounting standards and 

questions over auditor independence.94 The Financial Times (London) suggested that the 

underlying premise for the Thatcher government's reforms of the financial markets of the 

past few years was that in the competitive and volatile markets of the mid 1980s, the 

public could no longer rely on self-regulation "to serve the interests of investors or the 

wider community." The editorial concluded that in examining the auditor's role in the 

detection of fraud and in the regulation of accountants as investment advisers, these 

reforms had taken only a "peripheral interest" in the accountancy profession. In contrast, 

93 See Radcliffe et al. (1994) for a discussion of the impact of government review 
of the self-regulatory environment in these two areas. 

94 See "The Role of Auditors," Financial Times (London), 10 July 1986,26. 
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the financial services legislation (e.g., Financial Services Bill 1986) had transferred 

regulatory authority of the Stock Exchange and other financial institutions to a quasi-

statutory body, the Securities and Investment Board (SIB). The editorial went on to 

comment that: 

[RJecent developments have thrown in doubt accountant's ability either to enforce 
accounting standards or to exercise effective control over the activities of the large 
accountancy firms . . . conflicts within big accountancy firms and the corporate 
sector's non-compliance with accounting standards provide a strong rationale for 
bringing accountancy within the remit of a body such as the SIB [Financial 
Times, 1986, p.26]. 

The Financial Times (London) further emphasized the point of this damming editorial 

with an article that accused a prominent company, Thorn-EMI of "jiggling the figures" 

the following day (July 11 1986). 

As in 1969, the Financial Times (London) editorial drew a response from the 

President of the English Institute (now Derek Boothman). Boothman, like Leach (1969) 

in his reply to Stamp (1969), emphasized the quality and high standing of British 

accounting standards. He also refuted claims that the accountancy profession should 

come under the auspices of a quasi-statutory body such as the SIB, suggesting that such 

bodies had led to a more complex, burdensome, and rigid approach to regulation, with 

questionable responsiveness to the public interest.95 

The Financial Times (London) editorial added a sense of urgency to consideration 

of the ASC's recent report at the next CCAB meeting (21 July 1986). The CCAB added 

95 See Letter to the editor from Derek Boothman, President of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Financial Times (London), 16 July 1986, 
21. 
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the ASC's report on the results of the compliance survey, "Compliance with accounting 

standards, auditing standards and company law: report on a pilot study," to its agenda at 

the request of the Scottish Institute. The Scottish Institute's President, G.A. Anderson 

reminded the meeting that the previous Chairman of the Auditing Practices Committee 

(APC) had raised this matter with the CCAB. He also noted the recent editorial in the 

Financial Times (London) and the letters to the editor from distinguished members of the 

profession. Anderson suggested that the subject of enforcement was of great importance 

and one the CCAB should pursue, not the APC or the ASC. The Scottish Institute stated 

its belief that the CCAB should now develop more specific proposals, including 

establishing a monitoring mechanism under the aegis of the CCAB. The representatives 

of the other CCAB bodies agreed there was an urgent need for the monitoring scheme, 

but more than one body expressed doubts over the CCAB undertaking the role of 

enforcement. The CCAB bodies specifically expressed anxiety about the sanctions that 

might be imposed on those that did not comply with accounting standards. The CCAB 

board members agreed to defer the matter until the next meeting in November, pending a 

report on the possible sanctions and the costs implications from the CCAB Secretariat.96 

96 Minutes of CCAB Meeting, 21 July 1986, CCAB files. This meeting was 
dominated by the topic of inflation accounting. Citing the lack of willingness of 
companies to report the effects of inflation, the ASC had proposed that the CCAB bodies 
withdraw SSAP 16 and replace it with a handbook outlining the various methods for 
accounting for the effects of changing prices. Approval of this handbook made 
accounting for inflation non-mandatory and put the last nail in the coffin of the inflation 
accounting debate. Despite reports in the accountancy press that five of the six 
accountancy bodies intended to refuse to approve the proposal (all except ICAEW), only 
the Association failed to sanction the change ("Certified's bid to retain SSAP 16 is 
defused by CCAB," Accountancy Age, 24 July 1986, 2). This refusal delayed the 
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Immediately after the CCAB meeting, the English Institute began a campaign to 

educate the press on the role of the auditor and ensure the public had a better 

understanding of the issues. This campaign included use of public relations consultants 

and briefings for those senior Institute members in a capacity to comment publicly on the 

responsibilities of the profession. Senior officials at the English Institute realized that 

they had to address the major criticisms of the profession to avoid fueling any 

government skepticism over the regulatory effectiveness of the profession in general. As 

in 1969 the English Institute had assumed the leading role in protecting the regulatory 

status of the profession. 

The English Institute had recognized a need to evaluate itself as a regulatory 

agency in 1985 when it set up a working party to investigate the whole question of self-

regulation.97 A sea of government legislation designed to reform the self-regulatory 

environment of the UK's financial markets (e.g., the Insolvency Act, the Financial 

Services Bill, the Building Societies Bill, and the Banking Bill) had clear implications for 

the Institute's members.98 The English Institute working party published its 

recommendations in the report, Self-regulation and the Quality of Professional Service: A 

technical withdrawal of SSAP16 until 1988 when the Association finally agreed to 
abandon the standard. 

97 See "ICAEW Group to study self-regulation PDQ," The Accountant, 13 
November 1985,2; "Self Regulation: Institute to review its role," Accountancy, 
December 1985,3. 

98 See "Self Regulation: Institute to review its role," Accountancy, December 
1985, 3. 
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Proposed Framework (July 1986), which discussed procedures the Institute could 

introduce in order to maintain standards of conduct and quality of work. The suggested 

procedures including allowing the Institute to discipline member firms as well as 

individual members. These recommendations became important when the DTI 

announced plans to evaluate the profession's regulation of auditing. At the English 

Institute's annual conference, Paul Channon, the Secretary of State for Trade and 

Industry announced that the DTI would release a consultative document on 

implementation of the EEC Eighth Directive on the qualification of auditors. The DTI 

published the consultative document in early August 1985." 

In this consultative document the DTI voiced concerns about auditor 

independence and made two suggestions: (1) company law should not permit auditors to 

offer other services to a client, such as management consultancy, and (2) companies 

should change their auditors regularly, for instance, every five years. The DTI also 

requested comments on a proposal to establish an independent body to regulate auditors. 

The DTI had caught the accountancy profession by surprise. The profession had 

expected the Eighth Directive would not have a great impact on auditing in the UK. The 

government later announced it was not "gunning" for the accountancy profession; they 

99 See "Channon hints at major changes," Accountancy, August 1986, 7, and 
'Changes ahead for regulatory structure," Accountancy, September 1986, 5. 
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only wished to take advantage of the rare opportunity to evaluate the regulation of the 

profession, but clearly the government had put the profession on notice.100 

Despite this government attention on the auditing profession and the issue of 

auditor independence, the professional bodies were unable to agree on the ASC proposals 

for a monitoring and enforcement scheme at the next CCAB meeting (3 November 1986). 

A number of the representatives agreed on the need for a monitoring system but were 

unwilling to commit to an enforcement scheme without consideration of the mechanics of 

the enforcement procedures (e.g., how to enforce standards on non-members of 

professional bodies) and the reaction from professional members. The CCAB Board 

agreed that it could not separate consideration of a monitoring scheme from consideration 

of an enforcement scheme. The Board, therefore, decided to reconsider the matter again 

after the members had reviewed a study on an educative monitoring scheme used by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario and the English Institute had considered 

member response to a consultative document on self-regulation. The CCAB Board did 

agree though to ask the APC to consider a suggestion from one of the Board members 

that the auditor's report include a positive statement of compliance with accounting 

standards.101 Unable to provide unanimous support for the ASC and APC's request for a 

100 See "Howard strives to allay profession's fears," The Accountant, 15 October 
1986, 1. 

101 Minutes of CCAB Meeting, 3 November 1986, CCAB files. 
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monitoring and enforcement scheme, the CCAB bodies were attempting to shift the focus 

away from the inability of the bodies to agree to the enforcement role of auditors.102 

The controversy over non-compliance with accounting standards was further 

fueled by the release of Ian Griffiths' book Creative Accounting (1986).103 The ASC 

chairman, now Michael Renshall, suggested the ASC take on the policing job itself.104 

The ASC did not have to wait long for an alternative proposal. At the next ASC meeting 

in December 1986, Jeffrey Knight the chief executive of the Stock Exchange suggested 

that the Stock Exchange would consider establishing a joint panel with the CCAB to 

monitor company compliance with accounting standards. 

102 The CCAB had focused its attention on the parties it believed it could control, 
the auditors, possibly believing that in the climate of government scrutiny, auditors would 
not fight the changes. The CCAB bodies soon discovered that despite vocal opposition to 
the DTI's proposals on regulation of the auditing profession, the auditing firms were 
willing to oppose the professional bodies and invite government regulation of the 
auditing profession. If forced to accept some form of government control the English 
Institute was believed to favor government regulation by the Secretary of State for Trade 
and Industry rather than a statutory body. Ernst and Whinney and Touche Ross in their 
submissions to the DTI's consultative document on implementation of the Eighth 
Directive, concluded that the government should establish a independent statutory body 
to police the profession ("Auditors split over general council," Accountancy, January 
1987,6). 

103 In his book Creative Accounting, Ian Griffiths a chartered accountant and 
journalist with the national newspaper The Independent exposed how prominent UK 
companies were using accounting devices to manipulate their balance sheets and profit 
and loss accounts. A senior partner with Arthur Young and member of the English 
Institute Technical Directorate in a review of the book stated, 

"[0]verall the book is an excellent manual on how to cook the books . . . it should 
be read by standard setters and those responsible for legislation because the 
loopholes so well described are likely to be more widely used." (Rutteman, 1986). 

104 See "CCAB rethinks accounting standards enforcement," The Accountant, 26 
November 1986, 2. 
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Proposal for a Joint Review Panel with the Stock Exchange 

In response to Knight's comment, Renshall (the chairman of the ASC) drafted a 

provisional proposal for the establishment of a Joint Panel to review non-compliance with 

accounting standards and circulated the draft proposal to senior CCAB officials. 

Renshall based his proposal on the recommendation for a review panel contained in the 

Watts Report (ASC 1981). The ASC chairman proposed a venture between the Stock 

Exchange and the accountancy profession because the third partner in the previous 

proposal, the Council for Securities Industry, no longer existed. The Joint Panel would 

have jurisdiction to review cases of apparently misleading published financial 

information and disclosed or apparent departure from accounting standards by listed 

companies. The members of the Joint Panel would consist of a retired judge or lawyer 

possibly as Chairman, the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive of the Stock Exchange, 

the Chairman of the ASC, and the Presidents of English Institute, the Irish Institute, and 

the Scottish Institute. 

Renshall also suggested that the quotations department of the Stock Exchange 

monitor the published accounts for misleading reporting or departures from standards. 

The investigative procedures would have two tiers: at the top tier, the Joint Panel; at the 

lower tier, a Compliance Review Group. The Compliance Review Group would perform 

the investigations of cases of apparent non-compliance. The Joint Panel would appoint 

members to this group from senior technical staff of the institutes, senior officers of the 

Stock Exchange's Quotation Department, and respected practitioners or analysts 

nominated by financial directors. The Review Group would write reports on each case 
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and decide whether the case warranted further examination by the Joint Panel. If the 

Review Group deemed further examination was warranted, it would send a written brief 

on the apparent non-compliance, or misleading information, to the officers of the 

company and/or auditors (in cases of audited information) for comment. 

At this stage both parties could request a personal hearing. If the group 

considered the breach a prima facie case for consideration by the Joint Panel, they would 

refer it to the panel with the group's recommendations for action. In this provisional 

proposal, Renshall raised the issue of whether there should be public dissemination of 

any investigations requiring further discussion. After receiving the Review Group's 

report and recommendation, the Joint Panel would choose whether to reject the 

recommendations, investigate further, or accept the recommendations. To encourage co-

operation from the directors and its auditors, Renshall proposed certain features: (1) 

failure to respond to a prima facie case would be taken as an indication of default, (2) a 

lack of response to a request for information on the part of an accountant would be a 

disciplinary offence, and (3) the Joint Panel would treat evidence presented by the 

company or its auditors as confidential and not pass it on to the relevant disciplinary 

authorities, even if the case was subsequently referred to these bodies. 

In terms of sanctions, the proposals outlined in the paper included measures for 

co-operative and non-cooperative companies. When the Joint Panel decided it had 

proven the case against the company, it would encourage the company to issue a public 

clarification, approved by the Joint Panel, of the contentious item in the accounts. If the 

company did not agree with the panel's solution, the panel would then "post" the decision 
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which could include: (1) formally notifying the Stock Exchange, (2) issuing a press 

release of the decision as official material in the professional journals, (3) requiring the 

company to notify its members of the statement of disagreement, and (4) referring the 

case to the disciplinary committees of the CCAB bodies. 

The CCAB discussed Knight's offer for assistance at the next CCAB meeting (16 

February 1987). Scottish Institute representatives were eager to pursue the plan but the 

Chairman of the CCAB (and President of the English Institute) informed the Board that 

the proposal was still "somewhat sketchy." The chairman noted that both Renshall and 

Knight had agreed that breaches with accounting standards by listed companies were rare. 

With this in mind he suggested that the CCAB bodies provide any examples of any 

breaches that came to their attention to the CCAB Secretary, so that the CCAB could 

make an assessment of the situation. 

An Scottish Institute representative discussed the importance of the "public 

relations" aspect of pursuing the joint proposal with the Stock Exchange. He believed it 

was important to send a message to government and the public that the profession was 

taking the matter seriously. The Chairman of the CCAB acknowledged the importance of 

the "public relations" exercise but believed the primary concern was whether there was a 

need for action on this issue (i.e., there was a non-compliance problem). 

Discussions on the sanctions available to the Stock Exchange suggested that the 

only sanction available was to remove a company's listing. The Chairman of the CCAB 

informed the Board that his discussions with Mr Knight indicated that the Stock 

Exchange regarded this course of action as "too severe." The Board recommended that 
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the next step to take was to instruct the CCAB Secretary, aided by the CCAB bodies, to 

make an assessment of the extent of non-compliance with accounting standards by listed 

companies. The Chairman and Secretary of the CCAB would explore with Mr. Knight 

his proposal for increased monitoring by the Stock Exchange.105 After all the plans and 

discussions, the CCAB failed to implement the Stock Exchange's proposal because the 

Stock Exchange expressed an unwillingness to remove a company's listing for non-

compliance with accounting standards.106 The CCAB was back to the ASC proposals 

considered at the July and November 1986 CCAB meetings—a monitoring and 

enforcement system established and operated by the CCAB bodies. Now, however, the 

CCAB had to consider these proposals in somewhat of a crisis of confidence in the ASC. 

A Crisis of Confidence in the ASC 

While the ASC and the Stock Exchange had discussed the procedures for the Joint 

Panel a new series of events occurred that threatened the credibility of the ASC and the 

accounting standards setting process. In January 1987, the ASC released a revised 

version of SSAP 12, Accounting for Depreciation. Concerned about the increasing 

number of companies not charging depreciation on buildings, the ASC asserted that in 

rare circumstances was it only appropriate not to charge depreciation on buildings. 

Indecision about this assertion (the ASC had backed off from the assertion after the draft 

revised standard [ED 37] but reinstated it for the revised standard) which some auditors 

105 Minutes of CCAB meeting, 16 February 1987, CCAB files. 

106 See "Enforcement trips up ASC compliance plan," The Accountant, July 1987, 
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saw as an irrelevant issue, led to claims from partners of large accounting firms that the 

actions had further reduced business leaders' confidence in the ASC and standard setting 

process. 

In February, The Accountant published an article discussing the results of 

discussions with the technical partners in all the major accounting firms on the issues 

causing them the most concern. The author of the article, Terry McCarthy, stated in the 

second paragraph of the article that "there are ominous signs that in practice the whole 

issue of compliance with accounting standards is getting out of hand." McCarthy (1987) 

proceeded to discuss the growing practice of "opinion shopping." The author put many 

of the problems down to an assessment that accounting standards were "conflicting, out 

of date, out of date, or lacking in precision." McCarthy also outlined the associated 

problems with off-balance sheet financing; the ASC's standards on acquisition 

accounting, accounting for goodwill, and extraordinary items; and its lack of standards on 

emerging issues such as pension costs and financial instruments. Subsequently, a series 

of articles and reports would lend greater credence to McCarthy's claims. 

In March, the Equipment Leasing Association presented evidence to the ASC that 

auditors were inconsistently applying the leasing standard (SSAP 21).107 In the same 

month, the English Institute's annual publication, Financial Reporting 1987-88: A Survey 

of UK Reporting Practice, expressed concerns over the proliferation of companies use of 

off-balance sheet financing and the "free for all" under the ASC's accounting standards 

107 See "Lessors slam inconsistency," Accountancy Age, 5 March 1987,3. 
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on accounting for goodwill (SSAP 22) and acquisitions and mergers accounting (SSAP 

23) (Wild 1987,48). Williams (1987a) reported that these criticism had led to 

"increasing pressure from the government to review SSAP 23," a task the ASC was 

apparently either unable or unwilling to undertake. 

In April the legal profession entered the debate over off-balance sheet financing, 

noting the conflict of the ASC's proposals with the provisions of company law. Groups 

of solicitors vowed to bring test court cases against companies that followed the ASC's 

proposal if it became a standard. Other groups of solicitors vowed to sue auditors 

qualifying companies following the proposed standard for defamation (Freeborn 1987a; 

Freeborn 1987b). Later in the month, the ASC met with the DTI, at the DTI's request, to 

discuss the progress of ASC attempts to issue a standard on off-balance-sheet financing 

and possible legislative solutions to the growing problem.108 

In May the ASC announced plans to conduct a major review, "the biggest in the 

ASC's 17 years," of its standards on mergers and acquisitions, goodwill, group accounts, 

and associated companies. Williams (1987d) reported that the review came just days 

before publication of a CBI document criticizing the ASC's standards on mergers and 

acquisitions. This series of threats to the credibility of the accounting standards setting 

process and the relationship between the government and the professional bodies 

concerned the outgoing Chairman of the CCAB and President of the English Institute, 

108 Note of a meeting between ASC and DTI officials, 28 April 1987, ASC 
Archive, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 
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Derek Boothman. Boothman was concerned at the possibility of government intervention 

in the regulation of the profession. 

Threat of Government Intervention? 

The profession spent most of Boothman's year in office (June 1986-87) in fear the 

government would introduce a quasi-statutory system to regulate the auditing profession. 

The CCAB bodies had lobbied the government to retain the self-regulation of the auditing 

profession. In March 1987, fears of government intervention intensified. The DTI 

indicated frustration with dealing with the individual CCAB bodies on important issues 

instead of one voice representative of the whole profession. This seemed to provide an 

impetus for the English Institute to once again take the lead in action to prevent 

government interference. English Institute President Derek Boothman consulted with the 

presidents of the other CCAB bodies and at an English Institute Council meeting (March 

1987) called for a study investigating the possibility of integrating the professional 

CCAB bodies (Williams 1987a; Williams 1987b). In May 1987, the DTI announced 

plans to ask the profession to establish a unified auditing regulatory body. The 

government had answered the profession's calls to retain self-regulation of auditing, but 

in the letter announcing its decision it also put the professional bodies on notice that it 

expected them to provide increased assurances of "effective co-ordination, monitoring, 

and enforcement of professional standards."109 With plans for a Companies Bill to 

implement any proposals from the Eighth Directive on the qualification of auditors re-

109 « See "Fears of GAC refuse to die down," Accountancy, July 1987,5. 
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scheduled for 1988, the DTI had time to monitor the profession's attempts to provide the 

necessary assurances before introducing its proposals to parliament. 

With the government now looking over the profession's shoulder, the collapse of 

the ASC's attempt to establish a Joint Panel with the Stock Exchange, and the growing 

lack of confidence in the standard setting process, the success of the ASC's actions to 

deal with the crises facing it became of paramount importance. The Chairman of the 

ASC, Michael Renshall, was well aware of the importance of the ASC at this point in 

time. He used the opportunity to ask the CCAB for a substantial increase in the ASC's 

budget. In response to this demand from Renshall and as a swansong to his year in 

office, Boothman wrote a letter to the presidents of the other five CCAB bodies 

expressing his grave reservations about the standard setting process.110 

Need for a Review? 

Boothman expressed his doubts about the future of the ASC. He did not believe 

that proposals by Renshall to increase the ASC's spending on communications and 

accelerate the ASC's work program were the answer to the problem. Boothman 

recommended that the CCAB consider initiating: 

. . . a comprehensive review of the standard-setting process, which would include 
not simply the ASC's work program but also the more fundamental issues of 
where responsibility should rest for the development of accounting standards, 
funding of the work, and how to ensure effective monitoring and enforcement of 
accounting standards. 

110 Letter from Derek Boothman to Presidents of CCAB bodies, 1 June 1987, 
CCAB files. 
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During June senior members of the profession and senior civil servants discussed the 

possibility of a review on a number of occasions111 and Boothman's suggestion was the 

main topic of discussion at the next CCAB Board meeting on 6 July 1987. 

All the CCAB office-holders agreed in principle to the review. Renshall also 

provided support for the review stating that: (1) there had been major changes in recent 

years in the financial markets and in attitudes to financial reporting, (2) there was public 

concern about the policing and enforcement of standards, and (3) there was a need to 

reconsider the procedures for formulating standards. He stated that although there had 

rarely been serious disagreement between the six CCAB bodies on matters of principle, 

the mechanics of obtaining agreement from all six bodies caused delays which the public 

did not understand.112 

The Board members agreed that a non-accountant chairman of the review 

committee would lend greater credibility to the eventual findings of the review. The 

president of the Association advised the Board "not to abandon the self-regulatory role of 

the profession." He questioned the need for any other "outsiders" given the non-

accountant chairman. The other presidents acknowledged the risk but believed the 

outsiders were necessary to maintain the review's impression of independence. The 

Board agreed the review committee would submit its report in confidence to the CCAB, 

111 In correspondence with a senior official of the CCAB, one senior civil servant 
expressed concern on the operations of the ASC, strong support for the review, and 
suggested the importance of outsiders on the committee. 

112 Minutes of CCAB meeting, 6 July 1987, CCAB files. 
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but the profession, they decided would have to make a press statement on the review. 

The president of the Association reminded the Board that the CCAB would find it very 

difficult to disregard any of the recommendations made by the review committee. The 

Board also noted that staff shortages at the CCAB made it likely the profession would 

need to obtain the review committee's administrative staff from government departments. 

The CCAB issued a press statement announcing the CCAB's decision to commission the 

review that day. 

In September 1987, the CCAB appointed the government "troubleshooter" Sir 

Ron Dearing as chairman of the review committee. Dearing had been a civil servant with 

the DTI for over twenty years and previously served as chief executive of the Post Office. 

Dearing played an active role in the selection of the remaining members of the 

committee. In consultation with the CCAB bodies and various branches of the 

government, the members of the review committee (later known as the Dearing 

Committee) were officially appointed at the CCAB Board meeting in November 1987. 

The Dearing Committee 

The members of the Dearing Committee included representatives from the 

accounting profession (accounting firms, companies, and the public sector); the Bank of 

England; the legal profession; and user groups (investment analysts and investment 

management), as well as an observer member from the DTI. The Bank of England 

provided the review committee with administrative resources that included the committee 

secretary and a room at the Bank of England for committee meetings. Officials at the 

English Institute and ASC provided non-accountant members of the review committee 
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with background information (historical and contemporary) on UK accounting and the 

accountancy profession. 

The final report of the review committee, The Making of Accounting Standards, 

states that "[T]he Committee received 45 written submissions and other evidence from 

the accountancy bodies, firms of accountants, academic accountants, individuals and 

other representative bodies" (Dearing 1988,9). This list included government 

departments and former chairmen of the ASC. The review committee received 

information on the standards setting process in a number of countries including briefings 

and meetings with representatives of the FASB and SEC in the United States. The fact 

that Dearing had worked at the DTI as a civil servant for a number of years and was 

acquainted with a number of senior civil servants and government ministers provided the 

review committee an additional source of consultation for its various proposals. Dearing 

completed the final draft of the report of the review committee in September 1988. Sir 

Ron Dearing, Brandon Gough (senior partner with the accounting firm Coopers and 

Lybrand), and Professor Bryan Carsberg presented the report to the CCAB at its 

November 1988 meeting. 

Recommendations of the Dearing Report 

The main themes of the Dearing Report's recommendations were increased 

independence from the accounting profession, enhancement of the legal status of 

accounting standards, and the development of a more responsive standard setting process 

(Turley 1992). The Dearing Committee encouraged the involvement of a wider 

constituency of interests in the development of accounting standards. To reflect the wider 
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interest groups' concern with broad policy issues, the committee recommended the 

establishment of a Financial Reporting Council. The council would give guidance and 

advice to the standard setting body, promote and comment on the progress made towards 

good accounting practice, and ensure the efficient conduct of the bodies responsible for 

the setting and enforcement of accounting standards. The report recommended that the 

chairman of the council be appointed jointly by the Secretary of State for Trade and 

Industry and the Governor of the Bank of England.113 

The report suggested that the ASC be reconstituted as the Accounting Standards 

Board and given the ability to issue standards on its own authority. The chairman and the 

Technical Director of the Accounting Standards Board should be full-time members and 

both should be professionally qualified in accountancy. The chairman of the Board 

would be a member of the Financial Reporting Council. The membership of the Board 

would not exceed nine, distinctly smaller than the ASC. Approval of standards would 

require a two-thirds majority. Another recommendation was the establishment of a body 

similar to the Emerging Issues Task Force in the US. This body would publish guidance 

on accounting for new issues that arise in commercial life. To address the difficult issue 

of securing compliance with accounting standards in support of the "true and fair" 

requirement of the Companies Act, the committee recommended the establishment of a 

Review Panel. The objective of the Review Panel would be to provide arrangements for 

"good" financial reporting. The Review Panel would examine any identified or alleged 

113 The Bank of England has played an influential role in the regulation of UK 
financial markets since the 1920s (Moran 1991). 
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material departures from accounting standards in the accounts of large companies (as 

defined in the Companies Act 1985).114 The Dearing Committee suggested that members 

of the Review Panel come from varying backgrounds to reflect the problems the Review 

Panel would face. Due to the legal dimension of the Review Panel, the committee 

suggested that its chairman should be a Queen's Council (a lawyer). A small group or 

tribunal selected from the Review Panel members by the chairman would consider each 

case. The Review Panel would not monitor the accounts of all large companies but 

instead investigate individual complaints or allegations that a company has departed 

from accounting standards and/or did not meet the true and fair view requirement of the 

Companies Act. When investigating a complaint, the tribunal would invite the company 

and its auditors to comment and, if necessary, present the tribunal's findings to the Stock 

Exchange and the relevant professional accountancy body. If a company failed to take 

remedial action within a reasonable time, the committee suggested as an ultimate sanction 

legal proceedings or, in extreme cases, de-listing of the company from the Stock 

Exchange. 

114 The Companies Act defines a small company as satisfying two or more of the 
following requirements: (1) turnover (sales) of not more than £2.8 million, (2) a balance 
sheet total of not more than £1.4 million, and (3) not more than 50 employees. A 
medium-sized company satisfies two or more of the following requirements: (1) turnover 
(sales) of not more than £11.2 million, (2) balance sheet total of not more than £5.6 
million, and (3) not more than 250 employees. The Dearing Report (1988) stated that 
13,000 companies would be subject to review by the FRRP. These 13,000 companies 
accounted for approximately 80% of the capital employed in all of the companies in the 
United Kingdom. 
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The Dearing Committee also proposed the introduction of a new civil sanction for 

companies failing to prepare accounts complying with the Companies Act. The civil 

sanction would allow the either the Stock Exchange, the Secretary of State for Trade and 

Industry, or the Review Panel: 

to apply to the courts for an order requiring a company to amplify or modify its 
accounts to comply with either the detailed requirements of the Companies Act or 
with the 'true and fair' requirement. (Dearing 1988, 33). 

The Dearing Committee envisioned that the authorized bodies would rarely use the new 

statutory power. It would be invoked only in matters of public concern and after the 

bodies had failed to persuade the company to co-operate voluntarily. 

The committee also suggested that the government introduce legislation to require 

large companies to state whether their accounts were drawn up in accordance with 

accounting standards to promote compliance with standards. This would also draw 

attention to any material departures, and encourage explaining the reasons for the 

departures. The Dearing Committee suggested the directors would have the onus to 

prove that despite the departure from the accounting standards, the accounts presented a 

true and fair view. 

The Dearing Committee recommended that financing for the new accounting 

standard setting and enforcement process should come from three sources: (1) the 

accountancy profession, (2) the government, and (3) the financial community. The 

government would provide funds by imposing a small levy on companies filing their 

annual returns at the Companies Registration Office. The committee envisioned that the 

financial community (e.g., Stock Exchange, banks, investment institutions, financial 
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advisers, etc.) would provide one third of the necessary funds. The Dearing committee 

estimated the annual cost of its proposals at £1.5 million.115 

Implementation of the Dearing Committee's Proposals 

The CCAB had originally agreed when it decided to commission the review of 

the standard setting process that the report of the review committee would be confidential 

to the CCAB, but by the time Dearing presented the final report to the CCAB meeting in 

November 1988, the CCAB had decided to publish the review committee's findings. The 

final report the Making of Accounting Standards (commonly referred to as the Dearing 

Report) was released to the press and public just a few days after the CCAB meeting. I 

believe publication of the review committee's final report, along with a number of events 

surrounding implementation of the committee's proposals, provides evidence of a 

dramatic change in the regulatory space of accounting standard setting—the increased 

influence of the government. Implementation of the proposals contained in the Dearing 

Report clearly required an active role for the government (e.g., establishment of FRC and 

subsidiaries, introduction of legislation for Review Panel, and financing from government 

through levy on filing of accounts). However, it is debatable whether the CCAB 

envisioned the shift in control of implementation of the proposals to the government and 

the parliamentary schedule. 

After accepting its final report and thanking its members, the CCAB disbanded 

the Dearing Committee and agreed to meet to discuss the details of its formal response to 

115 The annual cost of the ASC was £440,000. 
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the DTI in March or April 1989. The DTI had requested a formal response by summer 

1989 so that any necessary legislative changes could be incorporated into the Companies 

Bill scheduled for fall 1989. The CCAB did not demonstrate a sense of urgency to 

implement the new standard setting process since it effectively removed a substantial 

amount of its power over the UK accounting standards. Dearing, however, actively 

attempted to start the implementation process. Dearing made a well-publicized speech to 

accountancy students at the City of London Polytechnic in which he called for the 

profession to act now to regain credibility for accounting standards. He warned that 

failure to implement the recommendations of the Dearing Report would risk the threat of 

a more legalistic approach to accounting standards, as currently adopted in Continental 

Europe and the US. Dearing emphasized that such an approach in the UK would lead to 

less flexible and politicized standards in a slower standards setting process which was 

less likely to represent the interests of preparers and users. He went on to call for the 

introduction of his proposals into the upcoming Companies Bill in 1989. He feared the 

accountancy profession would not have such an opportunity for several years.116 Dearing 

also announced that after the report he had met with the government minister for 

corporate affairs to discuss the proposals, describing the minister as "very constructive 

about our proposals" (Wachman 1988). In turn, the minister, who wielded some 

influence in government circles, had now created a sense of urgency for the profession 

and the government. 

116 « See Act now Dearing says," Accountancy, January 1989,6. 
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In early January 1989, the Corporate and Consumer Affairs Minister, Francis 

Maude, held a meeting with the chairman and secretary of the CCAB. Maude indicated 

that the government intended to make any necessary amendments to the Companies Act 

in a Companies Bill scheduled for later in the year, but the government would not decide 

on the amendments to the Bill until it had heard from the profession. The chairman of the 

CCAB informed the minister that the profession had scheduled to meet to prepare a 

unified response to the Dearing proposals in late March/early April (Wachman 1989). A 

few weeks later the DTI published a consultative document, confirming the government's 

determination to incorporate recommendations of the Dearing Report into the Companies 

Act (DTI 1989). The DTI asked for comments by 15 March 1989. The CCAB informed 

the DTI it could only make an interim response by the DTI's deadline; the final response 

would come after the CCAB meeting in April. 

In its consultative document, the DTI expressed the government's views on the 

Dearing Report's recommendations for enhanced legal status of accounting standards, 

court action, and financing for the framework. The government believed its 

responsibility was "to create an effective framework under which companies are required 

to prepare accounts that give a true and fair view of their financial position" (DTI 1989, 

paragraph 4). It stated its desire to keep the responsibility for setting accounting 

standards with "auditors, preparers, and users of accounts" and not move towards 

incorporation into law (paragraph 11). The government was unwilling to incorporate 

accounting standards into company law and opposed the recommendation on the burden 

of proof of a true and fair view in situations where the accounts materially depart from 
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accounting standards. With regard to court action brought against companies, although 

the government expressed reservations on delegating the power to "non-statutory" bodies, 

it believed the DTI would not possess the resources (knowledge and expertise) to pursue 

all the cases. On the subject of financing, the government proposed limiting its 

contribution to under half the total cost and expressed a desire not to have "too influential 

a voice in comparison with other interested parties" (paragraph 18). The DTI requested 

the views of the interested parties as an input to their decision on whether to include any 

necessary legislative changes in the Companies Bill scheduled for later in that year. The 

government had indicated its intention to make reforms, but only reforms that retained 

responsibility for the quasi-statutory body firmly in the hands of the accountancy 

profession and the new body. 

The CCAB supported the requirement for directors of listed companies to make a 

statement that the annual accounts are drawn up in accordance with accounting standards 

and recommended that only the Secretary of State should have the power to apply to the 

courts for an order requiring the revision of accounts that do not present a true and fair 

view and that this should be used as a last resort. Additionally, the CCAB stressed court 

action was likely to be lengthy and costly, as companies may fight the court order. The 

CCAB also did not believe the need for the onus to be on those that have departed from 

accounting standards in a material way to demonstrate that the accounts nevertheless give 

a true and fair view. The Board stated its belief that this would in effect give accounting 

standards statutory effect, contrary to the recommendation of the Dearing Report that 

accounting standards should not be incorporated into law. 
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CCAB representatives consulted with the Bank of England, the Stock Exchange, 

and the DTI on the CCAB's response to the consultative document. In addition, the 

English Institute set up a working party on the Dealing Report. The CCAB board 

members formulated an official response to the government on the Dearing Report in a 

letter to Francis Maude, the Corporate and Consumer Affairs Minister, at the DTI. In the 

letter the CCAB strongly supported the proposed changes to the standards setting 

framework but did provide some suggestions. The CCAB's suggestions dealt with the 

issues of appointment of members of the FRC, funding of the framework, legal 

enforcement of compliance with accounting standards, and implementation of the 

proposals. The CCAB recommended that to maintain a quality membership all of the 

members of the FRC should be appointed "after appropriate consultation" by the DTI and 

the Bank of England. The Dearing Report had proposed that the DTI and the Bank of 

England should appoint only the chairman. The CCAB stated in its letter, 

. . . the issues for which the Council would be publicly accountable would be too 
important to allow appointments to be determined on the basis of self-selected 
representation by a wide range of organizations with varying degrees of commitment to 
standard setting and enforcement process . . ."7 

The CCAB's concerns and suggestions for funding of the FRC and its constituent bodies 

centered around two issues, the estimated financing requirements and the sources for 

these funds. The CCAB suggested that the Dearing Report's estimated annual costs of 

£1.5 million seriously underestimated the costs of the a new system. The CCAB 

117 Quoted in "CCAB responds to Dearing proposals," Accountancy, May 1989, 
7. 
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provided a more realistic cost of at least £3 million a year. Which it believed should 

come from a levy of £5-10 on all returns filed with Companies House and an "appropriate 

charge" on the stock exchange listing fees. The CCAB believed that the Secretary of 

State for Trade and Industry, on advice from the Review Panel, should have the 

unambiguous responsibility of applying to the courts for an order requiring that a set of 

accounts be withdrawn. The CCAB now believed implementation of the new system was 

matter of urgency. The CCAB urged the DTI and Bank of England to invite "a senior 

figure to implement the revised proposals without delay." The CCAB further requested 

that this person "be knowledgeable about the accountancy profession itself, acceptable to 

the preparers and users of accounts and to the profession itself, and in a position to secure 

early action."118 The CCAB's response was influenced significantly by the 

recommendations of a English Institute working party on the Dearing Report. 

The Stock Exchange, a key player in Dealing's (1988) proposals for a Review 

Panel, declared the Review Panel unnecessary. The Stock Exchange agreed that it was 

appropriate for a single body to take responsibility for setting and promulgating 

accounting standards, but concluded that legislation to implement enforcement of 

accounting standards was neither necessary nor appropriate and would introduce an 

elaborate review process with a cumbersome and costly structure (Speechly 1989).119 

118 Quoted in "CCAB responds to Dearing proposals," Accountancy, May 1989, 
7. 

119 See also "Stock Exchange opposes Dearing Report proposals," The 
Accountant, April 1989, 3. 
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Finance directors (through the Hundred Group of Finance Directors), user groups, and the 

DTI all expressed disappointment at the Stock Exchange's response. The DTI was so 

disappointed that it wrote a private letter to the Stock Exchange (Bruce 1989a). The 

Stock Exchange later essentially withdrew its opposition to the review panel and, in a 

letter to the DTI, backed the CCAB's call for only the Secretary of State to have the 

power to take companies to court (Wachman 1989a). The Stock Exchange had once 

again demonstrated an unwillingness to get involved in the enforcement of accounting 

standards, despite the significant power it wielded (de-listing of companies). 

The DTI announced its intention to draft clauses for the incorporation of the 

Dearing proposals into the Companies Bill shortly after the CCAB's response. The 

government rejected the CCAB's proposals on appointments, funding, and enforcement. 

Instead of the proposal for funding through a levy, the government favored a scheme 

whereby the bulk of the funds would come from "voluntary contributions from interested 

parties" (Worsley 1989). The government viewed the levy as general taxation. The 

collection of such a tax would impose a responsibility for the effectiveness of the 

standard setting process on the DTI and ultimately the government. Instead of the 

Secretary of State for Trade and Industry having sole responsibility for applying to the 

courts, the government gave support to proposals for the Secretary of State to devolve the 

authority to designated bodies (e.g., the FRRP). The CCAB and the government held 

their ground on these three issues. The CCAB had realized that the government was 

determined to implement many of the proposals of the Dearing Report, proposals that 

shifted control of the regulatory space away from the CCAB bodies. Now clearly faced 
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with a quasi-statutory regulatory environment the CCAB were attempting to transfer 

responsibility and potentially blame, for any failure to the government. The government 

did not accept or want these burdens. 

Intransigence on the part of the government and the accountancy profession 

enabled Dearing to become a pivotal player in the regulatory space once again. In an 

interview for the ICAEW's Accountancy magazine Dearing advised the profession not to 

rely on any government to serve the interests of accountants or the business community 

(Sugden 1989). He reminded the profession that government had a much wider 

constituency and its purposes were sometimes quite inconsistent with the interests of 

accountants. As an example in point, Dearing reminded the profession of its experiences 

in the 1970s with the Sandilands Committee. He suggested government intervention in 

this situation had not helped the cause of accounting standards and damaged the 

credibility of the ASC (Sugden 1989). Not persuaded, the CCAB made one last attempt 

to change the government's position. 

The CCAB bodies began considering proposals for the establishment of a 

European accounting standards setting committee. The professional bodies intended to 

tell the government that Dealing's proposals were "fatally flawed" without the European 

dimension. Under the proposals for the European accounting standards committee the 

profession would issue the standards and the government would enforce the standards 

(Bruce 1989b). The professional bodies had responded to fears expressed by UK 

companies that British disclosure rules left them vulnerable to takeover. The three 

Institutes of Chartered Accountants surveyed the partners of the big audit firms on the 
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European proposals, but within two weeks of announcing the proposals, the professional 

bodies announced plans to drop the European proposals after a number of the partners 

expressed negative views on the proposals (Motyl 1989a, 1989b) 

The government appointed Dearing as chairman-designate of the FRC in October 

1989. Still unconvinced by the profession's arguments, the government pushed their 

proposals through Parliament. The Companies Act incorporating the governments 

proposals was passed by Parliament in November 1989. The DTI formed the Accounting 

Standards Task Group (subsequently referred to as the Task Group) to establish the new 

regulatory framework also in November. The disputed issue of enforcement was resolved 

by allowing the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry and the Review Panel to apply 

to the court for an order to require a company to modify or re-issue defective accounts. 

The Task Group consisted of three members, Sir Ron Dearing, Sydney Treadgold (a civil 

servant in the DTI and a chartered accountant), and Keith Carnegie (partner of Price 

Waterhouse). The Task Group consulted with the CCAB and other interested parties and 

received back-up from a small working party set up by the English Institute. The DTI 

who had seconded Treadgold to the Task Group, provided its administrative resources. 

The main tasks of the Task Group were to secure the financing for the new 

standard setting structure and write the constitution. Dearing negotiated with the 

different interested parties (accounting firms, companies and user groups) for the 

necessary funds for the FRC and subsidiaries. As part of this process he persuaded the 

large accounting firms to contribute additional funds to establish a litigation fund or "war 

chest" for situations where companies might decide to challenge the Review Panel's 
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decision in the courts. Treadgold undertook the task of writing the constitution for the 

FRC and its subsidiaries. The FRC held its first meeting at the Bank of England in May 

1990 with Sir Ron Dearing as Chairman and Sydney Treadgold as Secretary. The ASB 

took over from the ASC in August 1990, under the leadership of David Tweedie (later to 

become Sir David Tweedie). The FRRP held its first meeting February 1991 under the 

chairmanship of the lawyer Simon Tuckey and with Michael Renshall, the last Chairman 

of the ASC, as Deputy Chairman. 

Summary and Conclusions 

The election of the Conservative party in May 1979 signaled the end of the threat 

of government intervention in the regulatory space of UK financial reporting. The 

Conservatives had come to power on a platform of non-intervention in the economy and 

the freehand of the market. Throughout this period the Conservative government 

emphasized the importance to the UK economy of maintaining the public's confidence in 

the financial markets. From the beginning of this period the government realized the 

important role the accountancy profession played in maintaining this confidence in the 

economic system. 

The response of the accountancy profession to the previous government's 

concerns over the auditor's role in financial scandals and the inflation accounting issue 

provided the new government with reassurances that it could retain self-regulation of the 

accountancy profession. The profession's approval of the Grenside Committee's 

proposals for establishment of a Joint Investigations Committee (April 1979) 

demonstrated a lack of aversion to discipline its auditing members. Approval of a draft 
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inflation accounting standard (ED 24) by the ASC in April 1979 provided evidence that 

the accountancy profession was still willing to tackle this contentious issue. Despite the 

profession's reassurances on these important matters the Conservative government did 

not retreat to the edge of regulatory space. The government had an important role to play 

in the harmonization of financial reporting and auditor regulation in the EEC. UK 

agreement to the EEC's Fourth Directive on the content and form of annual accounts and 

negotiation of the EEC's Eighth Directive on auditor qualification required the 

participation of government. The EEC participation would require extensive government 

consultation with the accountancy profession. The need for cooperation lessened the 

perceived threat of government intervention; therefore, the accountancy profession lost 

the external force that had united the profession for much of the first and second periods 

of study. 

By 1978, the Chairman of the ASC, Tom Watts, had recognized that without 

consensus the accounting standard setting process would lose the support of its 

constituents and, ultimately, its legitimacy and authority to issue accounting standards. 

Watts believed the long-term survival of a private sector accounting standard setting 

process would require a democratic process supported by an enforcement mechanism to 

police compliance with the agreed upon accounting standards. Watts would discover 

during the first years of this period that, without the external threat of government 

intervention, conflict within the profession made agreement unlikely. The CCAB, the 

formation of which in 1974, was necessary to gain the support of the major professional 

bodies, also provided a forum in which each of the six professional bodies had veto 
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power. Fear of government oversight no longer forced the professional bodies to submit 

the interests of their members to the interests of the profession and calls for reform of the 

standard setting process. The English Institute could no longer dictate to the other 

professional bodies; it could only attempt to lead the way. 

Implementation of Watts's proposals for a more democratic standard setting 

process became a matter of urgency in 1982 when the profession started to lose 

credibility in the eyes of a growing number of its constituents. The new ASC provided a 

new structure within regulatory space. As Figure 4.1 below illustrates, a number of 

regulatory players moved into positions of influence within the ASC. Users, 

management, and academics all gained a voice alongside the ranks of professionals who 

dominated the ASC. The most notable player to take a place on the ASC was the 

government. An organization the profession had fought to keep out of the standard 

setting process now had a voice on the standard setting body. This change in attitude by 

the profession towards the government was a further indication of the consultative 

relationship that had developed between the two groups within the regulatory space. The 

ASC had transformed accounting standard setting from a technical process controlled by 

the accountancy profession to a political process reliant on consensus among the multiple 

constituents, consensus that would become impossible to gain. 

The growing discontent among constituents of the regulatory space with the 

ASC's inflation accounting standard and companies' non-compliance with the technical 

details and spirit of accounting standards appeared to undermine the credibility of the 

standard setting process. The ASC responded to the loss of confidence by promising to 
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only issue mandatory accounting standards on matters relevant to all companies. The 

ASC said it would not issue any new standards in the absence of consensus. 

Figure 4.1 
UK Financial Reporting Regulatory Space 1979-1990 
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Implementation of these promises reduced the ASC's presence in the regulatory 

space and placed greater emphasis on compliance based on acceptance of standards by 

the business community. The current cost accounting standard (SSAP 16) and a search 

for its replacement highlighted the importance of consensus and the ASC's inability to 

obtain it. Failure to produce an acceptable inflation accounting standard in the 1970s 

returned to haunt the ASC. When the ASC finally agreed on a proposed standard (ED 35 

and ED 38), it was unacceptable to the professional bodies and management. 
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Non-compliance with the inflation accounting standard had challenged the 

authority of the ASC. When the ASC was unable to enforce this standard, non-

compliance with other standards accelerated. The inability of the ASC to enforce its 

standards led the standards committee to look to the government for statutory backing to 

ensure compliance with accounting standards. 

Despite calls for statutory backing from academics on the fringe of the regulatory 

space and the leadership of the professional bodies at the heart of the space, the 

government refused to grant statutory backing for the inflation accounting standard or any 

other accounting standard. When the professional members became aware of the ASC's 

attempts to gain statutory backing they made it known that they did not share their 

leadership's desire for statutory backing. Provision of statutory backing to any 

accounting standard would have given government a more powerful position in the 

regulatory space. The government did not want such an increased role or the threat to its 

own credibility that would come with it. At the end of its tether and realizing it could not 

gain consensus on this contentious issue, the ASC presented plans to produce a document 

merely giving non-mandatory guidance on inflation accounting. The government 

supported the proposal rather than expand its role in the regulatory space. The ASC 

removed the one issue that dominated the history of the standard setting process and 

regulatory space for over a decade. It now had to deal with the lack of credibility that had 

accompanied the growth in non-compliance with accounting standards. 

Unable to gain compliance with accounting standards through political consensus 

or legal requirements, the ASC now asked the professional bodies to strengthen the 
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professional requirement for compliance. As so often had been the case in the history of 

the UK accounting standard setting process, the English Institute took the lead in efforts 

to restore the credibility of the profession through education and guidance. None of the 

organizations in regulatory space were willing to enforce management's compliance with 

accounting standards. It took a government review of self-regulation of the auditing 

profession and the financial press drawing the public's attention to the problem of non-

compliance to force the CCAB bodies to seriously discuss establishing a monitoring and 

enforcement mechanism. 

While the key players of regulatory space avoided taking on the responsibility of 

enforcing accounting standards, the financial reporting practices of companies 

undermined the credibility of financial statements. Faced with this crisis of confidence 

and the perceived threat of government oversight, the CCAB bodies could no longer 

resist the calls for reform of the standard setting process. In July 1987, the CCAB bodies 

reluctantly agreed to commission a review of the standard setting process to make sure 

the government did not expand its role within regulatory space. The appointment of the 

recognized government "troubleshooter," Sir Ronald Dearing, as chairman provided 

reassurances to government and the public that the review of the standard setting process 

would lead to reforms and restore confidence. Involvement of such an influential member 

of the civil service provided the review committee the opportunity to consult with 

government on reforms the government would accept and implement. After securing 

approval from the government, Dearing presented his proposals to the accountancy 

profession. 
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Dearing's (1988) recommendations for increased independence, enhanced legal 

standing, and development of a more responsive standard setting process required 

significant changes in the regulatory space of financial reporting (Turley 1992). Unlike 

the reforms proposed and implemented on previous occasions, the CCAB bodies did not 

control this latest restructuring of regulatory space. The government established an 

agency independent of the accountancy profession. This new agency included external 

constituents, as well as accountants, that would significantly change the relationships in 

regulatory space. 

After twenty years of accounting standard setting and various transformations 

trying to avoid direct government intervention, the accountancy profession finally had to 

accept government oversight of the accounting standard setting process. In return for 

accepting government oversight, the accounting standard setting process gained the one 

organization in regulatory space the professional bodies had failed to provide, an agency 

with the authority to enforce accounting standards. 



CHAPTER 5 

EXPLORATORY INVESTIGATION OF THE REGULATORY ACTIONS OF THE 

FINANCIAL REPORTING REVIEW PANEL 

The present regulatory framework for financial reporting in the UK has existed for 

nearly eight years. In this time the ASB has issued ten FRSs; the UITF has issued 

seventeen abstracts; and the FRRP has issued forty-three press notices for cases it has 

investigated and recommended corrective action. This level of workload by the 

constituent bodies of the FRC suggests that the current regulatory framework is firmly 

established. 

The addition of the FRRP was a totally new and radical structure in the regulation 

of financial reporting in the UK (Turley 1992). Since its inception, professional 

observers have both praised and criticized the FRRP's efforts to secure compliance with 

accounting standards and the Companies Act. Supporters of the FRRP believe that fear 

of review by the panel has led to increased compliance with accounting standards and 

substantially reduced the creative accounting practices so prevalent in the 1980s. 

Supporters assert that the negative publicity associated with review and adjudication by 

the FRRP acts as a deterrent to companies considering non-compliance and strengthens 

the arguments of auditors who disagree with deviant accounting treatment. Critics of the 

FRRP emphasize such issues as the limited information provided by the FRRP, the 
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insignificance of the cases considered, the threat to professional judgment, the length of 

the review process, and a perceived inability to sanction the auditors. The claims of both 

the supporters and critics raise the issue of whether the FRRP serves a symbolic function. 

In this chapter, I present the results of a descriptive empirical study designed to examine 

the symbolism of the regulatory actions of the FRRP. 

Symbolic Regulation 

Cawson and Saunders (1983) in their dual-state thesis suggest that the capitalist 

state recognizes the necessity of maintaining/promoting the accumulation of capital in the 

economy. The state negotiates with interest groups in society to form and implement 

production policies to promote capital accumulation. The corporatist model of regulation 

suggests that the state expects the interest groups or the private interest government to 

secure compliance with regulatory rules. The state provides motivation for compliance 

through its threat of direct regulation and its public recognition or statutory backing of the 

regulatory rules. When perceived non-compliance with the rules appears to adversely 

affect the free market, the state must act to change the regulatory framework. In this 

regard the organization responsible for securing compliance legitimizes the existence of 

the regulatory framework. The regulated group must be in compliance with the 

regulatory statutes to avoid changes by the state. As long as compliance with the rules of 

the regulatory framework are symbolically followed, the state may be deterred from 

further action (Schmitter 1985; Williamson 1989). 

Edelman (1964,37) discusses how the existence of regulatory rules can provide 

the public with symbols of assurances of "protection against economic forces understood 
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as powerful and threatening." These symbols are likely to provide more reassurance in 

situations where public understanding and information with respect to an issue is limited. 

Symbolic regulation "induces a feeling of well-being" and a "resolution of tension" 

(Edelman 1964,38). He also suggests that this sense of well-being is a major function of 

the widely publicized existence of regulatory rules and administrative activities. Widely 

publicized administrative activities may convey a sense of well-being through the 

appearance of vigorous activity, but regulatory agencies may be captured by regulatees 

(Berry, 1981). Examples of this phenomenon include (1) attention to insignificant issues, 

(2) publicizing intent to address significant problems with little intent to resolve the 

problems, and (3) statements announcing actions at odds with stated policy (Edelman, 

1964). Bealing et al. (1996) discuss symbolic regulation in an accounting context. 

Bealing et al. (1996, 317) integrated the work of Edelman (1977), Oliver (1991), 

and Ritti and Silver (1986) to examine the development of the US Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC) "and the effect of its regulatory actions in establishing the 

SEC's own legitimacy." Their study highlights the "dramaturgy" of political exchange 

relations developed and employed by the SEC. In particular, Bealing et al. (1996) 

examine how in the early actions the SEC (1) conformed to sanctioned language forms; 

(2) used strategies of acquiescence and compromise in dealings with external 

constituents, balancing the need for the appearance of regulation with de facto inaction; 

and (3) developed and applied a ritualistic pattern of interactions with regulatees. 

Edelman (1977) argues that regulations are symbols of public values, 

acquiescence, and support for an established hierarchy of authority and status. 
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Organizations survive within this hierarchy by conforming to 

those interests that are hierarchically superior, such as the state, in part by 
conforming to sanctioned language forms in communicating with both external 
and internal constituents (Bealing et al., 1996,320). 

Bealing et al.'s (1996) study suggests that examples of this conformation to the 

sanctioned language forms existed in the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934. The 1933 and 1934 acts adopted the language used by Franklin 

Roosevelt in his presidential campaign speeches—language calling for protection of the 

investors, restoration of public confidence, and full and fair disclosure (Merino and 

Neimark 1982). 

Oliver (1991) provides a theoretical framework that describes the strategic actions 

that organizations take when responding to institutionalized pressures from external and 

internal constituents. Oliver (1991) develops five strategic responses that organizations 

use to resist institutional pressures and expectations. In ascending order of active 

organizational resistance, the responses are acquiescence, compromise, avoidance, 

defiance, and manipulation. Bealing et al. (1996) focus on the more "passive" strategies 

of acquiescence and compromise in their investigation of the SEC's early actions. 

Acquiescence involves an organization's adherence, either consciously (motivated by 

self-interest e.g., compliance) or subconsciously (e.g., by habit), to values, norms, and 

institutional requirements. The response of acquiescence enhances the legitimacy and 

social support for the organization (Oliver 1991). In situations where the organization is 

confronted with conflicting institutional demands or inconsistency in the expectations of 

internal and external constituents, an organization may choose the strategic response of 
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compromise. Compromise involves an organization's attempt to balance, pacify, or 

bargain with external constituents. Balance refers to a tactical attempt to accommodate 

the conflicting demands of multiple constituents and the institutional pressures and 

expectations. An organization attempts to pacify when it mounts a minor level of 

resistance to institutional pressures but devotes most of its actions to meeting the 

institutional demands. Bargaining refers to attempts by the organization to obtain 

concessions from external constituents in their demands or expectations (Oliver, 1991). 

Bealing et al. (1996) present evidence suggesting that the SEC did not acquiesce to its 

enforcement mandate in the early years of its history under the chairmanships of Kennedy 

and Landis. 

Ritti and Silver (1986) studied the early history of an agency of the Pennsylvania 

Utilities Commission, the Bureau of Consumers Services. The researchers addressed the 

question of how structural innovations become "institutionalized" and subsequently are 

assumed to be necessary features of organizations. Ritti and Silver (1986) investigated 

the first step in the institualization process, myth building, the stage at which the 

researchers assert the new structure gains legitimacy. Ritti and Silver (1986) describe 

how the bureau survived and grew by manipulating various symbols in myth building and 

thereby developed a ritual "dramaturgy of exchange" in an interorganizational 

environment that included the state legislature, the utility commission, the media, and the 

regulated utility companies. 

Ritti and Silver (1986) suggest that the myth encapsulates the unquestioned 

beliefs about the origins, function, and effectiveness of the new structure, as well as the 
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characteristics of the environment that required the new innovation.120 An integral part of 

the building of the myth is the development of what Ritti and Silver refer to as a 

"dramaturgy of exchange." The dramaturgy of exchange is a set of standardized 

procedures and behaviors that draw attention to the key components of the evolving myth 

and further the acceptance of the myth by the organization's internal and external 

constituents. The ceremony of the dramaturgy both reinforces the various components of 

the myth and through evolution provides new elements to the myth. 

Bealing et al. (1996) draw upon Ritti and Silver's (1986) discussion of the 

regulatory agency's dramaturgy of exchange with the utility industry. The utility 

industry, as the most powerful economic actor in the utility regulatory environment, 

represented a potential threat to the survival of the regulatory agency. The utility industry 

collectively had the power to restrict or eliminate the activities of the new regulatory 

body. Recognizing this threat the regulatory body developed a ritualistic pattern of 

interaction with the utility companies. In this dramaturgy of exchange, the regulator and 

regulatee compromised through a ceremony of criticism followed by support of the utility 

company's performance. The regulator first classified the company as having 

questionable practices. If the company accepted this classification and promised 

corrective action, the regulator ritually certified the company as "improving." These 

120 Ritti and Silver (1986,27) state that the term "myth" may have connotations of 
falsity, but they believe myths embedded in organizational culture possess a mixture, of 
truth and untruth "intended to dramatize the origin, functions, and efficacy of the 
organization." They believe that a myth is more than an account of the origin, function, 
and efficacy of an organization; a myth has purpose, an account does not. 
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types of ceremonial exchange benefit both the regulator and the regulatee. They 

legitimize the regulatory agency established to protect the public interest, while relieving 

the companies of the threat of detailed inspection of their activities (Ritti and Silver, 

1986). Bealing et al. (1996) present evidence to support their belief that the SEC's 

hearings for the McKesson and Robbins case represent an example of this ritualistic 

pattern of compromising action in a US accounting context. 

On 6 December 1938, the New York Stock Exchange suspended trading in 

McKesson and Robbins, Inc after misleading and false information in the financial 

statements of the company came to the attention of the New York Stock Exchange. The 

company had acquired additional financing based on financial statements containing 

misleading and false information. The exposure of the fraud was followed by the 

reorganization of the company and a large scale collapse in the share price of the 

company.121 The case received extensive coverage in the press and was the subject of a 

number of federal investigations, one undertaken by the SEC. The attention given to the 

case was in large part due to the perpetration of the fraud by the major shareholder of the 

company and the failure on the part of firm's auditor. Bealing et al. (1996) conclude that 

the SEC's actions in the McKesson and Robbins case provide examples of acquiescence 

and compromise. By filing charges against officers of the company, the SEC became 

proactive and offered reassurance to the public that the regulators intended to curb such 

excesses. The criticism in Ritti and Silver (1986) appeared to be primarily ceremonial; 

121 %1XA at close on 5 December 1938 to $0.50 just a few days later (Bealing et al. 
1996). 
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the SEC having denounced the accounting profession, now looked to the profession to 

enact reforms. 

I believe the ideas of the dual-state thesis, corporatism, and symbolic regulation 

have explanatory power for the changes to the regulatory framework of UK financial 

reporting. In the early 1980s, the Conservative government recognized the importance of 

London as a financial market. The government feared that the global position of the 

London financial market was under threat. The scandals that had hit the UK markets 

appeared to undermine the credibility of the UK financial markets (Radcliffe et al. 1994). 

In an attempt to clean up the UK market, the government introduced reforms in the 

regulatory framework for UK financial markets, for example, the Lloyds Act 1982, the 

1983 Parkinson-Goodison agreement on reforms for the Stock Exchange, and the 

Financial Services Act, 1986 (Clarke 1986). Although the accounting profession was 

largely untouched by these reforms, the lack of credibility of accounting information 

often was cited as a major contributor to the loss of confidence in the market. In 

particular non-compliance with the inflation accounting standard and creative accounting 

scandals of the 1980s had undermined investor confidence in the financial information 

provided by companies (Griffiths 1995). This lack of confidence potentially threatened 

the functioning of the UK financial capital markets. The Dearing Committee and leaders 

of the accounting profession made it clear that changes were needed in the regulatory 

framework for financial reporting to restore investor confidence, but also to prevent the 
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government from directly intervening in the regulation of accounting through the 

establishment of a UK SEC.122 

The government provided public recognition to an independent regulatory agency, 

the FRC, and gave statutory backing (in limited form) for the rules of this regulatory 

agency (DTI 1989). The FRC in turn delegated the role of securing compliance with the 

rules of the regulatory framework and ultimately the continued existence of the new 

regulatory framework to the FRRP. To deter direct government intervention in the 

regulation of financial reporting, the FRRP must provide assurances (symbolic or 

substantial) that the financial community complies with the rules negotiated between the 

state and the accounting profession, i.e., the provisions of the Companies Act and 

accounting standards. 

According to the ASB, 

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the financial 
position, performance and financial adaptability of an enterprise that is useful to a 
wide range of users for assessing the stewardship of management and for making 
economic decisions. (ASB Exposure Draft, Statement ofprinciples for financial 
reporting, paragraph 1.1,1995) 

If accounting information is not useful for these decisions, the information may have a 

negative effect on the accumulation of capital. The state may have difficulty gauging the 

usefulness of accounting information for economic decisions, but it can assess the 

122 The UK accounting profession has greater autonomy than its US counterpart. 
The SEC while having power has delegated this power to profession. But when 
necessary the SEC has intervened directly, e.g., investment tax credits (Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion Nos. 2 and 4), oil and gas accounting (Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards [SFAS] No. 19), and replacement cost accounting (SFAS No 33). 
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public's confidence in reported information through the popular press and by complaints 

from the financial community. Scandals attract the attention of the public and the state to 

the regulatory framework—attention that potentially undermines confidence in the 

system and provides impetus for political demands for changes to the regulatory system 

(Kemp, 1984). If a scandal or complaints from the financial community undermine the 

perceived credibility of accounting information, the state may assume that the 

information is having a negative effect on the workings of the free market. Continued 

failure to address the criticism of accounting information will ultimately threaten the 

state's role as guardian of the public interest—maintaining confidence in financial 

markets and ultimately the free market system. 

In this situation the state would have no option but to replace private-sector 

regulation with direct regulation through a SEC-style regulatory body. Given the high 

level of dependency of the FRC and its subsidiaries on the state for financing and legal 

support, it is likely the FRRP will acquiesce to enforcement of the accounting 

requirements (Oliver 1991). 

Although the FRC is dependent on the state for financial support and legal 

support, other constituents of the regulatory framework, such as auditors, the professional 

accountancy bodies, and management, are vital to the survival and growth of the private 

sector body. These groups provide more than financing to the FRC; they frequently 

supply personnel and invaluable input to the due process of accounting standard-setting. 

In addition, by generally complying with the accounting pronouncements of the ASB and 

UITF, these groups provide legitimacy to the new regulatory body and deter further 
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government regulation. Recognizing that the support of its multiple constituents is 

essential to the legitimacy and survival of the new regulatory framework, the FRRP may 

engage in compromising rhetoric with auditors and management (Oliver 1991). This 

response of compromise must provide the appearance of enforcing accounting regulations 

to deter direct government regulation but at the same time, inaction in terms of sanctions 

against the offending companies. 

Ritti and Silver's (1986) discussion of how new regulatory agencies become 

institutionalized suggests that the FRRP had to establish its legitimacy. Through an 

intricate pattern of acquiescence and compromise, the FRRP sought to establish a myth 

that would institutionalize the oversight role of the panel. An integral part of this myth 

building is the development of a ritual "dramaturgy of exchange" with its internal and 

external constituents. As this dramaturgy of exchange develops, what were once 

contentious beliefs are perceived as "fact," and the function of the new regulatory agency 

is no longer questioned. Since myth building legitimization can occur through symbolic, 

rather than "real," reform I examined the regulatory actions of the FRRP for indicators of 

symbolic regulation. My examination was guided by a number of propositions regarding 

the possible actions of the FRRP (Yin 1989). Guided, but not restricted, by my 

propositions, I also examined the regulatory actions for any patterns. 

Propositions 

Tweedie and Whittington's (1990) analysis of the "problems" that faced the ASC 

during the 1980s classify the problems under two headings: recognition problems and 

measurement problems. The researchers demonstrate how recognition and measurement 



156 

issues were at the heart of the creative accounting practices and the compliance problems 

associated with the current cost accounting standard (SSAP 16).123 Tweedie and 

Whittington (1990) emphasized the need for the ASC's successor to address these 

issues.124 Considering that the problems of creative accounting and non-compliance 

played a role in the demise of the accounting standard framework of the ASC, I would 

expect that the new regulatory framework (FRC) would emphasize issues involving 

recognition and measurement. The writings of the ASB's chairman Sir David Tweedie 

suggest that he understood the importance of these issues to the legitimacy of the ASB. If 

the FRC did not address these issues then continued negative publicity in the press and 

complaints from users on accounting information in financial statements, would further 

undermine confidence in the private sector standard setting process.125 Ritti and Silver 

(1986) hypothesize that demonstrations of effectiveness are necessary in the early stages 

of the regulatory body to avoid detailed inspection of the agency's activities by the state. 

Continuation of the recognition and measurement problems of the 1980s would inevitably 

undermine the perceived credibility of accounting information and potentially lead to 

government investigation and regulation of financial reporting in the UK. As the FRRP 

123 See Moonitz (1974) for a discussion of how measurement and recognition 
issues undermined the credibility of the Accounting Principles Board. 

124 Tweedie and Whittington (1990, 87) indicate that the authors wrote the paper 
before David Tweedie was appointed Chairman of the ASB, and that the views expressed 
are "not necessarily those of the ASB." 

125 Kemp (1984) asserts that scandals undermine confidence in the system and 
provide impetus for change. 
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is responsible for ensuring compliance with the regulatory rules, enforcement of non-

compliance with recognition and measurement requirements would also be important for 

the myth building stage of the FRRP. To maintain the private sector regulation of 

financial reporting and legitimacy as an effective solution to the problems that brought 

down the previous regulatory framework, the FRRP must be perceived as effective in 

resolving these important problems. This leads me to the following propositions: 

Proposition 1: The number of FRRP cases involving issues of recognition and 
measurement will be greater than the number of cases involving disclosure issues. 

Proposition 2: In the early years of the FRRP, the number of cases involving 
recognition and measurement issues will be greater than the number of cases 
involving disclosure issues. 

Proposition 3: The sanctions imposed by the FRRP on the companies involved in 
recognition and measurement problems will be more severe than the sanctions 
imposed on companies involved in problems of disclosure. 

Creative accounting schemes and non-compliance with the inflation accounting standard 

(SSAP 16) frequently involved large and small companies. Non-compliance with 

accounting requirements by larger companies is more likely to draw the attention of the 

government to regulation of financial reporting because larger companies receive more 

coverage in the financial press and have higher numbers of users of their financial 

statements. The ritualistic enforcement of accounting requirements for larger companies 

would reinforce the myth-building stage by providing more legitimacy for the FRRP as 

an effective solution to previous problems of non-compliance. 

Alternatively the FRRP must consider the potential threats to its survival and 

growth from the larger companies. The ultimate sanction available to the FRRP is its 
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ability to apply to the courts for an order to legally force a company to revise its accounts. 

Enforcement of accounting requirements through the courts could provide high gains in 

legitimacy and authority, but on the other hand, a failed attempt could severely reduce the 

FRRP's credibility. The FRRP would have to base the legal case for revised accounts on 

the argument that the company's financial statements do not present a true and fair view, 

which is a matter of professional judgment and not application of standardized rules. 

Although the FRC has received legal opinion on how the courts may interpret a true and 

fair view, the opinion does not guarantee the courts will hold the same view (Arden 1993; 

Singleton-Green 1993). As larger companies are more likely to have the resources to 

fight the FRRP in the courts, one could make an argument that until the FRRP has 

established its legitimacy and authority it would choose companies less likely to force it 

to file an application with the courts, i.e., smaller companies. However, because the 

FRRP would receive greater ritualistic benefits if it challenges the accounts of higher 

profile companies and is willing to take on opinion leaders in auditing, I offer the 

following proposition: 

Proposition 4: In the early years of the FRRP, the number of cases involving 
larger companies will be greater than the number of cases involving smaller 
companies. 

Observers have also raised questions about the role of the FRRP in audit 

regulation. Austin Mitchell, MP, a frequent critic of the accountancy profession, has 

raised concerns over an apparent lack of sanctions by the auditing regulators against 

auditing firms that failed to qualify their audit reports of company accounts later deemed 

defective by the FRRP. Mitchell (1997) states, 
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The panel has received little support from the auditing industry. It has always 
kept out of statutory regulation. However, auditors should be involved because 
the decisions of the FRRP are a comment not only on published accounts, but also 
on audit quality, audit ethics, and on the conflicts of interest in the industry. 

Jim Kelly, accounting correspondent for the Financial Times (London), has raised similar 

questions over the role of auditors in the FRRP cases. In an article discussing a case that 

involved non-compliance with FRS 5, Reporting the substance of transactions, Kelly 

(1997) states, 

[A]fter all, those cases which come before the panel are audited accounts. The 
real regulators are the auditors. If they do their job, the panel should be largely 
redundant. It is surely a matter for anxiety that this week's intervention—in 
defense of the principle that accounts should reflect the substance of 
transactions—was ever needed at all. 

The large auditing firms represent a powerful constituent within the regulatory 

framework. The ASC's experiences with auditor support for non-compliance with SSAP 

16 provide an indication of the potential threat that the large auditing firms represent to 

the legitimacy and the authority of the FRC. 

A public statement from the FRRP and coverage in the financial press of 

deficiencies in an annual report that contained an unqualified audit report could impact 

the reputation of the auditors within the financial community and with its regulatory 

body. Dearing (1988) explicitly expressed concern over the ability of companies to 

"persuade" their auditors to support their position. In situations where the accounts 

required correction and the auditors did not qualify their report, the FRRP provides 

information on the case to the auditing firm's regulatory body for consideration for 

disciplinary action. Publicity about a number of auditing firms that had failed to qualify 
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an audit report of accounts later deemed deficient by the FRRP could reduce the audit 

profession's support for the current regulatory framework. Withdrawal of this support is 

more likely if the cases involved in disciplinary action involve issues reliant upon higher 

levels of professional judgment and receiving greater attention in the financial press, e.g., 

measurement and recognition issues. This situation could motivate the FRRP to 

acquiesce to the calls to investigate and strengthen the role of the auditor, but at the same 

time engage in a comprising dramaturgy of exchange less threatening to the auditing 

profession—the investigation of unqualified accounts for non-compliance with specific 

accounting rules rather than issues requiring professional judgment (Ritti and Silver 

1986; Oliver 1991; Bealing et al. 1996). Assuming that disclosure requires less 

professional judgment than issues involving measurement and recognition issues I 

present the next proposition: 

Proposition 5: The number (proportion) of unqualified accounts deemed deficient 
by the FRRP for non-compliance with disclosure requirements will be greater 
than the number (proportion) of unqualified accounts deemed deficient by the 
FRRP for non-compliance with measurement and recognition requirements. 

The length of time between the issue of the defective accounts and the corrective 

action resulting from this slow process has caused some concern among observers. The 

time for the FRRP to issue a press release announcing the company's agreement of the 

FRRP's decision or the filing for a court order may be a function of the alliances formed 

between the constituents and the degree of professional judgment involved in the issue. 
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I will assume there are three major constituent groups directly involved in the 

FRRP cases: the FRRP, the directors of the company, and the company auditors.126 There 

are two probable sets of alliances during the review of cases, (1) the FRRP and auditors 

against the management and (2) the FRRP against the auditors and management.127 The 

first alliance would occur if the auditors had issued a qualified audit opinion on the 

accounts with respect to the issue considered by the FRRP. If the auditor had issued an 

unqualified audit report, I would expect the second alliance. 

The FRRP's power to force companies to comply with accounting standards has 

led to suggestions that the FRRP threatens to undermine the use of professional judgment 

to determine if accounts present a "true and fair view." The FRRP's enforcement of 

accounting standards is an indirect consequence of its power to apply to the court to order 

a company to comply with the accounting provisions of the Companies Act. The court 

could only compel a company to comply with accounting standards if the court held the 

opinion that compliance with accounting standards was necessary to present a true and 

fair view. What constitutes a true and fair view calls for the application of professional 

judgment to the specific business setting. Accountants fear that if standards and the 

FRRP take a rule-book or codified approach to accounting in the UK, then the 

1261 recognize the users as a constituent in the regulatory framework, but the users 
of the financial reports are not involved in the individual cases reviewed by the FRRP 
beyond the initial complaint stage. 

127 The third possible alliance, the FRRP and management against the auditors, 
could arise if the auditor qualified the audit report and/or a complaint was filed with the 
FRRP, but this alliance should not result in a decision against the company and the 
release of a press statement by the FRRP. 
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cornerstone of UK reporting, i.e., a true and fair view, would be undermined. The FRRP 

has to maintain a fine balance and create a myth that would avoid a rule book approach to 

accounting, which the accountancy profession would vigorously challenge. Since the 

FRRP requires the support of the profession, I expect the FRRP to occasionally accept 

arguments that application of a standard would not result in a true and fair view. The 

essential nature of the support (financially and politically) of management and auditors to 

the future of the FRC, and the FRRP's policy of inviting the management and auditors to 

present their case suggest that the FRRP will be willing to discuss the basis for 

management and the auditor's professional judgments in the annual accounts. 

The alliances formed between the three parties and the level of professional 

judgment required for the accounting issue will determine the scope of the discussion. If 

the FRRP and auditor's agree that the annual accounts are deficient (e.g., auditor issued a 

qualified opinion), the FRRP is only challenging management. When the auditor and 

management agree that the accounts complied with the relevant requirements (the auditor 

issues an unqualified opinion), the FRRP must challenge both the professional judgment 

of the auditor and the intent of management. I expect that an alliance between the 

management of the company and the auditor will lead to longer discussions between the 

FRRP and the reporting entity. Similarly, accounting issues requiring more professional 
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judgment will lead to longer discussions. I also assume that accounting issues involving 

measurement and recognition will generally require more professional judgment. 

Propositions 6 and 7 proceed from the above. 

Proposition 6: The average time spent by the FRRP on cases where the accounts 
of the company received an unqualified audit report will be longer than the 
average time spent on cases where the accounts of the company received a 
qualified audit report. 

Proposition 7: The average time spent on cases involving measurement and 
recognition issues will be longer than the average time spent on cases involving 
disclosure issues. 

Descriptive Study 

I gathered the data for my descriptive study from a number of publicly available 

secondary sources. These sources included the press notices released by the FRRP, the 

annual accounts of the companies mentioned in the FRRP's press releases, and articles in 

the financial press. A majority of the annual accounts were retrieved from the ICC Full 

Text Quoted Company Annual Reports - International Company Profiles (ICCCO) 

library of the Lexis/Nexis database. The remainder either were received from the 

company or from Companies House in the UK. The FFRP provided copies of all forty-

nine press notices as of February 1997, forty-three of which referred to cases investigated 

and concluded by the FRRP.128 Apart from the press notices and information contained in 

annual progress reports, the FRRP does not provide any other information on any of the 

128 Press notices 1,2, 3, 8, 9, and 23 did not refer to specific cases. 
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individual investigations.129 The FRRP has stated publicly and privately that it will not 

provide data on specific cases on grounds of confidentiality between the FRRP and 

parties concerned (Treadgold 1997a).130 Generally, the FRRP press notices provide the 

name of the company, the year end of the annual accounts reviewed, a broad discussion 

of the matter(s) under review, and the remedial action agreed upon by the FRRP and the 

directors of the company. The details of the case are followed by a section titled "Notes 

to Editors." Often these notes provide a brief discussion of the remit of the FRRP and the 

FRRP's general procedures and powers. The contents of the press notices and the notes 

to the editors vary greatly between press notices. Generally, the amount of case specific 

detail provided in the press notices has increased with time, but in a number of press 

notices the FRRP's discussion of the matter reviewed and the specific sections or 

paragraphs of the accounting regulations violated was vague. In the majority of the cases 

even a basic understanding of the issues under review requires examination of the annual 

accounts reviewed by the FRRP, the company document containing the 

129 Each year the Chairman of the FRRP provides a discussion of the FRRP's 
activities in the FRC's annual progress report. This report provides a breakdown of the 
number of cases referred to the FRRP, the number of cases pursued and the number of 
cases concluded. In the reports for 1992,1993, and 1994, the Chairman's statement also 
provided an analysis of how the matters came to the attention of the FRRP. The 
Chairman ceased providing the numbers of each source in his 1995 statement. The 1995 
statement and subsequent statements only provide the general categories for the sources, 
e.g., where there is a qualified audit report, referral by an individual or corporate body, 
and press comment. This report also provides an opportunity for the Chairman of the 
FRRP to discuss the issues that have received the attention of the FRRP and any concerns 
over existing accounting practices. 

130 This policy of secrecy towards the specifics of individual cases contrasts 
markedly from the policy of the Enforcement Division of the SEC. 
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remedial/corrective action, and the relevant paragraphs of the accounting standards and 

Companies Act. 

Table 5.1 provides a list of the forty-three cases that have resulted in press notices 

from the establishment of the FRRP until April 1998. The table provides the press notice 

(PN) number, the name of the company, the date of the press notice, and the year end of 

the annual accounts investigated by the FRRP. I refer to cases by the FRRP's PN 

number. 

This table shows that some considerable variation exists in the number of cases 

that resulted in the issuance of a press notice each year. The FRRP issued ten press 

notices in each of the years 1992 and 1993, five in 1994, four during 1995, eight in 1996, 

and five in 1997. Table 5.1 also shows that out of the 43 cases, three companies were the 

subject of more than one press notice: Associated Nursing Services pic (PN 11 and PN 

44), Butte Mining pic (PN 30 and PN 43), and Foreign and Colonial Investment Trust pic 

(17 and 39). 

Types of Accounting Issues Investigated by the FRRP 

The cases are classified as involving issues of disclosure, measurement, or 

recognition. ASB (1995) and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) (1994) 

provided the basis for classification of cases as measurement or recognition. Questions 

over what to include in the accounts as an asset, liability, revenue, or expense constitute 

recognition issues. Measurement issues are concerned with the valuation of assets and 

liabilities in the balance sheet and how changes in value are recognized in the profit and 

loss account. 



166 

TABLE 5.1 
FRRP Press Notices (PN): January 1992-April 1998 

PN PN Date Company YE Date 
4 1/28/92 Ultramar pic 12/31/90 
5 1/28/92 Williams Holdings pic 12/31/90 
6 1/31/92 Shield Group pic 3/31/91 
7 2/4/92 Forte pic 1/31/91 
10 8/10/92 Williamson Tea Holdings pic 3/31/91 
11 8/10/92 Associated Nursing Services pic 3/30/91 
12 10/7/92 GPG pic 9/30/91 
13 10/15/92 Trafalgar House pic 9/30/91 
14 10/26/92 British Gas pic 12/31/91 
15 10/26/92 S.E.P. Industrial Holdings pic 9/30/91 
16 2/22/93 Eurotherm pic 10/31/91 
17 3/17/93 Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust pic 12/31/91 
18 4/1/93 Warnford Investments pic 12/25/91 
19 4/5/93 Penrith Farmers1 & Kidd's pic 3/31/92 
20 7/27/93 Breverleigh Investments pic 6/30/92 
21 8/10/93 Royal Bank of Scotland Group pic 9/30/92 
22 9/24/93 Control Techniques pic 9/30/92 
24 10/19/93 BM Group pic 6/30/92 
25 10/25/93 Ptarmigan Holdings pic (Graystone pic) 6/30/92 
26 11/29/93 Chrysalis Group pic 8/31/92 
27 1/28/94 Intercare Group pic 10/31/92 
28 2/11/94 Pentos pic 12/31/92 
29 5/24/94 Bet pic 3/27/93 
30 11/2/94 Butte Mining pic 6/30/93 
31 11/23/94 Clyde Blowers pic 8/31/93 
32 3/20/95 Alliance Trust pic 1/31/94 
33 6/21/95 Courts pic 3/31/94 
34 11/8/95 Caradon pic 12/31/94 
35 12/13/95 Ferguson International Holdings pic 2/28/95 
36 2/15/96 Securicor Group pic 9/30/94 
37 3/8/96 Newarthill pic 10/31/94 
38 3/28/96 Brammer pic 12/31/94 
39 4/9/96 Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust pic 12/31/94 
40 5/1/96 Alexon Group pic 1/28/95 
41 5/30/96 Ransomes pic 9/30/95 
42 7/24/96 Sutton Harbour Holdings pic 3/31/95 
43 10/2/96 Butte Mining pic 6/30/95 
44 2/17/97 Associated Nursing Services pic 3/31/96 
45 4/15/97 Reckitt & Colman pic 12/30/95 
46 8/29/97 M&W Mack Ltd 4/26/96 
47 10/2/97 Burn Stewart Distillers pic 6/30/96 
48 11/10/97 Stratagem Group pic 8/31/96 
49 2/25/98 Guardian Royal Exchange pic 12/31/96 

Cases involved disclosure issues when a company failed to provide the information 

required by the relevant accounting pronouncement (SSAP, FRS, or UITF Abstract) or 
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UK company law. Nineteen of the FRRP press notices discussed more than one issue. 

For these cases I classified the cases based on the following rules: if the case involved a 

recognition issue, measurement, and disclosure issue I classified the case as 

"recognition;" if the case involved measurement and disclosure issues, I classified the 

case as "measurement;" and if the case involved only disclosure issues I classified the 

case as "disclosure." I based my classification on the issue(s) that had initially drawn the 

attention of the FRRP. For example, in PN 7, the FRRP stated that it had considered the 

accounts of Forte pic with respect to four matters drawn to its attention: the company's 

accounting policies in respect of capitalization of interest, the accounting treatment of 

expenses on major information technology projects, the absence of depreciation on 

freehold and long leasehold properties, and the variance between the date of signing of 

the balance sheet and the auditor's report. The FRRP stated in its press notice that it was 

satisfied with the explanations provided by the company's directors and auditors on these 

matters. It concluded that there was no cause for action in respect of any of the four 

matters identified. 

The FRRP did comment that the company had accepted the FRRP's view that it 

would be helpful for more information to be provided on the company's policy of not 

depreciating freehold and long leasehold buildings. Forte's directors assured the FRRP 

they would make the company's policy of non-depreciation clearer in the next annual 

accounts. In this press notice, the FRRP cited deficiencies in Forte's disclosure of 

information, but indicated it had reviewed Forte's accounts with respect to recognition 

and measurement issues—the capitalization of interest, deferred expenses, and non-
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depreciation. I, therefore, classify the case according to the classification of these 

recognition and measurement issues not the disclosure deficiency. I provide details on 

the issues cited by the FRRP in each press notice, my classification of each issue, and the 

corresponding classification of the case for all forty-three press notices in Appendix C. 

Eleven of the cases involved investigation of disclosure issues only; 22 involved 

investigation of measurement issues; and ten involved investigation of recognition issues. 

The greater number of cases involving measurement and recognition issues signifies the 

importance of these issues to the FRRP and the FRC. The timing of the different types of 

cases may also provide some insights into the regulatory actions and role of the FRRP. 

Type of Cases Investigated Over Time 

Table 5.2 provides a cumulative count of the classification of the cases over time. 

This count shows that in the period 1992-93 a noticeably higher number of cases 

involved measurement or recognition issues (17 cases involved measurement or 

recognition; three disclosure only cases). The emphasis given to measurement and 

recognition issues coupled with the higher level of activity in these two years (20 cases 

out of a total 43 cases as of April 1998) may indicate the FRRP's desire to show it would 

be proactive to establish its legitimacy. As Ritti and Silver (1986) point out, criticism 

followed by assurances that conditions have improved is a key rhetorical strategy used by 

regulatory agencies to institutionalize a set of practices. Examination of the first twenty 

cases provides further insights. Appendix D lists the accounting standards and the 

company law requirements relevant to the issues investigated by the FRRP. 
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TABLE 5.2 
Cumulative Frequency of Classification of Press Notice by Accounting Issue 

Measurement or 

PN Year Disclosure Measurement Recognition Recognition 

4 1992 0 1 0 1 

5 0 2 0 2 

6 0 3 0 3 

7 0 3 1 4 

10 0 4 1 5 

11 0 4 2 6 

12 0 5 2 7 

13 0 6 2 8 

14 1 6 2 8 

15 1 7 2 9 

16 1993 1 8 2 10 

17 1 8 3 11 
18 1 9 3 12 
19 1 10 3 13 
20 1 10 4 14 

21 1 11 4 15 
22 2 11 4 15 
24 3 11 4 15 
25 3 11 5 16 
26 3 12 5 17 
27 1994 4 12 5 17 
28 4 13 5 18 
29 5 13 5 18 
30 6 13 5 18 
31 6 14 5 19 
32 1995 6 14 6 20 
33 6 15 6 21 
34 7 15 6 21 
35 8 15 6 21 
36 1996 8 16 6 22 
37 8 16 7 23 
38 8 17 7 24 
39 8 18 7 25 
40 8 19 7 26 
41 8 20 7 27 
42 8 21 7 28 
43 8 22 7 29 
44 1997 8 22 8 30 
45 9 22 8 30 
46 9 22 9 31 
47 10 22 9 31 
48 11 22 9 31 
49 1998 11 22 10 32 

This analysis shows enforcement of accounting standards that had presented compliance 

problems for the previous regulatory regime, the ASC, (e.g., SSAP 3, SSAP 6, SSAP 12, 
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SSAP 21, and SSAP 22) and accounting standards issued by the standard-setting body 

created in 1990, the ASB (e.g., FRS 1 and FRS 2). 

The FRRP provided a clear indication of its desire to support the new regulatory 

regime introduced in 1990 before it had issued its first press notice about an individual 

case. The FRRP's second press notice (issued July 25th, 1991) reported that the FRRP 

had sent letters to over 100 listed companies that had failed to comply with a financial 

reporting requirement recommended by Dearing (1988) and introduced by the Companies 

Act 1989. Under this requirement, large companies must state whether their accounts 

have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and provide 

details of any material departures from those standards and the reasons for the departures 

(Companies Act 1989, Schedule 4, paragraph 36A). The FRRP reasserted the obligatory 

nature of the requirement in its press notice. The FRRP asked the directors to confirm 

compliance with the standards or to note any departures and to provide a written 

reassurance that future accounts would meet this legal requirement. 

Having shown a willingness to enforce its mandate, the FRRP could now turn to 

more contemporary issues. The vast majority (19 out of 23) of the cases considered after 

1993 enforced requirements of accounting pronouncements issued under the new 

regulatory framework. In addition to supporting existing pronouncements, the FRRP has 

used two cases, Trafalgar House pic (PN 13) and Pentos pic (PN 28), to highlight issues 

requiring the attention of the ASB or the UITF. In it accounts for the year ending 

September 30 1991, Trafalgar House had reclassified property from current (as 

investment property) to fixed assets and debited the reduction in value of the assets to the 
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revaluation reserve rather than as a charge to the profit and loss account. In July 1992, 

prior to the FRRP's press notice (15 October 1992), the UITF issued UITF abstract 5, 

Transfers from current assets to fixed asset, requiring companies to charge any 

diminution of value of current assets transferred to fixed assets to the profit and loss 

account. In the other case, Pentos, the FRRP stated in its press notice that it had referred 

the treatment of reverse premiums received in connection with property leases to the ASB 

due to the lack of recommended practice (Brandt et al. 1997). 

Corrective Action Required by FRRP 

Since its inception the FRRP has not imposed its most severe sanction available, 

an application to the courts for an order to legally force a company to revise its accounts. 

All of the companies required to take remedial action have "agreed" or "decided" to make 

the necessary changes. On more than one occasion though the FRRP has come close to 

filing for the court order. In the case of Trafalgar House pic the press notice (PN 13) 

stated that the company, after taking legal counsel, decided not to accept the FRRP's 

view on two of the issues under review. The press notice went on to explain that the 

FRRP was "minded" to make an application to the court to require the directors to 

prepare revised accounts. At this point the directors of Trafalgar House apparently 

decided to make the appropriate changes recommended by the FRRP. The financial 

press have reported other cases where the FRRP's threat to make an application to the 

court to require the directors to issue revised accounts has forced the directors of the 

company to make the necessary changes, e.g., Butte Mining (PN 30 and 43) and 

Associated Nursing Services pic (PN 44) (Kelly 1996,1997). 
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I have classified the sanctions or corrective action required by the FRRP into five 

categories. The categories in descending order of severity are as follows: correction in 

revised accounts, correction provided in supplementary note to previously issued 

accounts, correction provided in unscheduled announcement and in subsequent annual 

accounts, correction provided in scheduled interim accounts or preliminary results 

statement and subsequent annual accounts, and correction provided in subsequent annual 

accounts. I based the ranking of severity of the sanction on the combination of likelihood 

of attracting the attention of the shareholders and financial press and the marginal cost of 

the corrective action to the company. Brandt et al. (1997) suggest that the re-issue of 

accounts or a supplementary note is more likely to attract the attention of the shareholders 

than revision in subsequent accounts, and that the provision of these unscheduled 

statements to the shareholders is more costly. The categorization of the cases by type of 

sanction or location of corrective action and the type of accounting issues involved in the 

case is presented in Table 5.3. 

In 33 (76.7%) cases the company provided corrections of the defects in 

subsequent annual accounts. Eight (18.6% of all 43 cases) of these 33 companies made 

some form of announcement of the correction prior to the release of the annual accounts. 

Six (14.0%) of these eight announcements were part of a scheduled statement (interim 

accounts or preliminary results statement), while two (4.6%) of the eight announcements 

were unscheduled public statements that provided the corrections prior to the company 

issuing annual accounts. In five (11.6%) of the cases the companies provided corrections 

in a supplemental note to the annual accounts. 
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TABLE 5.3 
Sanctions Imposed by FRRP/ Location of Corrective Action 

and Classification of Cases by Accounting Issue 
PN Sanction/Location of Correction Classification of Case 
4 No action required Measurement 

5 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 

6 Interim results statement and in subsequent annual accounts Measurement 

7 Subsequent annual accounts Recognition 

10 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
11 Subsequent annual accounts Recognition 

12 No corrective action required Measurement 
13 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
14 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
15 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
16 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
17 Subsequent annual accounts Recognition 
18 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
19 Supplementary note to annual accounts Measurement 
20 Subsequent annual accounts Recognition 
21 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
22 Supplementary note to annual accounts Disclosure 
24 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
25 Announcement and subsequent annual accounts Recognition 
26 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
27 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
28 Supplementary note to annual accounts Measurement 
29 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
30 Supplementary note to annual accounts Disclosure 
31 Announcement and subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
32 Preliminary results statement and subsequent annual accounts Recognition 
33 Preliminary results statement and subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
34 Interim results statement and in subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
35 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
36 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
37 Revised accounts Recognition 
38 Preliminary results statement and subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
39 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
40 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
41 Interim results statement and in subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
42 Subsequent annual accounts Measurement 
43 Revised accounts Measurement 
44 Revised accounts Recognition 
45 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
46 Subsequent annual accounts Recognition 
47 Supplementary note to annual accounts Disclosure 
48 Subsequent annual accounts Disclosure 
49 Subsequent annual accounts Recognition 
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The FFRP imposed the most severe sanction, the revision of accounts in only three 

(7.0%) cases. In the remaining two cases (4.6%) the FRRP required no corrective action 

from the company.131 

Comparison of the chosen method of communicating the corrective action with 

the type of accounting issues involved in the cases suggests there is no relationship 

between the two variables. Although the FRRP requested the publication of revised 

accounts in cases involving measurement and recognition issues, the accounts of two of 

the three companies (Butte Mining pic and Associated Nursing pic) were under review 

for the second time. This may indicate that the chosen method of communication was not 

based solely upon the issues under review. The weakness of the relationship between the 

chosen method of communication or sanction and the type of issue is further supported 

by the observation that the FRRP requested distribution of a supplemental note, the 

second most severe sanction, for three cases involving only disclosure issues. 

An alternative explanation is that the FRRP and the company agree on the 

location of the corrective action based upon the proximity to the next set of annual 

accounts. For example, if the two parties agree at a time close to the next year end and 

131 Ultramar pic (PN 4) was acquired by Lasmo pic while under investigation by 
the FRRP. After Ultramar informed the FRRP it would not continue to circulate audited 
accounts as a separate entity, the FRRP decided to issue the press notice to provide 
guidance and information for others. In the case of GPG pic, the company had prepared 
its accounts in accordance with proposed requirements outlined in the ASB's Financial 
Reporting Exposure Draft, The Structure of Financial Statements - Reporting Financial 
Performance (FRED 1). The FRRP agreed with the company's auditors that the accounts 
did not comply with current accounting standards. The FRRP decided no corrective 
action was necessary as the ASB was close to issuing an accounting standard 
incorporating significant portions of FRED 1. 
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before the auditors sign their audit report, the FRRP may accept corrective action in the 

next set of annual accounts. However, if the FRRP and company agree after the auditors 

have signed their audit report, the FRRP may request corrective action in the next 

scheduled financial statement, the interim accounts, or request publication of a separate 

announcement (e.g., supplementary note or revision of the annual accounts statement). 

The FRRP does not provide the actual date the companies agreed to comply with 

the FRRP's request to take corrective action. The best approximation of the decision date 

available from public sources is therefore the date of the FFRP's press notice. Table 5.4 

presents data on the press notice date, the chosen method of communicating corrective 

action, the time in days until the auditors signed the next audit report, and the time in 

days until the next year end. The data in Table 5.4 does not support a relationship 

between the chosen method of communication and the proximity of the decision date to 

the next year end or date of the subsequent auditors' report. 

Size of Companies 

I investigated the size of the companies by examining the sales and cash at bank 

figures reported in the annual accounts reviewed by the FRRP. I provide this data in 

Table 5.5. A number of the companies in the first twenty press notices (1992 and 1993, 

PN 4 to PN 26) can be classified as large based on reported sales. Fifteen of the first 20 

companies had sales in excess of £10 million, and eight had sales exceeding £100 

million. A comparable situation existed for cash at bank. Fifteen companies reported 

holding more than the FRRP's well-publicized £2 million legal fund, with ten reporting a 

figure exceeding £10 million, and four having cash greater than £50 million. 
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TABLE 5.4 
Location of Corrective Action and Time to Next Auditors' Report and Year End 

Days Till 
Next Days Till 
Auditors' Next Year 

PN PN Date Location of Correction Report End 
5 1/28/92 Subsequent annual accounts 44 -28 
6 1/31/92 Interim results statement and in subsequent annual accounts 196 60 
7 2/4/92 Subsequent annual accounts 71 -4 
10 8/10/92 Subsequent annual accounts -5 -132 
11 8/10/92 Subsequent annual accounts -21 -128 
12 10/7/92 No corrective action required 176 85 
13 10/15/92 Subsequent annual accounts 46 -15 
14 10/26/92 Subsequent annual accounts 121 66 
15 10/26/92 Subsequent annual accounts 52 -26 
16 2/22/93 Subsequent annual accounts -17 -114 
17 3/17/93 Subsequent annual accounts -7 -76 
18 4/1/93 Subsequent annual accounts 55 -97 
19 4/5/93 Supplementary note to annual accounts 77 -5 
20 7/27/93 Subsequent annual accounts 265 -27 
21 8/10/93 Subsequent annual accounts 114 51 
22 9/24/93 Supplementary note to annual accounts 112 6 
24 10/19/93 Subsequent annual accounts 37 -111 
25 10/25/93 Announcement and subsequent annual accounts -4 -117 
26 11/29/93 Subsequent annual accounts 51 -90 
27 1/28/94 Subsequent annual accounts 0 -89 
28 2/11/94 Supplementary note to annual accounts 46 -42 
29 5/24/94 Subsequent annual accounts -1 -52 
30 11/2/94 Supplementary note to annual accounts -19 -125 
31 11/23/94 Announcement and subsequent annual accounts -6 -84 
32 3/20/95 Preliminary results statement and subsequent annual accounts 0 -48 
33 6/21/95 Preliminary results statement and subsequent annual accounts 40 -82 
34 11/8/95 Interim results statement and in subsequent annual accounts 140 53 
35 12/13/95 Subsequent annual accounts 155 78 
36 2/15/96 Subsequent annual accounts -2 -138 
37 3/8/96 Revised accounts 41 -129 
38 3/28/96 Preliminary results statement and subsequent annual accounts 0 -88 
39 4/9/96 Subsequent annual accounts -20 -100 
40 5/1/96 Subsequent annual accounts -40 -95 
41 5/30/96 Interim results statement and in subsequent annual accounts 189 123 
42 7/24/96 Subsequent annual accounts -21 -115 
43 10/2/96 Revised accounts 271 -94 
44 2/17/97 Revised accounts 140 42 
45 4/15/97 Subsequent annual accounts -33 -101 
46 8/29/97 Subsequent annual accounts -43 -126 
47 10/2/97 Supplementary note to annual accounts 13 -94 
48 11/10/97 Subsequent annual accounts -10 -71 
49 2/25/98 Subsequent annual accounts 14 -56 
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TABLE 5.5 
Sales and Cash at Bank Reported in Annual Accounts Reviewed 

PN Sales (£) Cash At The Bank (£) 
4 1,761,400,000 10,800,000 
5 833,550,000 11,385,000 
6 7,095,000 2,863,000 
7 2,641,000,000 44,000,000 
10 37,994,000 5,415,000,000 
11 16,607,300 253,296 
12 4,574,000 17,400,000 
13 3,089,100,000 618,800,000 
14 10,485,000,000 28,000,000 
15 49,529,000 3,541,000 
16 157,725,000 3,774,000 
17 46,824,000 314,000 
18 12,519,000 1,343,135 
19 1,170,000 15,512 
20 236,000132 443 
21 893,900,000133 7,896,100,000 
22 88,017,000 9,337,000 
24 519,480,000 23,278,000 
25 3,261,000 60,745,000 
26 65,968,000 9,390,000 
27 29,129,000 652,000 
28 236,400,000 300,000 
29 2,176,200,000 88,700,000 
30 189,000 19,000 
31 7,412,000 1,558,404 
32 34,173,000 55,149,000 
33 258,556,000 12,315,000 
34 960,700,000 116,900,000 
35 174,551,000 2,211,000 
36 733,067,000 9,614,000 
37 263,694,000 2,700,000 
38 152,071,000 26,353,000 
39 39,000,000 395,000 
40 95,070,000 763,000 
41 180,184,000 3,013,000 
42 1,288,900 12,736 
43 1,363,000 31,000 
44 34,095,000 1,937,000 
45 2,353,000 29,400,000 
46 190,269,000 5,742,000 
47 54,373,000 169,000 
48 131,087,000 63,000 
49 4,090,000,000 113,000,000 

132 The company did not consolidate the results of its only subsidiary in the annual 
accounts for the year under review (1992). The sales figure of £236,410 is for the 
previous year. 

133 The figure provided is for sales from non-banking business; the company did 
not provide sales from banking business. 
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The data clearly supports proposition 4. The claims of observers that in the early years 

the FRRP predominantly targeted small companies does not appear consistent with the 

FRRP's regulatory actions. A majority of the companies in the early years had adequate 

financial resources to challenge the FRRP in the courts if the directors of the companies 

had desired to do so. 

A similar picture emerges for the entire 43 cases. Twenty of the companies 

reported sales greater than £100 million, 17 reported cash at the bank greater than £10 

million, and 27 companies reported holding an amount larger than the FRRP's legal fund 

of £2 million. This large number of companies with potentially adequate resources to 

defend their chosen position in the courts may even suggest that the FRRP chose to issue 

press notices for large companies in the early years to enhance its legitimacy and 

authority to enforce accounting regulations in the eyes of other large companies. 

The Role of the Audit Report 

The Auditing Practices Board's Statement of Auditing Standards 600, Auditors' 

Reports on Financial Statements (SAS 600) provides requirements for the issuance of an 

unqualified audit report and three levels of qualified audit reports: the adverse opinion, 

the disclaimer of opinion, and the 'except for' opinion. SAS 600 states that auditors 

should express an unqualified audit report when in their judgment the financial 

statements present a true and fair view and were prepared in accordance with the relevant 

accounting or other requirements. The auditor is to base this judgment on inter alia 

whether: (1) a company prepared the financial statements using appropriate accounting 

policies that it consistently applied; (2) the company has prepared the financial statements 
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in accordance with relevant legislation, regulations or accounting standards, and justified 

and adequately explained any departures; and (3) the company has provided adequate 

disclosure of all information relevant to a proper understanding of the financial 

statements (SAS 600 paragraph 32). SAS 600 states that a qualified audit opinion exists 

when: (1) there is a limitation on the scope of the auditors' examination (e.g, the auditor 

was not able to examine all of the evidence the auditor believed necessary to form an 

unqualified opinion) or (2) the auditors disagree with the treatment or disclosure of a 

matter in the financial statements. 

The auditor is required to issue a qualified opinion on the financial statements if 

in his or her judgment the effect of the matter is or may be material to the financial 

statements and, as a consequence, "the statements may not present a true and fair view on 

the matters on which the auditors are required to report or do not comply with relevant 

accounting or other requirements" (SAS 600, paragraph 33). If the limitation of scope of 

the auditors' examination is so material or pervasive that the auditors were unable to 

collect enough evidence to support and therefore express an opinion on the financial 

statements, SAS 600 requires the auditors to provide a disclaimer of opinion in their 

report. When the effect of the disagreement is so material or pervasive that in the 

auditors' judgment the financial statements are seriously misleading, SAS 600 requires 

the auditors to express an adverse opinion. The auditor's report must state that the 

financial statements do not present a true and fair view. 

In situations where the auditors conclude that the effect of the limitation of scope 

or the disagreement over accounting treatment or disclosure is not significant enough to 



180 

require a disclaimer or adverse opinion, S AS 600 requires the auditors to issue an opinion 

qualified by stating that the financial statements present a true and fair view except for 

the relevant matter at hand.134 I based my classification of the auditors' reports on the 

definitions of the possible audit opinions provided in SAS 600. Table 5.6 below contains 

this classification, the name of the firm of auditors expressing the opinion, and my 

classification of the type of accounting issues involved in the case. 

My analysis indicates that 11 (25.6%) of the 43 annual accounts reviewed by the 

FRRP included an auditors' report containing a qualified opinion on the financial 

statements. Thirty-two (74.4%) of the defective annual accounts had received an 

unqualified opinion from the company's auditors. Further examination of the data and 

case details highlights two interesting points. First, eight of the 11 (72.7%) qualified 

opinions were given on annual accounts in the first twenty cases, or the period I have 

elsewhere described as the early years (1992 and 1993). Second, if we include the fact 

that four (11.6%) of the qualified audit reports referred to matters other than those 

mentioned by the FRRP in its press notice (Brandt et al. 1997)135, the number of 

unqualified audit reports for the matters of concern to the FRRP rises to 36 (83.7%). 

134 If a large UK company (as defined by the Companies Act) does not comply 
with an accounting standard, UK company law requires the company to provide details of 
any material departure and reasons for the departure (Companies Act 1989, Schedule 4, 
paragraph 36A). But in contrast to auditing requirements in the US, if the UK auditor 
believes the departure from accounting standards is necessary for the accounts to present 
a true and fair view, the auditor is not required to give a qualified audit opinion. 

135 PNs 19,20,25, and 30. 
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Auditors' Opinion, Auditor, and Type of Accounting Issue 
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PN Auditor's Opinion Auditor Accounting Issue 
4 Qualified (except for) Ernst & Young Measurement 
5 Unqualified Pannell Kerr Forster Measurement 
6 Qualified (except for) Stoy Hayward Measurement 
7 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Recognition 
10 Unqualified Drury Thurgood Measurement 
11 Unqualified Clarke Whitehall Recognition 
12 Qualified (except for) Coopers & Lybrand Deloitte Measurement 
13 Unqualified Touche Ross & Co Measurement 
14 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Disclosure 
15 Qualified (except for) Bloomerheaven Measurement 
16 Unqualified Arthur Andersen & Co Measurement 
17 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Recognition 
18 Qualified (except for) Blakemores Measurement 
19 Qualified (except for) N.T. O'Reilly & Partners Measurement 
20 Qualified (disclaimer) Copeland & Co. Recognition 
21 Unqualified Coopers & Lybrand Measurement 
22 Unqualified Coopers & Lybrand Disclosure 
24 Unqualified Kingston Smith Disclosure 
25 Qualified (except for) Ernst & Young Recognition 
26 Unqualified KPMG Peat Marwick Measurement 
27 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Disclosure 
28 Unqualified Coopers & Lybrand Measurement 
29 Unqualified Coopers & Lybrand Disclosure 
30 Qualified (except for) Cooper Lancaster Brewers Disclosure 
31 Unqualified Downie Wilson Measurement 
32 Unqualified KPMG Peat Marwick Recognition 
33 Unqualified Coopers & Lybrand Measurement 
34 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Disclosure 
35 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Disclosure 
36 Unqualified Baker Tilly Measurement 
37 Qualified (except for) Touche Ross & Co Recognition 
38 Unqualified KPMG Measurement 
39 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Measurement 
40 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Measurement 
41 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Measurement 
42 Unqualified Nevil Hovey & Co. Measurement 
43 Unqualified Cooper Lancaster Brewers Measurement 
44 Unqualified Clarke Whitehill Recognition 
45 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Disclosure 
46 Qualified (except for) Ernst & Young Recognition 
47 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Disclosure 
48 Unqualified Coopers & Lybrand Disclosure 
49 Unqualified Price Waterhouse Recognition 
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Analysis of the auditors, the auditing firms' office location, and their opinions on 

whether the accounts present a true and fair view, provided in Table 5.7, shows that all of 

the Big Six accounting firms have had a client that was the subject of a press notice. 

Price Waterhouse with 12 (27.9%) of the 43 cases, ten from the London office, clearly 

leads the Big Six in terms of press notices per audit firm. More interesting is the fact that 

in all 12 cases Price Waterhouse expressed an unqualified opinion in its auditors' report. 

This relatively high number of unqualified opinions deemed questionable by the FRRP 

coupled with the fact that Price Waterhouse is one of three auditing firms to have had two 

press notices issued for the same client,136 suggests that Price Waterhouse continues to 

view professional judgment (applicability of a standard as appropriate in a given 

circumstance) as paramount and is willing to challenge the ASB and the FRRP. One 

might expect this high number of unqualified audit reports to pique the interest of the 

audit firm's regulatory bodies (English Institute and Scottish Institute). However, to date 

none of the audit firms' regulatory bodies have taken disciplinary action against any 

auditors of the companies mentioned in the FRRP's press notices (Brandt et al. 1997). 

The high number of cases involving unqualified audit reports and Big Six auditors 

indicates that the FFRP is not afraid to investigate and challenge the judgment of auditors 

influential in the profession. Proposition 5 suggested that if the FRRP did challenge the 

auditors judgment (e.g., the financial statements had received an unqualified opinion), 

more of the cases would involve only disclosure issues. 

136 The other two were Coopers Lancaster and Brewers, auditors for Butte Mining 
pic, and auditors for Associated Nursing Services pic, Clarke Whitehall. 
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TABLE 5.7 

PN Auditors Auditors' Office Auditors'Opinion 
16 Arthur Andersen & Co London Unqualified 
36 Baker Tilly London Unqualified 
18 Blakemores London Qualified (except for) 
15 Bloomerheaven Birmingham Qualified (except for) 
11 Clarke Whitehall Birmingham Unqualified 
44 Clarke Whitehill London Unqualified 
30 Cooper Lancaster Brewers London Qualified (except for) 
43 Cooper Lancaster Brewers London Unqualified 
22 Coopers & Lybrand Birmingham Unqualified 
21 Coopers & Lybrand Edinburgh Unqualified 
28 Coopers & Lybrand London Unqualified 
29 Coopers & Lybrand London Unqualified 
33 Coopers & Lybrand London Unqualified 
48 Coopers & Lybrand London Unqualified 
12 Coopers & Lybrand Deloitte London Qualified (except for) 
20 Copeland & Co. London Qualified (disclaimer) 
31 Downie Wilson Glasgow Unqualified 
10 Drury Thurgood London Unqualified 
4 Ernst & Young London Qualified (except for) 
25 Ernst & Young Manchester Qualified (except for) 
46 Ernst & Young Southampton Qualified (except for) 
24 Kingston Smith London Unqualified 
38 KPMG Leeds Unqualified 
32 KPMG Peat Marwick Dundee Unqualified 
26 KPMG Peat Marwick London Unqualified 
19 N.T. O'Reilly & Partners Penrith Qualified (except for) 
42 Nevil Hovey & Co. Plymouth Unqualified 
5 Pannell Kerr Forster Derby Unqualified 
47 Price Waterhouse Glasgow Unqualified 
7 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
14 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
17 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
34 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
35 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
39 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
40 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
41 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
45 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
49 Price Waterhouse London Unqualified 
27 Price Waterhouse Manchester Unqualified 
6 Stoy Hayward London Qualified (except for) 
13 Touche Ross & Co London Unqualified 
37 Touche Ross & Co London Qualified (except for) 
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Analysis of the 43 cases indicates that ten (90.9% of 11 cases) of the cases involving only 

disclosure issues and 22 (68.8% of 32 cases) of the cases involving recognition and 

measurement issues included annual accounts containing an unqualified audit opinion. 

These numbers suggest that the FRRP is willing to investigate and challenge the 

professional judgment of accountants of companies and their auditors on issues requiring 

high and low levels of professional judgment. Further examination of the 22 cases 

involving recognition and measurement issues shows that in five of these cases, the 

FRRP deemed only the company's disclosure as deficient, not the accounting treatment 

(recognition and measurement). 

The higher proportion of unqualified audit opinions for the disclosure only cases 

(90.9% vs. 68.8% for the recognition and measurement cases) and the five recognition 

and measurement cases just described, provides limited evidence that the FRRP may have 

compromised with the auditing profession. Even after removing these five cases the 

number of cases where the FRRP has clearly challenged the professional judgment of the 

auditor (17 cases or 53.1% of the 32 cases) remains substantial. Overall, the evidence is 

inconclusive and not sufficient to indicate the FRRP has compromised on a large scale 

with the auditing profession. 

FRRP Investigation Time 

Articles in the press, individuals, corporate bodies, and the Stock Exchange 

provide the FRRP's four main sources of complaints with respect to accounts. The Stock 

Exchange routinely provides the names of listed companies with qualified audit reports or 

companies that have disclosed non-compliance with accounting requirements (Brandt et 
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al. 1997). I examined the time the FRRP spent on the cases resulting in press notices by 

calculating the approximate investigation time for each of the 43 press notices. My 

calculation of the FRRP investigation time assumes that the date of the audit report 

represents the earliest point in time that the FRRP would learn of possible non-

compliance with accounting regulations. 

In actuality the FRRP may not receive notification of a problem until several 

months later, but because the FRRP does not disclose the actual day it received the initial 

complaint or the day it began its investigation, the date of the audit report provides a 

uniform starting date for all cases. 

The FRRP also does not provide the date the FRRP and company agreed on the 

corrective action, so I used the earlier of three dates as the date the parties agreed upon 

the necessary action: (1) the signing of the audit report for the document providing the 

correction, (2) the publication date of the document, and (3) the date of the FRRP press 

notice. With this adjustment I assume that the company's auditors did not audit the 

corrective action before the FRRP and company had reached agreement. I provide the 

FRRP's investigation time, the auditors' opinion on the financial statements, and the 

classification of the accounting issues in the press notice in Table 5.8. 

The average investigation time for all forty-three cases was 308.0 days. 

Proposition 6 suggested that the FRRP spends more time on average investigating cases 

where the auditor had expressed an unqualified audit report on the financial statements. 
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TABLE 5.8 

PN Time (Days) Auditors' Opinion Accounting Issues 
4 328 Qualified (except for) Measurement 
5 316 Unqualified Measurement 
6 175 Qualified (except for) Measurement 
7 281 Unqualified Recognition 
10 363 Unqualified Measurement 
11 277 Unqualified Recognition 
12 247 Qualified (except for) Measurement 
13 318 Unqualified Measurement 
14 243 Unqualified Disclosure 
15 230 Qualified (except for) Measurement 
16 361 Unqualified Measurement 
17 385 Unqualified Recognition 
18 322 Qualified (except for) Measurement 
19 258 Qualified (except for) Measurement 
20 244 Qualified (disclaimer) Recognition 
21 250 Unqualified Measurement 
22 256 Unqualified Disclosure 
24 384 Unqualified Disclosure 
25 374 Qualified (except for) Recognition 
26 318 Unqualified Measurement 
27 350 Unqualified Disclosure 
28 297 Unqualified Measurement 
29 343 Unqualified Disclosure 
30 296 Qualified (except for) Disclosure 
31 326 Unqualified Measurement 
32 374 Unqualified Recognition 
33 344 Unqualified Measurement 
34 171 Unqualified Disclosure 
35 209 Unqualified Disclosure 
36 354 Unqualified Measurement 
37 330 Qualified (except for) Recognition 
38 357 Unqualified Measurement 
39 378 Unqualified Measurement 
40 351 Unqualified Measurement 
41 174 Unqualified Measurement 
42 330 Unqualified Measurement 
43 307 Unqualified Measurement 
44 231 Unqualified Recognition 
45 364 Unqualified Disclosure 
46 363 Qualified (except for) Recognition 
47 352 Unqualified Disclosure 
48 361 Unqualified Disclosure 
49 350 Unqualified Recognition 
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I estimated that the FRRP spent an average of 314.8 days investigating cases where the 

auditors had expressed an unqualified opinion and an average of 287.9 days on cases 

where the auditors gave a qualified opinion and stated that the annual accounts in their 

entirety do not present a true and fair view. The difference of 26.9 days provides some 

limited support for the proposition that the FRRP engages in more discussion with the 

auditors and company management in cases where the professional judgment of the 

management of the company and the auditor is questioned—the unqualified audit 

opinion. An alternative explanation is that the difference is that financial statements with 

an unqualified audit opinion take longer to receive the attention of the FRRP, an 

explanation I cannot verify without knowing the date the investigation began.137 Insights 

into whether the FRRP threatens the application of professional judgment emerged from 

analysis of investigation time by type of accounting issue (proposition 7). 

UK accounting standards, auditing standards, and company law require 

accountants and auditors to exercise professional judgment in the compilation and review 

of financial statements. The review of annual accounts by the FRRP for non-compliance 

with accounting regulations asks the accountants and/or auditors of the companies to 

justify their professional judgment. Measurement and recognition issues generally 

require a greater degree of professional judgment. Proposition 7 suggested that the FRRP 

would spend more time investigating and discussing cases involving measurement and 

recognition issues. My analysis of investigation time sub-divided by type of accounting 

137 As stated previously the FRRP does not provide information on specific cases 
other than the information contained in the press notices. 
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issue indicates that on average the FRRP spent 309.8 days reviewing cases involving 

recognition or measurement issues and 302.6 days on cases involving only disclosure 

issues. Division of investigation time by audit opinion and type of accounting issue (see 

Table 5.9) provides further insights into the potential role of the auditors' opinion and 

professional judgment in the FRRP investigation process. 

The time spent on the case involving only disclosure issues where the auditors had 

expressed a qualified opinion was 296.0 days, while the average time spent on the cases 

involving measurement or recognition issues that were the subject of a qualified audit 

report was 287.1 days. The average time spent on cases involving only disclosure cases 

where the auditors had expressed an unqualified audit report was 303.3 days while the 

average time for cases involving recognition or measurement issues was 320.9 days. 

TABLE 5.9 
Comparison of Average Investigation Time by Audit Opinion and Type of Accounting 

Issue 

Accounting Issue 

Recognition or 
Measurement 

Disclosure 

Auditors' Opinion 

Unqualified Qualified 

320.9 days 287.1 days 309.8 days <N II n=10 n=32 

303.3 days 296.0 days 302.6 days 
n=10 n-1 n=ll 

314.8 days 287.9 days 
n=32 n=ll 
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When the auditor formed an alliance with management (issued an unqualified 

audit opinion), the average investigation time was greater for accounting issues requiring 

a higher degree of professional judgment (e.g., recognition and measurement issues) than 

the average investigation time for accounting issues requiring relatively lower levels of 

professional judgment (e.g., disclosure issues). When the auditor formed an alliance with 

the FRRP (qualified opinion), the average investigation time was less for accounting 

issues requiring more professional judgment (e.g., recognition and measurement issues) 

than the average investigation time for accounting issues requiring relatively lower levels 

of professional judgment (e.g., disclosure issues). 

These numbers could suggest that the auditors' professional judgment plays an 

important role in the discussions between the FRRP and the management and auditors of 

the company. If the FRRP challenges the auditors' professional judgment and reputation, 

management may defend their position more vigorously than if the FRRP supports the 

auditors' professional judgment and reputation. Although the difference between the two 

extremes (unqualified/recognition or measurement and qualified/recognition or 

measurement) is 33.6 days, the possibility that annual accounts receiving an unqualified 

opinion take longer to receive the attention of the FFRP, presents a plausible explanation 

for the difference in investigation time observed. 

Explanation of the FRRP's Regulatory Actions 

In this section I go beyond describing the regulatory actions of the FRRP and 

attempt to provide an explanation for these actions. Kaplan (1964,329) defines an 
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explanation as a "concatenated description." An explanation puts one fact or law into 

relation with others. 

Because of the concatenation, each element of what is being described shines, as 
it were, with light reflected from all the others; it is because they come to a 
common focus that together they throw light on what is being explained. We see 
why something happens when we see better—in more detail, or in a broader 
perspective—just what does happen. (Kaplan, 1964, 329) 

Explanations allow us to understand, to make things intelligible and comprehensible. 

"We understand something when we know the reason" (Kaplan, 1964, 332). According 

to Kaplan there are two accounts of reasons that provide understanding, what he terms the 

"pattern model" and the "deductive model."138 In the pattern model we know the reason 

by "fitting it into a known pattern," whereas under the deductive model we "deduce it 

from other known truths" (Kaplan, 1964, 332). Kaplan believed the pattern model more 

easily fits explanations in the early stages of inquiry, and the deductive model 

explanations in later stages. The explanations provided by the pattern model in the early 

stages of inquiry may lead to the formulation of "known truths" for the implementation of 

the deductive model in the latter stages. Clearly my study of the FRRP's regulatory 

actions is in the early stages of inquiry. This suggests that the pattern model may provide 

an appropriate tool for the construction of an explanation of the FRRP's regulatory 

actions. 

138 Kaplan (1964,332-33) does not propose that there only two models of 
explanation. Rather he suggests there are two different "reconstructions of explanations' 
that serve a useful purpose in methodology. 
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Merino and Mayper (1993,243) when discussing the pattern model outlined by 

Kaplan (1964) write, 

[t]his model offers a research tool which enables researchers to deal with 
complex, interrelated phenomena. This model, like deductive models, constructs 
explanations; the difference is that the pattern model does so by relating an event 
to a set of other elements that together... constitute a unified system. Kaplan 
[1964, p.33] defines objectivity as continuously examining evidence to fill in and 
extend the pattern as researchers obtain more knowledge. Complex events are 
made meaningful by identification of causal connections; the resultant explanation 
becomes part of the pattern, but that pattern emerges only retrospectively. 

The descriptive study highlights a pattern for the type of accounting issues tackled by the 

FRRP and the companies and auditors subject to a press notice. By relating the findings 

of my descriptive study to the regulatory space outlined in chapter 3,1 hope to provide an 

initial explanation for the FRRP's pattern of regulatory action. 

I believe the data presented in the descriptive study indicates two distinct time 

periods, 1992-93 and 1994-present. The years 1992 and 1993 were characterized by a 

high level of activity by the FRRP. The FRRP issued 20 of its 43 press notices on 

specific cases during these two years. A large majority of the cases involved non-

compliance with either accounting standards issued under the previous regulatory 

framework by the ASC or regulations introduced into UK company law by the 

Companies Act 1989. 

In the period 1994-present the activities of the FRRP leading to press notices has 

slowed down dramatically. The accounting issues addressed by the FRRP in its press 

notices has changed to focus more on non-compliance with the pronouncements of the 

current regulatory regime, the ASB and the UITF. Press coverage of the creative 
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accounting scandals and the inflation accounting issue during the 1980s exposed serious 

problems with the regulation of financial reporting in the UK. 

The growth in creative accounting practices demonstrated that a significant 

number of companies were willing to circumvent the requirements of accounting 

standards and/or the provisions of company law (e.g., off-balance sheet financing 

schemes and hybrid financial instruments). The profession dominated private-sector 

regulation was unable to promulgate standards to effectively curb these perceived abuses. 

The growth in creative accounting practices exposed the inability of the regulatory 

framework to secure compliance with the spirit of accounting standards and the 

accounting requirements of company law. In particular, creative accounting practices 

drew attention to the declining influence of auditors in financial reporting decisions. 

Once an auditor had allowed a company to adopt a creative accounting practice without 

comment, it became more difficult for other auditors to stop their clients from exploiting 

the same loophole. The inflation accounting issue highlighted the inability of the ASC 

and the unwillingness of auditors, the professional accountancy bodies, and the 

government to enforce compliance with the letter of accounting standards and the 

accounting requirements of company law. 

The perceived inability of the ASC to incorporate changing business practices into 

accounting standards and the profession's inability and unwillingness to enforce the letter 

and spirit of the accounting standards played a role in the demise of the self-regulatory 

framework dominated by the accountancy bodies. The proposals for reform put forward 

by Dearing (1988) and implemented by the present regime provided a solution to these 
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problems. These reforms retained a dominant role for the private-sector in regulation of 

financial reporting in the UK. Dealing and members of the accounting profession 

realized that failure to address the problems of the old regime through the government-

backed private sector body would likely lead to government intervention and a larger role 

for the public sector. The FRC and its subsidiary bodies, the ASB, UITF, and the FRRP 

had to act to restore the confidence in the information provided by companies in their 

financial statements. The FRC had to quickly address the users' and government's lack 

of confidence in the promulgation and enforcement of accounting standards 

The ASB set about changing the approach to standards, providing a strong base 

from which auditors could deny the inappropriate demands of "insistent" clients, and a 

basis for a successful court action by the Financial Reporting Review Panel (Dearing 

1991). This change envisioned by the ASB—new accounting standards and a framework 

of principles to guide the standard-setters, preparers and auditors — would take at least a 

few years to implement. In the meantime the FRC had to be seen as effective in 

addressing the problems of creative accounting practices and non-compliance with 

accounting standards. If the FRRP was perceived as ineffective, then direct government 

intervention would be warranted. 

In this waiting period, the FRC urged company directors and auditors to support 

the new regulatory framework by complying with the new standards. It warned 

accountants that the FRRP would be the least intrusive reform being suggested at the 

time. The alternatives included: (1) adoption of Dealing's (1988) proposal that the onus 

to show that accounts present a true and fair view rest with the company and auditors, (2) 
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creation of a UK SEC, and (3) accounting standards prescribed and enforced by 

government. The latter two alternatives would give a greater role to government and 

likely result in a more detailed set of rules. At the same time, signaling its commitment 

to the public, the FRC emphasized its willingness to use its power to take accountants 

and directors before the courts to force companies to comply with accounting standards 

and the accounting requirements of company law if persuasion failed (FRC 1992). 

I believe the FRRP's press notices in 1992-93 attempted to provide two signals. 

First, the FRRP acted primarily on measurement and recognition issues and audit reports 

of large audit firms to demonstrate that it would end non-compliance. These actions 

served to reassure the public and government that reporting excesses would be curbed. 

Second, the FRRP signaled to preparers and auditors that enforcement would occur, and 

that auditor's judgment (unqualified opinions) would be challenged. The vast majority of 

the early cases involved accounting standards that had a history of compliance or 

interpretation problems (e.g., SSAP 1, SSAP 3, SSAP 6, SSAP 12, SSAP 19, and SSAP 

22) and/or involved recognition accounting issues, the type of issues that were at the heart 

of the creative accounting problems of the 1980s (Mason 1984; Macdonald 1987; 

Tweedie and Whittington 1990; Griffiths 1995). Press notices for accounts that had 

received a qualified opinion gave public support to the auditing profession in disputes 

between the client and the auditor. The fact that these early press notices identified 

companies with adequate resources to challenge any possible court action taken by the 

FRRP enhanced the credibility of the FRRP's public statements threatening such action. 

Investigation of unqualified accounts sent a public message to auditors that the FRRP 
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would investigate and possibly challenge their professional judgment on accounts with 

questionable financial reporting practices. 

Providing evidence of the FRC's intent to solve the compliance problems that had 

played such an influential role in the downfall of the previous regulatory framework 

reduced the immediate risk of government intervention. The government would accept 

that issuing new accounting standards took time, but it would not accept non-compliance 

with existing accounting standards undermining the credibility of financial statements. 

The FRRP's regulatory actions kept the government at arm's length. These early years 

also allowed the FRRP to establish its legitimate and authoritative position within the 

regulatory space of financial reporting. The first twenty press notices allowed the FRRP 

to build its myth (Ritti and Silver 1986). The press notices in the first two years 

established the FRRP as an enforcement body independent of the accounting standards 

process, enforcing compliance with existing accounting standards on a retrospective 

basis. The FRRP's actions attempted to reassure the government and public that the new 

regime could and would tackle the non-compliance problems that brought down the 

previous regulatory framework. A high number of press notices in a relatively short time, 

ritually highlighting non-compliance or questionable practices in the problem areas and 

followed by corrective action, provided the necessary reassurance (Ritti and Silver 1986). 

The ritualistic classification of companies as "non-compliant," followed by classification 

as "compliant" if the company accepted the FRRP's suggested corrections, provided a 

"safe and predictable" outcome for the FRRP and the companies (Ritti and Silver 1986, 

34). 
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The minimal information provided in these early press notices allowed the FRRP 

to pronounce its authority to enforce accounting standards without detailed inspection by 

the public and government of the cases of non-compliance. Companies came to realize 

that as long as they accepted the FRRP's position they could avoid detailed publicity that 

would accompany a court battle, that companies now would find difficult to win against a 

regulatory agency that was backed by the state and was case by case establishing its place 

in the regulatory space of UK financial reporting. By creating the perception that the 

non-compliance problem that had undermined government and public confidence in the 

previous regime was now under control, the FRRP provided the ASB time to develop 

solutions to these problems. At the same time, the FRRP had independently established 

the legitimacy and authority necessary for it to assume its place in the new regime, 

enforcing the ASB's solutions to the problems of UK financial reporting. 

At the beginning of the second period (1994-present) three of the ASB's 

accounting standards had become effective. The FRRP had began to reduce its regulatory 

activities, focusing its press notices predominantly on cases involving enforcement of the 

new standards. The ASB was starting to provide the answers to the problems that had 

troubled the previous regime by issuing its own FRS's and UITF Abstracts. The ASB 

was now attempting to establish its legitimacy in the new regulatory framework and the 

regulatory space. Non-compliance with the accounting standards promulgated by the 

ASB threatened the legitimacy of the new approach to the accounting standard setting 

process. Now the ASB needed the support of the FRRP to enforce compliance with each 

of its new pronouncements. The focus of the FRRP's press notices shifted away from 
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dealing with the compliance problems of the past regime to preventing any compliance 

problems for the present regime. During this second period the FRRP press notices 

predominantly addressed non-compliance with the new accounting pronouncements. In 

the majority of the cases highlighting non-compliance with the ASB's pronouncements, 

the FRRP had reviewed the first set of accounts issued by a company after the new 

pronouncement had become effective. The FRRP moved promptly to send a message to 

the public and government that it would enforce compliance with the new accounting 

standard. It would not allow companies to undermine the public's confidence in the UK 

accounting standard setting process through non-compliance with its accounting 

pronouncements. The press notices in this second period have attempted to provide 

reassurance to the constituents of regulatory space that the FRRP will continue to 

challenge the professional judgment of large companies and large auditors to support the 

accounting standard setting process. After establishing its authority as an enforcement 

body independent of the ASB and UITF, the FRRP has now integrated itself as a vital 

part of the new regime, enforcing accounting standards on a pre-emptive basis. 



CHAPTER 6 

CONCLUSIONS 

Financial Reporting Regulatory Space 1969 - 1972 

The dramatic increase in the number of takeovers during the 1960s coupled with 

the ensuing financial scandals, highlighted the role of professional judgment in 

application of UK accounting principles and the variety in accounting practice. By the 

end of the decade, shareholders and the public had begun to lose confidence in financial 

statements. The government threatened direct intervention if the accountancy profession 

did not introduce reforms to restore confidence in accounting information. The English 

Institute responded to the government threat by announcing plans to establish an 

accounting standard setting process that would narrow the areas of differences and variety 

in accounting practice. By providing this reassurance, the English Institute deterred 

direct government intervention. After securing the right to self-regulation, the English 

Institute was free to shape the regulatory space to protect its own interest and those of 

members of the profession. 

Establishment of an accounting standard setting process involving the other major 

professional accountancy bodies, provided the public and the government with evidence 

that the profession had the problem under control. The rhetorical strategy of "standard 

setting suggested accounting practitioners would have less flexibility in selection of 



199 

accounting techniques. However, the English Institute emphasized the flexibility of the 

new regulatory mechanism to accounting practitioners. They assured practitioners that 

the process would not circumscribe their professional judgment. By involving the other 

professional bodies in the standard setting process, the English Institute conveyed an 

image of a united profession. But, as reflected in Figure 3.1 (p. 32), the English Institute 

controlled the standard setting process by holding the only voting rights. The English 

Institute's domination of the ASSC provided it with ultimate power to ignore the divisive 

issue of enforcement of compliance with accounting standards. The presence of the 

Stock Exchange in the regulatory space, through its listing agreement, allowed the 

Institute to shift the responsibility for enforcement. 

In this initial period of accounting standards, the English Institute created a 

regulatory structure that presented a sense of well-being to the public, but maintained the 

status quo for the professional accountant (Edelman, 1964; Berry 1981). Professional 

judgment remained central to the presentation of a "true and fair view" and no 

enforcement mechanism existed to enforce compliance with the new accounting 

standards. 

Financial Reporting Regulatory Space 1973 - May 1979 

During this second period, the constant threat of government intervention changed 

the structure and relationships of regulatory space. At the beginning of the period, the 

UK accountancy profession faced threats of government from three sources: (1) the 

failure of the profession to deal with the inflation accounting issue, (2) the return to 

power of the Labour Party, and (3) the draft EEC Fourth Directive on the presentation 
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and contents of annual accounts. As Figure 3.2 (p. 68) illustrates, the major professional 

bodies responded to these threats by establishing a representative body, the CCAB, and 

reconstituting the accounting standard setting process to include all six major professional 

organizations as governing bodies. The formation of the CCAB and the democratization 

of the accounting standards setting process reflected the English Institute's recognition of 

the need to present the image of a unified profession to the UK government and EEC 

Commission. Ironically, these new organizations, that allowed the profession to present a 

united front to external critics, also empowered other professional bodies that had not had 

veto power over any accounting standard. 

After the press documented non-compliance with accounting standards in a series 

of financial scandals, the profession faced repeated calls from academics and members of 

the Labour Party for government regulation of the profession. The English Institute, the 

Scottish Institute, and the Association (certified accountants) united and acquiesced under 

the threat of government intervention. They answered government calls to maintain the 

public's confidence in the role of the auditor and financial markets by establishing the 

Auditing Practices Committee and the Joint Investigations Committee, mechanisms 

designed to promulgate and enforce auditing standards. However, the Accounting 

Standards Committee failed in its attempt to compromise with its internal (professional 

bodies) and its external (management and analysts) constituents over the inflation 

accounting issue. The professional bodies exercised their new veto power, and rejected 

the first draft of an inflation accounting standard (ED 18). 
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The EEC's Fourth Directive, increased the influence of the EEC within the 

regulatory space. The Directive, that in the first period threatened the professional 

judgment of accountants, now played a role in lessening the tension between the 

profession and the government. As the Labour government called for the profession's 

expertise and cooperation in responding to the EEC matters such as the Fourth Directive 

and later the Eighth Directive, the threat of government intervention during this period 

decreased. The cooperative effort decreased tension, criticisms decreased and the English 

Institute seized on this opportunity to drop its compliance project. By the end of the 

period, the inability of the new process to generate consensus on a solution to the 

inflation problem, combined with rampant non-compliance, would lead to the eventual 

demise of the ASC. 

Financial Reporting Regulatory Space June 1979 - 1990 

During the last period, the refusal of professional organizations and companies, to 

comply with existing standards or accept new standards undermined the credibility of the 

standard setting process. The rebellion by professional members and companies against 

the proposed inflation accounting standard in the second period had awakened ASC 

leaders to the need for consensus if accounting standards were to be accepted. The ASC 

democratized the process in an effort to gain the needed consensus. As Figure 4.3 (p. 

139) illustrates, a number of organizations moved into positions of influence within the 

ASC. However, the fact that the CCAB bodies took three years to implement the 

proposal for increased democracy in standard setting and rejected the proposal for an 

enforcement agency, reiterated the inability of the professional organizations to 
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compromise without the threat of government intervention. The reformed structure of 

regulatory space orchestrated to gain compliance with accounting standards through 

community wide support, also gave veto power to more organizations. As threat of direct 

government intervention decreased, the accounting organizations became more willing to 

express dissent by exercising their veto power. The failure to gain consensus on inflation 

accounting standard and general non-compliance with other accounting standards, led to a 

crisis of confidence in the standard setting process and the attention of government. 

Failure of the ASC to gain consensus and compliance for the inflation accounting 

standard challenged the legitimacy and authority of the standard setting process. Without 

enforcement of the inflation accounting standard either through consensus of opinion or 

statutory backing from government, non-compliance and creative accounting practices 

became rampant. Public knowledge of the extent of non-compliance undermined the 

confidence in financial statements and the accounting standard setting process. This 

criticism spurred a government review of self-regulation of the profession. The structure 

of the CCAB rendered it impossible for the professional bodies to unite to present 

reforms. The inability of the CCAB to reach compromise solutions on contentious 

issues, combined with an unwillingness of the professional bodies to establish 

enforcement mechanisms, resulted in a restructuring of regulatory space. 

The new structure of regulatory space provides a legal framework for an 

accounting standard setting process independent of the profession. The Financial 

Reporting Review Panel (FRRP), an agency with the power to enforce compliance with 

its standards of company law, was established. After twenty years of accounting standard 
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setting and various reforms of regulatory space to avoid direct government intervention, 

the inability of the profession to reach a compromise on the enforcement issue forced the 

profession to accept government oversight of the accounting standard setting process. To 

make the standard setting process effective, i.e., to ensure compliance, the accountancy 

profession had to cede some of its power to an independent, external body. 

The Financial Reporting Review Panel 

Although the government only expressed a desire to establish the regulatory 

framework, the Financial Reporting Council and its subsidiaries needed to solve the 

problems that had played such an influential role in the downfall of the previous 

regulatory framework. The new Chairman of the FRC, Sir Ron Dealing, and the 

accounting profession, realized that failure to address these problems would likely lead to 

further government intervention. The Accounting Standards Board (ASB), Urgent Issues 

Task Force (UITF), and the FRRP had to restore confidence in financial statements. The 

ASB set out to change the approach to accounting standard setting. It further 

democratized and politicized the process. The ASB sought to develop a new framework 

of principles that would guide standard setters, preparers and auditors, but the ASB's task 

would take at least two years. The UITF would provide interim guidance and 

authoritative statements. While the ASB set about its task of correcting the problems of 

the existing accounting standards, the FRRP was attempting to restore the credibility of 

financial statements by enforcing compliance with existing standards. 

The FRRP's press releases in 1992-93 signaled business community, public, and 

government that the agency would not tolerate non-compliance. Through its early 
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regulatory actions, the FRRP established independence and clearly demonstrated its 

willingness to enforce accounting standards that had been widely ignored in prior periods. 

The FRRP also demonstrated its willingness to challenge the professional judgment of 

management and auditors. The FRRP selected cases involving large companies to 

demonstrate the panel had the authority to sanction anyone. This served to enhance the 

FRRP's credibility. Press notices on annual accounts that contained qualified audit 

reports gave public support to the auditing profession in disputes between the client and 

the auditor. Cases examining financial statements with qualified audit reports sent a 

public message to auditors that the FRRP would investigate and possibly challenge their 

professional judgment in situations of non-compliance. 

The ritualistic classification of companies as non-compliant followed by 

classification as compliant, coupled with the minimal information provided in the early 

press notices, provided a safe and predictable outcome for the FRRP and the companies. 

The minimal information provided in the press notices allowed the FRRP to pronounce 

its authority to enforce accounting standards without detailed inspection by the public and 

government of the cases of non-compliance. Companies came to realize that as long as 

they accepted the FRRP's position, they could avoid detailed publicity that would 

accompany any court battle; a battle companies now would find difficult to win against a 

regulatory agency backed by the state. By creating the perception that the non-

compliance problem that had undermined government and public confidence in the 

previous regime was now under control, the FRRP provided the ASB time to develop 

solutions to these problems. At the same time the FRRP had independently established 
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its legitimacy and authority necessary for it to assume its place in regulatory space as the 

enforcement agency for the standard setting process. 

When the ASB started to issue accounting standards, the FRRP reduced its 

regulatory activities and focused its press notices on cases involving enforcement of the 

new standards. The FRRP's actions served to legitimize ASB pronouncements. By 

responding quickly to non-compliance with new standards, the FRRP signaled the 

corporate world and professional accountants that the new standards would be enforced. 

The focus of the FRRP's press notices shifted away from dealing with the compliance 

problems of the past regime to preventing non-compliance with the standards of the new 

accounting standards setting process. 

The FRRP moved promptly to send a message to the public and government. It 

would not allow companies to undermine the public's confidence in financial statements 

through non-compliance with the ASB's accounting standards. The press notices in this 

second period attempted to provide reassurance to the constituents of regulatory space 

that the FRRP will continue to challenge the professional judgment of large companies 

and their audit firms when necessary. After establishing its authority as an enforcement 

body independent of the ASB and UITF, the FRRP has now integrated itself as a vital 

part of the accounting standard setting process, enforcing accounting standards on a pre-

emptive basis. 

Contribution 

The institutional historical study provides an understanding of: (1) the 

development of the complex and dynamic relationships between the various organizations 
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occupying the financial reporting regulatory space, (2) the strategies used by the 

organizations in the regulatory space, (3) the factors that create incentives for reform or 

present barriers to reform of regulatory space, and (4) the evolution of the UK accounting 

standard setting process from a technical discipline dominated by the English Institute to 

a democratized political process. My analysis of the FRRP's press notices: (1) provides 

an understanding of the role the FRRP has played in this new regulatory framework, (2) 

explains how the FRRP has served to legitimate the ASB, and (3) highlights how the 

limited information provided by the FRRP in its press notices restricts the public's 

assessment of the agency's regulatory actions. 

Limitations 

The limitations of this study center on the availability of data for the historical and 

descriptive analyses and the propensity for secrecy in the UK. The institutional historical 

analysis was limited by the availability of archival data. Primary data collected from the 

ASC Archive and CCAB files did not contain all of the documents originally produced 

by these organizations. In particular, much of the correspondence between the officials of 

these bodies and government was not made available to the researcher. The data has been 

screened and important contributing factors may have existed that could not be identified. 

However, this limitation has been somewhat mitigated by personal interviews with key 

players. Perhaps, more critically, the descriptive study was limited by the m i n i m a l 

information provided in FRRP press notices. A desire to protect the confidentiality of the 

companies under review prevents researchers from analyzing the FRRP's regulatory 

actions with respect to annual accounts that did not result in a press notice. As long as 
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confidentiality overrides full disclosure, researchers will be forced to make inferences 

that may not be justified. The inability to examine cases referred to the FRRP that did 

not result in any action further limits empirical analysis. Analyses of these cases would 

provide further insights into the FRRP's reviews leading to a press notice and subsequent 

enforcement of the accounting requirements. 

Extensions 

Possible extensions of this study are numerous. In-depth examination of 

individual cases using a case-study methodology could provide further insights into the 

FRRP's regulatory actions and the relationship between the FRRP, management, and 

auditors during the enforcement process. Investigation of financial reporting practices 

after the FRRP press notices is certainly worthy of further research and would provide 

knowledge on the impact of the FRRP's decisions on non-compliance with UK 

accounting requirements. 

The similarities between the development of the UK standard setting process and 

the development of the US standard setting process warrant a comparative study. Also in 

light of the International Accounting Standards Committee's (IASC) attempts at 

promulgating global accounting standards, an international comparative study of financial 

reporting enforcement agencies could provide valuable insights for the debate on 

enforcement of global accounting standards. 

Summary 

This dissertation examined the evolution of accounting standard setting process 

from 1969 to through 1997. At the beginning of the period, UK chartered accountants 
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had achieved worldwide recognition for their expertise and had achieved professional 

status. The public and the government viewed accounting as primarily a technical 

discipline that could only be controlled by its expert practitioners. Therefore, self 

regulation was not questioned. The Companies Acts provided the basic guidance for the 

profession, requiring that financial statements present a "true and fair" view. Since the 

term "true and fair" was not defined, the selection of accounting treatments, appropriate 

to a particular circumstance, was left to the audit firm. There was no standard setting 

body and accountants relied on professional judgement, the cornerstone of their claim to 

professional status, to select appropriate accounting principles. The institutes of 

chartered accountants (England, Scotland and Ireland) controlled the regulatory processes 

in each country, but the English Institute clearly was the most powerful and dominant 

accounting organization at the time. A series of financial scandals, related to mergers 

and acquisitions in the late 1960s, brought unwanted attention to the accounting 

profession. The popular press publicized the wide latitude that accountants had in 

selecting accounting principles and outrage against the "creative accounting" used in 

several high profile takeovers led to a questioning of the effectiveness of the accounting 

monitoring process by the government and the public. 

The year 1969 marks the beginning of the period when the conception of 

accounting would change. As time progressed, accounting would come to be seen as a 

political, as well as technical discipline, too important to be left to the sole discretion of 

its practitioners. The financial reporting regulatory space would change dramatically 

over the period as more players (both internal and external) became an integral part of a 
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formal standard setting process, established to restore investor confidence in financial 

reports. My institutional historical analysis of the period from 1969 through 1990 traces 

the changes in regulatory space that occurred as the profession sought to retain its 

prerogative to set standards but was forced to democratize the process to gain consensus. 

While the profession responded to a variety of events that eroded public confidence and 

led to threats of government intervention effectively (i.e., standard setting remained in the 

private sector), the need to gain consensus among accountants, corporate managers, and 

users of financial statement dramatically expanded the players in regulatory space. 

By 1990 confidence in the standard setting process once again reached a nadir as many 

accountants, including the most prestigious audit firms, refused to comply with ASC 

standards. Another series of financial scandals and the inability to handle inflation 

accounting that generated harsh criticism from the press suggested that a standard setting 

process that did not force compliance was intolerable. 

The profession had never established a mechanism to ensure that practitioners 

comply with existing standards compliance. While the professional organizations had the 

authority, through acts discreditable to the profession, to discipline their members, the 

exhibited little desire to take on that responsibility. When it became clear that the 

profession would not curb non-compliance, the government stepped in and with the help 

of accountants set up an independent agency, the Financial Review Reporting Panel, that 

had the legal authority to force compliance with standards. The standard setting process 

no longer remained solely under the control of the profession. 
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The latter part of this dissertation contains an archival analysis of the FRRP's role 

in establishing an effective accounting standard setting process. That analysis showed 

that in the early years the FRRP sought to signal the public that it would not tolerate non-

compliance with existing standards. When the ASB began to issue new standards the 

FRRP shifted focus to ensure compliance with the new standards. The FRRP has become 

an important adjunct in establishing the credibility of the new process. 
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APPENDIX A 

OUTLINE OF FRRP PROCEDURES FOR INVESTIGATING ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

FRRP investigations of non-compliance with accounting standards or the 

requirements of the Companies Act in a company's annual accounts are guided by the 

FRRP's Procedures for Handling Individual Cases. Figure 1 diagrams the FRRP's 

procedures. 

Figure 1 
Financial Reporting Review Panel Procedures 

Cases Not 
to Pursue 

Complaint/ 
Press Comments 

Review by Accountants 
on staff of FRC 

Review by Chairman & 
Deputy Chairman of 

FRRP 

X 
X 

Minor Cases Cases of Apparent 
Substance 

Case Discussion with 
Closed Company 

Discussion with 
Company 

Negotiated Court 
Settlement Order 

Case 
Closed 

Negotiated 
Settlement 

Court 
Order 

Case 
Closed 

Case 
Closed 

Case 
Closed 

The FRRP investigates matters drawn to its attention either directly, through 

complaints or qualified audit reports for companies listed on the London Stock Exchange, 

or indirectly, from sources such as press coverage of non-compliance. The FRRP does 
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not disclose the names of the complainants or the source of press comment. On receiving 

a written complaint about the annual accounts of particular company, the secretary 

acknowledges receipt of the complaint to the complainant. The complaint or matter 

drawn to the FRRP's attention is initially reviewed by the accountants on the common 

staff of the FRC, ASB, and FRRP. The FRRP has no legal obligation to investigate every 

complaint and investigates anonymous complaints based on the substance of the 

complaint (Treadgold 1997a). The chairman and deputy chairman of the FRRP are 

informed of the complaint and the preliminary advice of the accountants on common 

staff. The chairman and deputy chairman may then consult with two or more members of 

the FRRP on the next step. At this point the chairman can seek a specialist's advice on 

whether there is a case of substance. The purpose of these initial reviews is the 

categorization of the individual case. The cases fall into one of three categories: cases not 

to pursue, minor cases, and cases of apparent substance. The FRRP follows different 

procedures for each of these categories. 

If the chairman decides not to pursue the case further, the secretary informs the 

complainant of the decision and the case is closed. The FRRP does not announce 

publicly the receipt of the complaint or its decision not to pursue the case further. The 

secretary of the FRRP pursues cases designated as minor. He writes to the company 

inviting comments and requesting a reply within 14 days. The reply is forwarded to the 

chairman and deputy chairman, accompanied by any comments and further advice the 

secretary has received from the inquiries with the common staff accountants or others. 

The chairman then decides whether further action is warranted. If the chairman decides 
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not to pursue the case further, the secretary informs the company and the complainant, 

and the case is closed. In cases designated as warranting further actions but not of 

apparent substance, the chairman, and at his discretion other members of the FRRP, hold 

informal discussions with the company on the necessary remedial action. Examples of 

minor cases include balance sheets that do not add up and "disclosures missing an extra 

bit" (Treadgold 1997a). The company with annual accounts under complaint which is 

considered to now have apparent substance is informed of this decision in writing by the 

chairman. 

If the chairman decides the case has apparent substance, he writes to the chairman 

of the company concerned. This correspondence informs the company of the question of 

non-compliance with the act; draws attention to the FRRP's powers, including its right to 

apply to the court; provides a copy of the FRRP's procedures; and invites the directors to 

comment. The company is allowed one month to reply to this initial letter. In this period 

company directors and/or officials may meet with the secretary for clarification of the 

contents of the chairman's letter and the procedures of the FRRP. On dispatch of the 

letter to the company, the chairman decides whether to form a group for the inquiry 

immediately or to wait for the company's reply. The secretary may then arrange a 

contingent date or dates for a meeting between the directors of the company and the 

company's auditors (if the company chooses) and the group/chairman (depending on 

whether a group is formed yet). After receiving the reply letter from the directors of the 

company, the chairman (after consultation with the deputy chairman, and if appropriate, 

other members of the FRRP) decides whether to proceed immediately to the group 
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meeting or seek further information from the company. If and when the chairman decides 

upon involvement of the group, the secretary will make arrangements for the formation of 

the group. 

A group requires a minimum of four members of the FRRP but usually consists of 

five or six members. The secretary endeavors to ensure that the group includes a lawyer 

and an accountant (Treadgold 1997a). The group is chaired by the chairman of the FRRP 

whenever possible. If the chairman is unable to chair the group, the secretary ensures that 

its membership includes another lawyer from the FRRP. The members considered for a 

group are asked to declare any conflicts of interest with the case. What constitutes a 

conflict of interest is not defined in the official procedures of the FRRP, but 

conversations with the secretary indicate that examples include material share holdings, 

present or previous business relationships, and family relationships. Members have 

withdrawn themselves for consideration due to apparent conflicts of interest (Treadgold 

1997a). The selection of members for a group is a balance between matching the details 

of the case and the members' expertise and an awareness of the need to "share the work 

out" among the voluntary members of the FRRP (Treadgold, 1997a). After forming the 

group, the secretary arranges (or confirms) a meeting ("hearing") between the group and 

the directors of the company. The directors of the company are permitted to invite their 

auditors or lawyers to this meeting. The hearing is conducted in private. After the 

hearing and any subsequent hearings, the group deliberates on its course of action. 

In cases where the group is satisfied by the directors' comments or voluntary 

action, an application to the court is not made. When a company has agreed voluntarily to 
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take corrective action, the FRRP will normally make a public announcement. If no 

corrective action is required, the FRRP will only make a public announcement after 

consultation with the company and possibly the Stock Exchange. If the group remains 

unsatisfied with the company's explanation or the corrective action proposed by the 

company, it will write to the directors of the company. In this letter, the group sets out its 

grounds for dissatisfaction and informs the directors that it is considering making an 

application to the court: The directors are given 14 days to make further comments 

before the FRRP can make the application. If the directors' further comments or the 

company's voluntary action do not satisfy the group, it may then vote on whether to make 

an application to the court. An application to the court is made in the name of the 

company—The Financial Reporting Review Panel—by its solicitors and counsel. At this 

time, the secretary informs the Registrar of Companies and issues a public announcement 

of the application. 
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APPENDIX B 

LIST OF INTERVIEWS WITH KEY PLAYERS IN REGULATORY SPACE 

Date of 
Interview Interviewee Positions Held 

11/12/97 Ian Hay Davison 

11/14/97 Tom Watts 

11/19/97 Desmond Wright 

11/20/97 
and 
11/27/97 

11/26/97 

11/26/97 

Michael Renshall 

Professor Robert Perks 

Sir Bryan Carsberg 

11/27/97 Sydney Treadgold 

11/27/97 Sir Ron Dearing 

Chairman of Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) 
(1982-84). 

Chairman of ASC (1978-82). 

UK representative in negotiations for EEC 4th Directive. 

Secretary of ASC (1987-90). 
Former journalist for Accountancy Age and Accountants 
Weekly in 1970s and 1980s. 
Chairman of ASC (1986-90). 
Member of ASC (1984-90). 
Technical Director of Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (ICAEW) (1969-77). 
Deputy Chairman of Financial Reporting Review Panel 
(FRRP) (1990-96). 

Lecturer and Professor of Accounting at a number of UK 
universities, including : University of Strathclyde; 
Queens University, Belfast; and Birkbeck College, 
University of London. 

Presently Secretary-General, International Accounting 
Standards Committee. 
Member of Dearing Committee. 
Former vice-chairman of Accounting Standards Board 
(ASB). 
Observer member of ASC. 
Professor of Accounting at University of Manchester and 
London School of Economics. 

Civil servant at Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) 
(1965-1990). 
Member of Accounting Standards Task Group. 
Former Secretary of ASB 
Presently Secretary of Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC) and Secretary of FRRP. 

Chairman of Dearing Committee. 
Chairman of Accounting Standards Task Group. 
Chairman of FRC (1990-1993). 
Civil servant at DTI for 40 years. 



APPENDIX C 

ACCOUNTING ISSUES IN FRRP CASES 

AND CLASSIFICATION OF CASES 



220 

APPENDIX C 

ACCOUNTING ISSUES IN FRRP CASES AND CLASSIFICATION OF CASES 

PN Accounting Issue(s) 
4 Unrelieved portion of advance corporation 

tax dividends recorded as part of 
dividends. 

5 (a) Exceptional items reported net of tax. 
(b) Earnings per share reported before 
exceptional items. 

6 Reduction in carrying value of certain 
properties, investments, and loans treated 
as prior year adjustment instead of loss for 
current year. 

7 Accounting policies for: 
(a) capitalization of interest, 
(b) deferred expenses on major 
information technology projects, 
(c) non-depreciation of freehold and long 
leasehold properties, and 
(d) variation between date of signing of 
balance sheet and auditors' report. 

10 Accounting policies for overseas assets 
with respect to: 
(a) non-depreciation of properties 
described as leasehold and lease rentals Measurement 
and 
(b) transfer to reserves and additional 
depreciation resulting from asset Measurement 
revaluation to reserves. 

11 (a) Accounting treatment of start-up costs. Recognition 
(b) Adequacy of explanation for change in 
accounting policy. Disclosure 

12 Certain items reported as exceptional 
items instead of extraordinary items by 
adopting exposure draft (FRED 1) early. Measurement 
Reported as extraordinary items in 
previous years. 

Classification 
of Issue 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Classification 
of Case 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Measurement 
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PN 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Accounting Issue(s) 
(a) Reclassification of certain properties 
from current assets to fixed assets. 
(b) Amount of advance corporation tax 
carried in balance sheet. 
(c) Disclosure for provision for write-
down of investment. 
(d) Compliance with statutory format of 
profit and loss account. 
(a) Annual accounts included profit and 
loss account for twelve-month period 
instead of nine-month period as required 
after change in year end. 
(b) Nine-month profit and loss account in 
notes did not provide earnings per share. 
(a) Treatment of stock (inventory) 
provisions as prior year item. 
(b) Non-depreciation of freehold 
properties. 
Consistency of treatment of costs of 
closure in profit and loss account— 
provision treated as extraordinary item but 
write-back treated as exceptional item. 
(a) Non-disclosure of executive director 
emoluments. 
(b) Non-consolidation of subsidiary. 
Investment properties not recorded at 
market value. 

Classification 
of Issue 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Classification 
of Case 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Disclosure 
Recognition 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Measurement 

(a) Inadequate disclosure for particulars 
and reasons of restatement of comparative Measurement and 
figures for previous year. Disclosure. 
(b) Typographical error in cash flow 
statement. Disclosure 
(a) Non-consolidation of subsidiary. Recognition 
(b) Cash flow statement not provided. Disclosure 
(c) No statement that accounts had been 
prepared in accordance with applicable Recognition 
accounting standards with disclosure of 
reasons for any material departures from 
standards. Disclosure 
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Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Classification 
PN Accounting Issue(s) of Issue 
21 Treated credit from change in accounting 

policy for deferment of acquisition 
expenses as exceptional item in profit and Measurement 
loss account rather than prior year 
adjustment. 

22 Incorrect treatment of cash flow impact 
from disposal of businesses. 

24 (a) Cash equivalent element of cash flow 
statement included significant items not 
permitted as cash equivalents according to 
definition in accounting standard. 
(b) Exceptional profit and related goodwill 
described as arising from sale of Disclosure 
companies by parent to subsidiary when in 
fact they arose from placing on the market 
some of the parent's shares in the 
subsidiary. 

25 Change in accounting policy for goodwill 
arising on consolidation from immediate Recognition and 
write-off to reserves, to capitalization and Measurement 
amortization. 

26 Revalued associated company by an 
amount equal to goodwill previously 
written off. 

27 Items in cash flow statement: 
(a) included value of shares issued as 
consideration for acquisition in cash 
outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries. 
(b) did not include negative balances of 
cash and cash equivalents in cash 
consideration for acquisition of 
subsidiaries. 
(c) interest receivable and interest 
receivable not on cash basis. 

28 Accounting treatment and disclosure of 
reverse premiums received in respect of 
leases. 

Classification 
of Case 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 
Measurement and 
Disclosure Measurement 
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PN Accounting Issue(s) 
29 Compliance with statutory format for 

profit and loss account with respect to 
exceptional items. 

30 (a) Treatment of overdraft as liability 
falling due after more than one year, 
(b) Cash flow statement did not include 
receipt from sale of equity investment and 
repayment of loan because treated as cash 
equivalent. 

31 Treatment and disclosure of disposal of 
50% of interest in subsidiary to directors 
of subsidiary. 

32 Non-consolidation of subsidiary. 
33 Accounting policy for installment and hire 

purchase transactions—total amount due 
under long-term credit agreements 
included in sales and operating profit and 
transfers to deferred profit reserve. 

34 (a) Non-equity interests in analysis of 
shareholder funds between equity and 
non-equity interests reported at nominal 
value instead of net proceeds from issue, 
(b) Incomplete summary of rights of each 
class of shares. 

35 Goodwill arising from acquisition 
disclosed net of merger relief instead of 
gross and separate disclosure of merger 
relief. 

36 Incorrect analysis of shareholder funds 
between equity and non-equity 
interests—participating preference shares 
included within non-equity interests. 

Classification 
of Issue 

Disclosure 

Classification 
of Case 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Measurement and 
Disclosure 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Measurement Measurement 
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Measurement 

Classification 
PN Accounting Issue(s) of Issue 
37 (a) No recognition of financial cost of 

redeemable convertible preference shares 
issued by subsidiary for period up to date 
of disposal of controlling interest in 
subsidiary. Recognition 
(b) Company did not give details of 
material departure from applicable 
accounting standards. Disclosure 

38 Treated assets held for rental as stock 
(inventory) within current assets instead of Measurement 
fixed assets. 

39 Investment in associated undertakings 
stated in consolidated balance sheet at 
director's or market valuation instead of 
according to equity method. Inadequate 
explanation given for departure from 
accounting standard. 

40 (a) Incorrect analysis of shareholder funds 
between equity and non-equity interests 
and accrued dividends included within 
creditors. 
(b) Inadequate summary of rights of 
cumulative preference shares and deferred 
shares. 

41 (a) Incorrect analysis of shareholder funds 
between equity and non-equity interests. 
(b) Inadequate summary of rights of non-
equity shares. 

42 (a) Non-amortization of government 
grants on certain fixed assets. 
(b) Inadequate disclosures for use of true 
and fair override for treatment of 
government grants and non-depreciation 
of investment properties. 

43 Recognized profit on all shares received as 
consideration for services rendered in 
profit and loss account for year when 
trading of some shares subject to 
restrictions. 

Classification 
of Case 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Disclosure 

Measurement 

Recognition 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 

Measurement 
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PN 
44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

Classification 
Accounting Issue(s) of Issue 
(a) Treatment of companies as associated 
undertakings instead of quasi-subsidiaries. Recognition 
(b) Recognition of sale of assets in sale 
and leaseback transaction instead of 
recorded as financing transaction. 
Inadequate disclosure for fair value 
adjustment in year subsequent to 
acquisition of subsidiary. 
Company did not include income, 
expenses, and assets for company 
employee share ownership plan in 
accounts. 

Recognition 

Disclosure 

Recognition 

Inadequate disclosure of decision not to 
include sale in results for year. 
Inadequate information and explanations 
for fair value adjustments. 
Consolidated accounts did not include 
equalization reserves (charges to profit 
and loss account and liability). 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Recognition 

Classification 
of Case 

Recognition 

Disclosure 

Recognition 

Disclosure 

Disclosure 

Recognition 
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APPENDIX D 

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND COMPANIES ACTS 

RELEVANT TO FRRP CASES 

Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP), 
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS), Urgent Issues 

PN Task Force Abstract (UITF), or Companies Act. 
4 SSAP 8 The treatment of taxation under the imputation 

system in the accounts of companies 
Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

5 SSAP 3 Earnings per share 

Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4A, Form and Content of 
Group Accounts 

SSAP 6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments 
SSAP 12 Accounting for depreciation 
SSAP 12 Accounting for depreciation 

Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

SSAP 22 Accounting for goodwill 
SSAP 3 Earnings per share 

SSAP 6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments 
(revised) 

SSAP 8 The treatment of taxation under the imputation 
system in the accounts of companies 

SSAP 1 Accounting for associated companies 
Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

14 Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

6 
7 
10 
11 

12 

13 

Month/ 
Year 
Standard 
Issued or 
Revised 

8/74 

Standard 
Effective 
for Year 
Ended 
After 

1/75 

2/72 

4/74 
12/77 
12/77 

12/84 
2/72 
8/86 

8/74 

1/71 

1/72 

1/74 
1/78 
1/78 

1/85 
1/72 
8/86 

1/75 

1/71 
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Month/ Standard 
Year Effective 

Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP), Standard for Year 
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS), Urgent Issues Issued or Ended 

PN Task Force Abstract (UITF), or Companies Act. Revised After 
15 SSAP 6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments 4/74 1/74 

SSAP 12 Accounting for depreciation 12/77 1/78 
16 SSAP 6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments 4/74 1/74 

SSAP 2 Disclosure of accounting policies 1/71 1/71 
17 Companies Act 1985 Schedule 6, Disclosure of 

Information: Emoluments and Other Benefits of Directors 
and Others 

Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4A, Form and Content of 
Group Accounts 

SSAP 14 Group accounts 9/78 1/79 
18 SSAP 19 Accounting for investment properties 11/81 7/81 
19 Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 

Company Accounts 
20 Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4, paragraph 36A, 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - compliance with 
appropriate accounting standards 
Companies Act 1985, paragraph 229 - subsidiary 
undertakings included in consolidated accounts 
SSAP 14 Group accounts 9/78 1/79 
ASB Interim Statement, Consolidated Accounts 12/90 12/89 
FRS 1 Cash flow statements 9/91 3/92 
Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4, paragraph 36A, 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies - compliance with 
appropriate accounting standards 

21 SSAP 6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments 4/74 1/74 
22 FRS 1 Cash flow statements 9/91 3/92 
24 FRS 1 Cash flow statements 9/91 3/92 

SSAP 6 Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments 8/86 8/86 
(Revised) 

25 SSAP 22 Accounting for goodwill 12/85 1/85 
26 SSAP 1 Accounting for associated companies 1/71 1/71 
27 FRS 1 Cash flow statements 9/91 3/92 
28 SSAP 21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts 8/84 7/84 
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PN 
29 

30 

31 

32 
33 

34 
35 

36 
37 

38 

39 

40 
41 

Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP), 
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS), Urgent Issues 
Task Force Abstract (UITF), or Companies Act. 
Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

FRS 3 Reporting financial performance 

Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 
FRS 3 Reporting financial performance 

Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

FRS 1 Cash flow statements 

Companies Act 1989 Schedule 5, Disclosure of 
Information: Related Undertakings 

FRS 2 Accounting for subsidiary undertakings 
Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

SSAP 21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts 
FRS 4 Capital instruments 

Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4A, Form and Content of 
Group Accounts 

SSAP 22 Accounting for goodwill 
FRS 4 Capital instruments 

FRS 4 Capital instruments 
Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4, paragraph 36A, 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies - compliance with 
appropriate accounting standards 

SSAP 21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts 
Companies Act 1989 paragraph 262 - definition of fixed 
assets 

SSAP 1 Accounting for associated companies 
UITF 7 True and fair view override disclosures 
FRS 4 Capital instruments 
FRS 4 Capital instruments 

Month/ 
Year 
Standard 
Issued or 
Revised 

10/92 

10/92 

9/91 

7/92 

8/84 
12/93 

12/84 
12/93 
12/93 

8/84 

1/71 
12/92 
12/93 
12/93 

Standard 
Effective 
for Year 
Ended 
After 

6/93 

6/93 

3/92 

12/92 

7/84 
6/94 

1/85 
6/94 
6/94 

7/84 

1/71 
12/92 
6/94 
6/94 
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PN 
42 

43 

44 
45 

46 

47 
48 

49 

Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP), 
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS), Urgent Issues 
Task Force Abstract (UITF), or Companies Act. 
SSAP 4 Accounting for government grants 

SSAP 19 Accounting for investment properties 

UITF 7 True and fair view override disclosures 
Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

SSAP 2 Disclosure of accounting policies 

FRS 5 Reporting the substance of transactions 

FRS 6 Acquisitions and mergers 

Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4, Form and Content of 
Company Accounts 

FRS 7 Fair values in accounting 

UITF 13 Accounting for employee share ownership plans 
(ESOP) trusts 

FRS 5 Reporting the substance of transactions 
FRS 6 Acquisitions and mergers 

Companies Act 1989 Schedule 4A, Form and Content of 
Group Accounts 

Insurance Companies (Reserves) Act 1995 Section 
34A/Companies Act 1985 Schedule 9A, Form and Contents 
of Accounts of Insurance Companies and Groups 

Month/ 
Year 
Standard 
Issued or 
Revised 

4/74 
11/81 
12/92 

11/71 
4/94 
9/94 

9/94 
6/95 

4/94 

9/94 

Standard 
Effective 
for Year 
Ended 
After 

1/74 
7/81 
12/92 

1/72 
9/94 
12/94 

12/94 
6/95 

9/94 
12/94 

12/96 
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